

# HENRI A. J. PUTTONEN

# Neuropharmacological Properties of the Histaminergic System in the Zebrafish



DEPARTMENT OF ANATOMY FACULTY OF MEDICINE AND NEUROSCIENCE CENTER DOCTORAL PROGRAMME IN BIOMEDICINE UNIVERSITY OF HELSINKI

# DISSERTATIONES SCHOLAE DOCTORALIS AD SANITATEM INVESTIGANDAM UNIVERSITATIS HELSINKIENSIS

66/2017

# Neuropharmacological Properties of the Histaminergic System in the Zebrafish

Henri A. J. Puttonen, M.D.

Department of Anatomy Faculty of Medicine and Neuroscience Center and Doctoral Programme in Biomedicine

> University of Helsinki Finland

# Academic dissertation

To be presented and publicly discussed, with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Helsinki, in Haartman Institute, Lecture Hall 2, Haartmaninkatu 3 on December 8, 2017 at noon.

#### **Supervisors:**

Professor, vice rector Pertti Panula, M.D., Ph.D. Dr. Maria Sundvik, Ph.D. Department of Anatomy and Neuroscience Center University of Helsinki, Finland

#### **Thesis Committee:**

Docent Nina Peitsaro, Ph.D. Department of Biochemistry and Developmental Biology, University of Helsinki, Finland

> Docent Tarja Stenberg, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Physiology, University of Helsinki, Finland

#### **Reviewed by:**

Docent Mataleena Parikka, D.D.S., Ph.D. Faculty of Medicine and Life Sciences University of Tampere, Finland

Docent Mikko Uusi-Oukari, Ph.D.

Department of Pharmacology, Drug Development and Therapeutics Institute of Biomedicine University of Turku, Finland

#### **Opponent:**

Associate Professor Petronella Kettunen, Ph.D. Institute of Neuroscience and Physiology Sahlgrenska Academy University of Gothenburg, Sweden

© Henri A. J. Puttonen 2017 ISBN 978-951-51-3867-5 (paperback) ISBN 978-951-51-3868-2 (PDF) ISSN 2342-3161 (Print) ISSN 2342-317X (Online) http://ethesis.helsinki.fi

友佳子へ

# Contents

Original publications	8
Index of abbreviations	9
Abstract	11
1. Introduction	13
2. Review of the Literature	15
2.1 The histaminergic neurotransmitter system in the vertebrate brain	15
2.1.1 Histaminergic neurons and their projections	15
2.1.2 The biosynthesis of neural histamine and its regulation	15
2.1.3 Storage of histamine in neurons	16
2.1.4 Reuptake and metabolism of histamine in the brain	16
2.1.5 Histamine receptors	17
2.1.6 Cotransmitters and non-histamine mediated effects of histaminergic neur	ons 19
2.2 Overview of the other biogenic amine neurotransmitter systems in the brain	19
2.2.1 The dopaminergic system	20
2.2.2 The noradrenergic system	20
2.2.3 The serotonergic system	21
2.3 Histamine in the healthy and pathological brain	22
2.3.1 Histamine in the developing brain	22
2.3.2 Functional interactions between the histaminergic and other aminergic systems	23
2.3.3 Regulation of motor circuits by histamine	24
2.3.4 Histamine and the neurobiology of ethanol	24
2.3.5 Histaminergic signalling in the pathology of psychiatric conditions	25
2.4 The zebrafish as a model of the vertebrate brain	27
2.4.1 Introduction of the zebrafish as a model organism	27
2.4.2 Similarities and differences between the zebrafish and the mammalian br	ain 28
2.4.3 Advantages and disadvantages of the zebrafish as a model organism	30
3. Aims	34

4.	Materials and Methods	35
	4.1 Experimental animals (I–III)	35
	4.2 Ethanol treatment (I)	35
	4.3 Reserpine treatment (II)	36
	4.4 Behavioural tests (I–III)	36
	4.4.1 Locomotion effect of acute ethanol (I)	36
	4.4.2 Locomotion effect of reserpine treatment (II)	36
	4.4.3 Locomotion of <i>hrh3</i> mutant zebrafish (III)	37
	4.4.4 Social behaviour of <i>hrh3</i> mutant adult zebrafish (III, partially unpublish	ned) 37
	4.5 RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis (I-III)	38
	4.6 Quantitative PCR (I–III)	38
	4.7 Antibodies (I–III)	39
	4.8 Immunohistochemistry (I–III)	39
	4.9 Cloning of zebrafish <i>vmat1</i> (II)	40
	4.10 Riboprobe synthesis (I–III)	40
	4.11 Chromogenic in situ hybridization (I–III)	40
	4.12 Tyramide conjugate synthesis (II–III)	41
	4.13 Fluorescent in situ hybridization (II-III, partially unpublished)	42
	4.13.1 Optimizations tested for the fluorescent in situ protocol	43
	4.14 High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) (I-III)	43
	4.15 Generation of a <i>hrh3</i> knockout zebrafish (III)	44
	4.16 Microscopy and imaging (I–III)	44
	4.17 Statistical analyses (I–III)	45
5.	Results	46
	5.1 Acute ethanol affects locomotion in a biphasic, dose-dependent manner (I)	46
	5.2 Transcripts of enzymes synthesizing dopamine and histamine are rapidly upregulated by ethanol (I)	46
	5.3 Ethanol transiently decreases dopamine levels with no effect on histamine levels (I)	vels 46
	5.4 Unaltered morphology of histaminergic and dopaminergic networks after ethanol treatment (I)	47

5.5 Reserpine alters behavioural responses to sudden darkness (II)47
5.6 Neural histamine is depleted by reserpine (II)48
5.7 Depletion upregulates synthesis of monoamines but not histamine (II)49
5.8 Optimized fluorescent <i>in situ</i> hybridization protocol for detection of low- abundance mRNA species (II–III, development of protocol unpublished)49
5.9 Expression of <i>hrh3</i> in the zebrafish brain (III)52
5.10 <i>hrh3</i> knockout larvae adapt faster to darkness (III)53
5.11 Lower levels of serotonin and dopamine in <i>hrh3</i> knockout larvae (III)54
6. Discussion
6.1 Dopaminergic and histaminergic mechanisms in acute effects of ethanol (I)55
6.2 New aspects of the regulation of amine neurotransmitter synthesis (I-III)57
6.3 The role of VMAT2 in histamine storage (II)
6.4 Histamine and other monoamines as regulators of responses to sudden changes in the environment (II–III)
6.5 The zebrafish <i>hrh3</i> knockout phenotype (III)63
6.6 Evaluation of applied methodology (I–III)65
7. Conclusions67
8. Questions for Future Research69
9. Acknowledgements70
10. References
11. Original Publications

# **Original publications**

## I

Acute ethanol treatment upregulates Th1, Th2, and Hdc in larval zebrafish in stable networks.

Puttonen HAJ, Sundvik M, Rozov S, Chen YC, Panula P.

Front Neural Circuits. 2013 May 31;7:102. doi: 10.3389/fncir.2013.00102. eCollection 2013.

# Π

Storage of neural histamine and histaminergic neurotransmission is VMAT2 dependent in the zebrafish

Puttonen HAJ, Semenova S, Sundvik M, Panula P

Sci Rep. 2017 Jun 8;7(1):3060. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-02981-w.

## III

Knockout of histamine receptor H3 alters adaptation to sudden darkness and monoamine levels in the zebrafish

Puttonen HAJ, Sundvik M, Semenova S, Shirai Y, Chen YC, Panula P.

Acta Physiol (Oxf). 2017 Oct 16. doi: 10.1111/apha.12981. [Epub ahead of print]

In addition, some unpublished results are displayed. No publications have been included in other dissertations. In the text, the original publications are referred to by roman numerals (I–III). Publications I and II are reproduced in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution License. Publication III is reproduced with permission from John Wiley and Sons (license number 4225010132956).

#### **Index of abbreviations**

5-HT 5-hydroxytryptamine, serotonin AADC aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase AMP adenosine monophosphate ANOVA analysis of variance BSA bovine serum albumin CaMKII calcium-calmodulin dependent protein kinase II cAMP cyclic adenosine monophosphate COMT catechol-O-methyltransferase DRD1 dopamine receptor D1 DRD2 dopamine receptor D2 DAO diamine oxidase DAT dopamine transporter DBH dopamine beta-hydroxylase L-DOPA L-3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine DOPAC dihydroxyphenylacetic acid dpf days post fertilization ENU N-ethyl-N-nitrosurea FAM 5-(and-6)-carboxyfluorescein GABA gamma-aminobutyric acid GPCR G-protein coupled receptor HRH1 histamine receptor H1 HRH2 histamine receptor H2 HRH3 histamine receptor H3 HRH4 histamine receptor H4 HB hybridization buffer HDC histidine decarboxylase HNMT histamine N-methyltransferase hpf hours post fertilization

HPLC high-performance liquid chromatography

HVA homovanillic acid

LC locus coeruleus

MAO monoamine oxidase

NET norepinephrine (=noradrenaline) transporter

NGS normal goat serum

NSS normal sheep serum

OCT2 organic cation transporter 2

OCT3 organic cation transporter 3

PBS phosphate buffered saline

PBSTw phosphate buffered saline with 0.1% Tween-20

PBSTx phosphate buffered saline with 0.3% Triton X-100

PFA paraformaldehyde

PKA protein kinase A

PMAT plasma membrane monoamine transporter

RT room temperature

SERT serotonin transporter

SSC sodium salt citrate

TAMRA 5-(and-6)-carboxytetramethylrhodamine

TH tyrosine hydroxylase

TPH tryptophan hydroxylase

TSA tyramide signal amplification

VMAT1 vesicular monoamine transporter 1

VMAT2 vesicular monoamine transporter 2

VTA ventral tegmental area

## Abstract

Biogenic amine neurotransmitters are important modulators of the most basic functions of the central nervous system. The histaminergic system is one of the last biogenic amine systems to be discovered. Its neurons are located in a single nucleus of the hypothalamus, from where they send projections to almost all regions of the brain. Studies on the roles of the histaminergic system have revealed that it regulates many brain functions, such as motor functions, cognition, sleep, and brain plasticity and development. It has also been implicated to be involved in many neurological and psychiatric conditions, such as Parkinson's disease, narcolepsy and alcoholism. Modulation of histamine signalling may thus provide an option for the treatment of these and other conditions. However, due to its relatively recent discovery, many unanswered questions about the histaminergic system using the zebrafish as a model of the vertebrate brain.

In the first study, we analysed the effect of acute ethanol on the histaminergic and dopaminergic systems. The mRNAs of enzymes synthesizing dopamine and histamine were rapidly upregulated by a short ethanol exposure in a dose-dependent manner. Further immunohistochemical and *in situ* hybridization revealed that the number and localization of histaminergic and dopaminergic neurons was unaltered by ethanol treatment, suggesting that the transcriptional changes observed were localized to the cells that produce histamine and dopamine under normal conditions. When analysing neurotransmitter levels by HPLC, dopamine levels were decreased after a short treatment with ethanol but recovered to baseline levels during longer treatments, suggesting that the transcriptional changes observed represent a compensatory response. Interestingly, no significant changes were seen in histamine levels following ethanol treatment. Ethanol treatment resulted in a rapid and dose-dependent increase in locomotion of larvae, which declined over time with higher treatment doses. As the behavioural and transcriptional changes occurred within a similar time frame, our results suggest that histamine and dopamine may play a role in the locomotor effects of ethanol.

In the second study, we showed that pharmacological inhibition of the vesicular monoamine transporter 2 (VMAT2) using reserpine depleted neural histamine from the brain, resulting in an almost total loss of histamine immunoreactivity in histaminergic fibres and a decreased number of histamine immunoreactive neurons. These results were supported by decreased levels of histamine and other amine neurotransmitters. Interestingly, depletion of histamine did not result in the upregulation of its synthesis, although enzymes synthesizing the other aminergic transmitters were significantly upregulated after VMAT2 inhibition. Behaviourally, VMAT2 inhibition resulted in a decreased dark-induced flash response of zebrafish larvae, a brief spike in locomotor activity during the first second of sudden onset of darkness, which has been described as histamine dependent. However, aside from the dark-flash response, reserpine-treated

larvae showed an increased hypermotor response to sudden darkness, which suggests that monoaminergic transmission regulates darkness adaptation of zebrafish.

In the third study, we characterized the expression of the zebrafish histamine receptor hrh3 and generated a hrh3 knockout strain using the CRISPR-Cas9 method of targeted genome editing. Expression of *hrh3* was most prominent in the pallium of the telencephalon, the region containing higher centers of zebrafish brain function, functionally analogous to the mammalian cortex, amygdala and hippocampus. Double fluorescent in situ hybridization revealed that the majority of hrh3 expressing neurons in the telencephalon were glutamatergic, suggesting that hrh3 regulates glutamatergic neurotransmission in the zebrafish. This is some of the only direct molecular evidence of the transmitter phenotype of hrh3-expressing cells. In our knockout model, we saw that hrh3 knockout larval zebrafish adapted faster to sudden onset of darkness, indicating that *hrh3* can regulate adaptation to sudden changes in the environment of the zebrafish. Although basic behavioural parameters of *hrh3* knockout larvae were unaltered, adult hrh3 knockout fish showed decreased locomotor activity, suggesting that *hrh3* signalling may have different functional roles at different ages. Neurochemically, zebrafish larvae had decreased levels of dopamine and serotonin, supporting previous findings that *hrh3* is involved in the regulation of these systems. We saw no changes in the expression of genes relevant to aminergic neurotransmission or the organisation of the aminergic networks, suggesting that the altered neurotransmitter levels reflect functional changes in otherwise intact networks.

In total, these results provide some new answers to open questions in the field of histamine neuropharmacology, specifically concerning the effects of alcohol on the histaminergic system and the mechanisms of vesicular storage of histamine. Additionally, we provide the first thorough characterization of a histamine receptor knockout model in a diurnal vertebrate, the zebrafish. In concordance with previous studies in rodents, we found that hrh3 knockout results in relatively modest phenotypes and might be relevant in the adaptation to sudden changes in the environment. Also, we provided further evidence of the role of hrh3 in the regulation of other aminergic networks, i.e. the serotonergic and dopaminergic systems. We also noted that hrh3 is particularly strongly expressed in glutamatergic cells of the telencephalon, suggesting that the role of hrh3 in the modulation of glutamatergic transmission and its functional significance should be more thoroughly studied.

# 1. Introduction

The vertebrate brain is the most complex organ, consisting of a complex network of neurons that are connected to each other by synapses. It forms the basis of our consciousness, being responsible for interpretation of sensory information from our surroundings and for execution of behaviour. The complex and robust signalling between neurons required for these functions is made possible by neurotransmitters, small endogenous molecules that are released by neurons in synapses. Released neurotransmitters bind to receptors on the postsynaptic neuron, thus altering its membrane potential, excitability or firing rate. Given the importance of neurotransmitters, identification of the function of specific transmitter molecules and their receptors in the healthy and pathological brain has provided the foundation for modern neuropharmacology.

Of the different neurotransmitter classes, the biogenic amine transmitters dopamine, serotonin and noradrenaline have attracted particular neuropharmacological interest for their importance in many neurological and psychiatric conditions. This has been the result of intensive research into the structural organisation and receptor properties of these transmitter networks both in experimental animals and clinical settings, which has led to successful drug development. For instance, drugs that potentiate dopaminergic transmission form the cornerstone of pharmacological treatment of motor disorders such as Parkinson's disease, and serotonin and noradrenaline reuptake inhibitors are widely used in the treatment of depression.

Histamine is one of the last biogenic amine neurotransmitters to be discovered. It has been implicated to be of importance in the regulation of motor functions, the neurobiology of alcoholism, many psychiatric disorders and cognitive functions, for instance. In many of the previous studies, histamine has been characterized as having primarily a modulatory role, adjusting transmitter release and signalling of other networks. However, the neurobiology of histamine has attracted considerably less research attention than other neurotransmitter systems, and many key questions about fundamental properties of the histamine neurons and histamine receptors still remain to be properly investigated. Further research into the histaminergic system is thus warranted, and a better understanding of the pharmacology of histamine in the brain could potentially lead to the development of new treatment options for neurological and psychiatric diseases.

In this thesis, I have studied the pharmacology, neuroanatomy and molecular properties of histamine and its receptor Hrh3 using the zebrafish as a model of the vertebrate brain, in comparison to the other aminergic neurotransmitter networks. I present novel findings concerning the effects of alcohol on the histaminergic and dopaminergic systems, the mechanism of vesicular storage of histamine and the molecular and behavioural changes following monoamine depletion. Additionally, I describe the phenotype of a zebrafish Hrh3 knockout animal. Taken together, these results contribute one piece to the puzzle of the neuropharmacology of histamine.

## 2. Review of the Literature

#### 2.1 The histaminergic neurotransmitter system in the vertebrate brain

#### 2.1.1 Histaminergic neurons and their projections

The physiological properties of histamine were first described in 1910 by Dale and Laidlaw, who initially characterized histamine as a strong vasodilator and constrictor of bronchial and other smooth muscle tissue <sup>1</sup>. Histamine was soon thereafter identified as a mediator of inflammation <sup>2,3</sup> and gastric acid secretion <sup>4</sup>. The research and pharmacological interest in histamine was for a long time concerned merely with these peripheral effects <sup>5</sup>.

Kwiatkowski, who in 1943 discovered histamine in homogenates of brain and nerves of different mammalian species, was first to suggest that histamine acts as a neurotransmitter <sup>6</sup>. Further studies revealed that histamine from brain extracts was localized in the same subcellular fraction as synaptosomes containing noradrenaline and serotonin, suggesting that brain histamine might be localized in neurons <sup>7</sup>. Mammalian histamine and histidine decarboxylase (HDC) -containing neuronal cell bodies were first identified in the rat, located exclusively in the tuberomammillary nucleus of the posterior hypothalamus<sup>8,9</sup>. Although no histamine or HDC containing neuronal soma were seen in other parts of the brain, these studies found extensive histamine and HDC containing fibres in many brain regions, such as the cortex, hippocampus, amygdala, basal ganglia, hypothalamus and many brainstem regions. This organization is similar to that observed in other aminergic neurotransmitter systems, such as the noradrenergic and dopaminergic systems - the aminergic neuronal cell bodies are localized in one or a few distinct regions, but they project extensively to many different brain regions <sup>10-14</sup>. Later studies showed that the organization of the histaminergic network is similar in humans<sup>15</sup>, other mammalian models<sup>16-18</sup>, amphibians <sup>19</sup> and fish <sup>20</sup>, indicating that this neurotransmitter system is well conserved in vertebrates. The wide distribution in the brain suggested a modulatory role of histamine in brain functions. After its discovery, histamine has been implicated in many key functions of the brain, as shall be described later in this review.

#### 2.1.2 The biosynthesis of neural histamine and its regulation

Histamine in vertebrates is synthesized from the essential amino-acid L-histidine in a single step decarboxylation reaction catalysed by HDC <sup>21</sup>. Neural uptake of L-histidine does not seem to be an important point of regulation in histamine synthesis, as histidine uptake into neurons is independent of changes in the neuronal membrane potential <sup>22,23</sup>. However, it should be noted that substrate availability seems to be essential in the synthesis of histamine in the brain, as the activity of HDC is not saturated with physiological concentrations of L-histidine in the mammalian brain, although the

relevance of this mechanism is poorly understood <sup>24</sup>. The synthesis of histamine is also regulated through the activity of HDC. Phosphorylation by the cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) dependent protein kinase A (PKA) increases histamine synthesis, suggesting that HDC is positively regulated by phosphorylation <sup>25</sup>. Another phosphorylation pathway, mediated by the calcium-calmodulin dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII) also stimulates histamine synthesis and increases HDC activity <sup>26</sup>. As would be expected by these results, protein phosphatases regulate HDC activity negatively <sup>27</sup>. Post-translational modifications thus play a key role in the regulation of HDC activity. However, the role of HDC synthesis in the regulation of histamine metabolism is poorly studied and understood. In the gut, gastrin and the pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating peptide (PACAP) are known to increase HDC mRNA synthesis <sup>28</sup>, but this effect has not yet been described in the brain. Several regulatory elements were identified in proximity to the gene coding for human HDC<sup>29</sup>. This suggests that regulation of histamine synthesis by HDC could also occur at a transcriptional level, but it is currently unknown what signalling pathways or biological conditions would cause this in the brain.

#### 2.1.3 Storage of histamine in neurons

Immunohistochemical data support the conclusion that histamine is stored in vesiclelike structures, comparable to other aminergic transmitters <sup>30</sup>. Histamine, like the catecholamines and serotonin, is a substrate of VMAT2 <sup>31</sup>, which is also expressed in histaminergic neurons <sup>31</sup>. However, the role of VMAT2 in histamine metabolism in the brain is partially unclear. When the function of VMAT2 is inhibited by the indole alkaloid reserpine, the storage of catecholamines and serotonin is inhibited, leading to the subsequent metabolism of these transmitters and a dramatic decrease of their measured concentrations in the brain <sup>32</sup>. Results with histamine have been unclear and contradictory, with some studies indicating that reserpine lowers brain histamine levels <sup>33,34</sup>, while other studies point to unchanged histamine levels following reserpine treatment <sup>35,36</sup>. Interpretation of many of these studies is further complicated by the presence of histamine in mast cells in the brain <sup>8,9</sup>. Further studies are thus needed to conclusively demonstrate the relationship between neural histamine and VMAT2.

#### 2.1.4 Reuptake and metabolism of histamine in the brain

All the other monoamines in the brain – dopamine, serotonin and noradrenaline – have specific reuptake transporters that terminate the action of the transmitter in the synaptic cleft after release and that are expressed on neurons or glia <sup>37</sup>. In the case of histamine, no such transporters have been described. Instead, histamine has been shown to be transported by several nonspecific cell membrane transporters – the organic cation transporters (OCT) 2 and 3 <sup>38,39</sup> and the plasma membrane monoamine transporter (PMAT) <sup>40</sup>. OCT3 and PMAT are expressed in astrocytes and transport histamine *in vitro*, with PMAT being the major transporter and OCT3 playing a more minor role <sup>41</sup>.

This transport is likely to be functionally relevant, as toxic inhibition of astrocyte function increases histamine levels <sup>42</sup>. Astrocytes also express histamine *n*-methyltransferase (HNMT), the cytosolic enzyme responsible for metabolizing histamine into *n*-methylhistamine <sup>41</sup>. It is thus likely that extracellular histamine (i.e. from the synaptic cleft after transmitter release) is taken into astrocytes for enzymatic degradation. However, there is also evidence of neuronal reuptake of histamine <sup>43</sup> and neural expression of HNMT, suggesting that neurons might also partake in the reuptake and metabolism of histamine <sup>44,45</sup>. It should be noted that although histamine can also be metabolized by diamine oxidase (DAO), activity of this enzyme is minimal in the brain <sup>46</sup>.

#### 2.1.5 Histamine receptors

In vertebrates, four different types of histamine receptors have been described (HRH1, HRH2, HRH3 and HRH4)<sup>47</sup>. All of these are metabotropic GPCRs (G-protein-coupled receptors) – there is also evidence of histamine action on certain types of GABA<sub>A</sub> channels, but the *in vivo* relevance of this remains unknown<sup>48</sup>. Additionally, histamine also seems to potentiate the current of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors by binding to the polyamine binding site on this receptor, thus reinforcing the action of glutamate at this receptor <sup>49,50</sup>. Here, the basic signalling properties and brain locations of the different histamine receptors are briefly described; their role in specific brain functions will be discussed later.

#### 2.1.5.1 Receptor abbreviation nomenclature

In the literature, several different abbreviations and symbols have been used to refer to the histaminergic receptors. In this thesis, the abbreviations and symbols recommended by the International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology are used <sup>51</sup>.

#### 2.1.5.2 Histamine receptor HRH1

HRH1 is linked to the  $G_{q/11}$  class of G-proteins <sup>52</sup>. Activation of the receptor thus leads to the activation of phospholipase C, which produces the secondary messengers diacyl glycerol (DAG) and inositol trisphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>), leading to the activation of protein kinase C and release of calcium from the endoplasmic reticulum, respectively <sup>53</sup>. HRH1 is also linked to several other signalling pathways through stimulation of the production of arachidonic acid and nitric oxide <sup>54</sup>.

HRH1 is expressed widely in the central nervous system. As well as in neurons, it is also found in astrocytes <sup>55</sup>, brain endothelium <sup>56</sup> and cells of the immune system circulating in the brain <sup>57</sup>. Thus, not all HRH1 mediated effects on brain function are caused by neurotransmission, but might also result from modulation of glial, vascular and inflammatory functions in the brain. Neural HRH1 is present postsynaptically in many brain regions, such as the cerebral cortex, the limbic system, thalamus,

hippocampus, basal ganglia and cerebellum. In most of these areas, HRH1 signalling is excitatory, although inhibitory signalling has been reported in the hippocampus <sup>54,58,59</sup>. HRH1 also displays constitutive activity – active signalling even in the absence of a ligand, a property occasionally seen in GPCRs <sup>60,61</sup>.

#### 2.1.5.3 Histamine receptor HRH2

HRH2 is linked to the mainly excitatory G<sub>s</sub> class of G-proteins, and acts through stimulation of adenylate cyclase and production of cAMP, which further leads to the activation of protein kinase A and the transcriptional regulator CREB <sup>54</sup>. This signalling pathway is implicated especially in neural plasticity and development, and has also been suggested as being linked to the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases <sup>62,63</sup>. Like HRH1, HRH2 displays constitutive signalling activity <sup>64,65</sup>, suggesting that HRH2 might be important in maintaining a baseline activity of protein kinase A and CREB in neurons, although the relevance of this has not been studied. HRH2 has a widespread expression in the brain, being present in neurons, astrocytes, endothelium and leukocytes <sup>54,56,57</sup>. Although HRH2 and HRH1 are expressed in the same brain regions (such as the cortex and limbic system), their expression patterns within these regions differ, suggesting that the receptors have different target cells <sup>54,66,67</sup>.

#### 2.1.5.4 Histamine receptor HRH3

Signalling by HRH3 is highly complex. It is linked to the inhibitory G<sub>i/o</sub> class of Gproteins, inhibiting adenylate cyclase function and thus decreasing production of adenylate cyclase <sup>68</sup>. G<sub>i/o</sub> also directly inhibits voltage-gated calcium channels <sup>69</sup>. Furthermore, HRH3 activation is positively coupled to the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) <sup>70</sup> and Akt signalling pathways <sup>71</sup>, both of which are relevant in brain plasticity and development. Action of HRH3 on neurons is mainly inhibitory, although the multiple downstream signalling pathways of the receptor make this distinction unclear <sup>72</sup>. HRH3 also displays an unusual multitude of functional isoforms, resulting from alternative splicing processes, with different isoforms displaying differences in signalling properties and ligand responses <sup>70,73,74</sup>. Although both HRH1 and HRH2 display constitutive signalling activity, HRH3 has an exceptionally high constitutive activity <sup>75</sup>, with most HRH3 antagonists actually acting as inverse agonists, decreasing basal signalling <sup>58</sup>. The high constitutive activity enables HRH3 to have functional significance regardless of the presence of histamine. For instance, HRH3 antagonists have been shown to have neuroprotective effects even in animals lacking histamine <sup>76</sup>.

In contrast to the other histamine receptors, HRH3 was long believed to be expressed primarily in histaminergic neurons in the brain, where HRH3 was first identified as an autoreceptor on histaminergic neurons regulating histamine release <sup>77</sup>. Later, HRH3 was shown to act as a presynaptic receptor regulating the release of many other neurotransmitters <sup>78-81</sup>, supported by HRH3 ligand binding and mRNA expression often being localized at different sites <sup>82</sup>. Similarly as HRH1 and HRH2, HRH3 expression is

found in many key regions of the brain <sup>54</sup>. HRH3 was also relatively recently described as a postsynaptic receptor in the basal ganglia, where it forms heterodimers with dopamine receptors DRD1 and DRD2, thus modulating dopaminergic signalling <sup>83</sup>. However, the exact transmitter phenotype of neurons expressing HRH3 remains unknown in most brain regions.

Although initially believed to be restricted to neurons, HRH3 expression was recently also found in astrocytes <sup>55</sup>. As other histamine receptors, HRH3 is expressed in the brain endothelium <sup>84</sup>. However, it has so far not been found in brain leukocytes <sup>58</sup>.

#### 2.1.5.5 Histamine receptor HRH4

Like HRH3, HRH4 is also linked to  $G_{i/o}$ , acting through inhibition of the adenylate cyclase – cAMP pathway <sup>85</sup>. Currently, involvement in other signalling pathways has not been described. So far, there is insufficient proof of HRH4 expression in the neurons of the central nervous system, although HRH4 has been detected in peripheral neurons <sup>86</sup>. HRH4 is, however, expressed in leukocytes <sup>57</sup> and endothelial <sup>84</sup> cells in the brain, and HRH4 signalling might be relevant in brain function through this mechanism.

#### 2.1.6 Cotransmitters and non-histamine mediated effects of histaminergic neurons

Aminergic neurons often co-release other neurotransmitters, such as the small molecule transmitters glutamate or GABA<sup>87,88</sup>. Histaminergic neurons in mammals also coexpress several other transmitters, most notably GABA, which has been found in a majority of histaminergic neurons<sup>89</sup>. The role of these cotransmitters in the function of the histaminergic network is poorly understood. A recent study identified that inhibition of GABA release in histaminergic neurons of mice increased their activity, suggesting that GABA limits and modulates the effects of released histamine<sup>90</sup>. Thus, not all functions of the histaminergic neurons involve histamine, which should be taken into account when studying the role of histamine in the brain.

# **2.2** Overview of the other biogenic amine neurotransmitter systems in the brain

Modulation of other biogenic amine systems in the brain seems to be a key role of the histaminergic system, as shall be reviewed in chapter 2.3. Thus, it is necessary to briefly present the organization of these systems in the brain. The biogenic amine neurotransmitter systems were first described by Dahlström and Fuxe in 1964<sup>13</sup>, and have since been extensively studied in different species. Figure 1 provides an overview of the synthesis of aminergic transmitters.

#### 2.2.1 The dopaminergic system

Dopamine, previously also known as 3-hydroxytyramine, was initially believed to be merely an intermediate product in the synthesis of noradrenaline. It was first suggested as acting as a neurotransmitter in 1957, when Dr. A. Carlsson and colleagues described substantial amounts of dopamine in the striatum <sup>91</sup>. Dopamine is synthesized in a twostep reaction from the amino acid L-tyrosine. First, L-tyrosine is converted into L-DOPA (3.4-dihydroxyphenylalanine) by the enzyme tyrosine hydroxylase (TH)  $^{92}$ . This is the rate-limiting step in dopamine biosynthesis, and both transcriptional and phosphorylation-based post-translational mechanisms for the regulation of dopamine biosynthesis have been described at this step <sup>93,94</sup>. L-DOPA is further converted into dopamine by aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase (AADC) 95. In the brain, synthesized dopamine is loaded into vesicles by VMAT2 <sup>96</sup>. Dopamine released into the synaptic cleft is cleared by a high-affinity reuptake mechanism through the dopamine transporter (DAT), although in some brain regions, dopamine can also be removed by the noradrenaline transporter (NET) <sup>97</sup>. Dopamine is metabolized by two main pathways – through oxidative deamination by the enzyme monoamine oxidase (MAO) into dihydroxyphenylacetic acid (DOPAC), and through O-methylation by catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) into 3-methoxytyramine (3-MT) <sup>98</sup>. In general, MAO is more abundantly present in neurons, while COMT is more prominent in peripheral organs and in glial cells <sup>98</sup>. The action of dopamine is mediated by at least five different types of metabotropic GPCRs, all of which are expressed in the brain  $^{99}$ .

In mammals and other vertebrates, dopaminergic neurons in the brain are found in populations A8-A17 of catecholaminergic cells, which are located in the midbrain (A8-A10), diencephalon (A11-A15), olfactory bulb (A16) and retina (A17), although individual dopaminergic cells have also been described in other regions <sup>100</sup>. Dopamine is involved in many key functions of the brain. For instance, the nigrostriatal dopaminergic system (consisting of projections from population A9) is pivotal in the regulation of voluntary motion and other motor functions <sup>101</sup> and the mesolimbic pathway (A10) is involved in the perception of rewarding stimuli and the pathogenesis of addiction and abuse of intoxicating substances such as ethanol <sup>102,103</sup>.

#### 2.2.2 The noradrenergic system

Noradrenaline was one of the first neurotransmitters to be discovered, initially described as the transmitter of the sympathetic nervous system <sup>104</sup>. Noradrenaline is synthesized from dopamine in a single step through beta-hydroxylation by dopamine beta-hydroxylase (DBH)<sup>105</sup>. In contrast to other monoamine transmitters, noradrenaline is synthesized inside synaptic vesicles. Noradrenergic transmission can thus be considered to be VMAT2 dependent, as functional VMAT2 is required for dopamine to be available in the vesicles for synthesis. Released noradrenaline is transported back into the presynaptic terminal by the noradrenaline transporter (NET) <sup>37</sup>, and neural noradrenaline is degraded primarily through the action of MAO <sup>106</sup>. Noradrenaline acts through  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  adrenergic receptors, both of which are expressed in the brain <sup>107</sup>.

The majority of noradrenergic neurons in vertebrates are located in the sympathetic ganglia of the autonomous nervous system, where noradrenaline is an essential regulator of cardiovascular tone and other functions in peripheral organs <sup>108,109</sup>. In the brain, noradrenergic neurons are relatively few in number and concentrated primarily in the locus coeruleus (LC) in the pons, projecting widely to different regions of the brain, where it acts as an important modulator of cognitive functions, being an important target for the treatment of various psychiatric disorders <sup>100,110,111</sup>.

#### 2.2.3 The serotonergic system

Like noradrenaline, serotonin (also known as 5-hydroxytryptamine, 5-HT) was also initially identified due to its properties in peripheral organs, being first described as a vasoconstrictor by M. Rapport *et al.* in 1948 <sup>112</sup>. Later, serotonin was also found in the brain and shown to act as a neurotransmitter <sup>113,114</sup>. Serotonin is synthesized from L-tryptophan in two steps by the enzymes tryptophan hydroxylase (TPH) and AADC, with TPH acting as the rate-limiting enzyme <sup>95,115</sup>. In mammals, two isoforms of TPH have been characterized – TPH1, expressed primarily in peripheral organs, and TPH2, expressed primarily in the central nervous system <sup>116,117</sup>. Like dopamine, serotonin is packed into vesicles by VMAT2 for release <sup>96</sup>. Released serotonin can be removed from the synaptic cleft both by high-affinity transport by the serotonin transporter (SERT) and by a recently discovered low-affinity transport mechanism, mediated by PMAT <sup>118</sup>. Degradation of serotonin in the brain is mostly mediated by isoform B of MAO <sup>119</sup>. The serotonin receptors are highly heterogenous – seven different groups of receptors are known, with many of these displaying several subtypes <sup>120,121</sup>.

The vertebrate serotonergic neurons are located along the brainstem in several groups known as the Raphe nuclei, and send extensive projections to many brain regions <sup>122</sup>. While involved in many brain functions, the serotonergic system has been of particular interest due to its involvement in depression, anxiety and other mood disorders, and substances modulating serotonergic neurotransmission have revolutionized treatment of these common psychiatric conditions <sup>123-125</sup>.



Figure 1. Overview of the synthesis of amine neurotransmitters.

#### 2.3 Histamine in the healthy and pathological brain

In this chapter, key functions of the histaminergic system addressed and studied in this dissertation are reviewed.

#### 2.3.1 Histamine in the developing brain

Although the functional relevance of histamine in brain development still remains poorly understood, histamine has been implicated as a regulator of neural differentiation. Histamine receptors HRH1, HRH2 and HRH3 are present in cultured cortical neural stem cells (NSCs) of the rat, and the expression of receptor mRNA is detected in many areas of the developing brain <sup>126-129</sup>. Histamine was also found to stimulate proliferation, survival and differentiation of these NSCs, with HRH2 signalling stimulating neural proliferation and HRH1 signalling steering the differentiation of NSCs into a neural direction <sup>126</sup>. The functional relevance of this effect *in vivo* is not well understood. Pharmacological inhibition of HRH1 signalling during rat development results in a smaller population of FOXP2-positive neurons in the developing cerebral cortex. The effect of this change on the morphology of the

adult brain was, however, not studied <sup>130</sup>. Mice lacking histamine or histamine receptors have shown no gross morphological changes in the brain or phenotypes indicating severe neural dysfunction, suggesting that these effects on proliferation can be compensated by other signalling mechanisms <sup>131,132</sup>. However, studies on the anatomy of different neural circuits in these mutant models are yet to be done. In the zebrafish, knock-down of histamine synthesis and pharmacologic inhibition of Hrh1 signalling during development results in impaired development of hypocretin-expressing neurons <sup>133</sup>. In the mice, HRH1 signalling was shown to inhibit development of dopaminergic neurons of the midbrain <sup>134</sup>. These results further suggest that histamine might have relevance for the development of different neuronal populations *in vivo*, especially through HRH1 signalling. Elucidation of the role of the other histamine receptors in brain development would still merit further studies.

#### 2.3.2 Functional interactions between the histaminergic and other aminergic

#### systems

Studies on the histaminergic system have revealed that histamine regulates the function of all monoaminergic systems, acting largely through histamine receptor HRH3. Firstly, it was shown that histamine receptor HRH3 is located on the presynaptic terminals of monoaminergic neurons, with HRH3 signalling inhibiting the release of serotonin, noradrenaline and dopamine in the target areas of these neurons in different brain regions in rats and mice 78-81,135-137. Only the interactions with HRH3 and dopamine have been extensively studied further. A recent study questioned this mechanism with regard to dopamine. In rat and mouse synaptosomes from nucleus accumbens, a part of the ventral striatum, it was discovered that HRH3 signalling inhibited dopamine synthesis through inhibition of cAMP synthesis, but HRH3 signalling did not affect dopamine release <sup>138</sup>. In the striatum, HRH3 also has extensive postsynaptic interactions with dopaminergic circuits. GABAergic striatal medium spiny neurons, the main neuronal subtype in the striatum, express HRH3 receptors that form dimers with dopamine receptors DRD1 and DRD2 and thus modulate their signalling <sup>139,140</sup>. Activation of HRH3 counteracts both DRD1 and DRD2 mediated increases in locomotor activity in mice, while inhibition of HRH3 has the opposite effect <sup>139</sup>. Functional HRH3 expression seems to also be necessary for dopaminergic signalling in the striatum, as mice lacking HRH3 have lower levels of DRD1 mRNA and show no phosphorylation of the extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2, one of the secondary messengers of dopaminergic signalling <sup>141</sup>. HRH3 also modulates striatal dopaminergic circuits indirectly, through inhibition of glutamatergic excitatory input from the cortex <sup>142</sup>. Taken together, it is evident that HRH3 is an important mediator of monoaminergic, notably dopaminergic, signalling. There are also some studies implicating other histamine receptors in the regulation of dopaminergic circuits. HRH2 excites striatal medium spiny neurons, and HRH1 positively regulates calcium levels in dopaminergic cells of the retina <sup>142,143</sup>.

#### 2.3.3 Regulation of motor circuits by histamine

Locomotion and other motor processes constitute one of the main functions of the central nervous system and make it possible for the organism to react to environmental cues and interact with the environment – thus, motor functions can be seen as the main expressive result of brain function. Histamine has been implicated in motor control in several brain levels. The vestibular nuclei in the brain stem, important centres in the control of posture and muscle tone, receive histaminergic innervation, and HRH2 signalling facilitates motor functions of the lateral vestibular nucleus <sup>144-147</sup>. The HRH1 agonist / HRH3 antagonist betahistine has also been clinically used in the treatment of vestibular disorders <sup>148,149</sup>. Histaminergic innervation is also prominent in the cerebellum, forming excitatory synapses with neurons in the cerebellar cortex and deep cerebellar nuclei <sup>150</sup>. Injection of histamine into deep cerebellar nuclei enhances the performance of rats in several motor tasks <sup>151,152</sup>. Additionally, both *HRH1* and *HRH3* mRNAs are widely expressed in a majority of the nuclei of the thalamus, an important centre in the regulation of voluntary movement, although the precise role of histamine in the motor functions of the thalamus remains unknown <sup>66,153</sup>.

Studies in mutant mice also support a role of histamine in the regulation of motor functions. Mice lacking HDC, HRH1 or HRH3 receptor show reduced locomotor activity, and HRH1 knockout mice have reduced exploratory behaviour <sup>154-158</sup>. However, it should be noted that histamine also strongly promotes wakefulness, and therefore these phenotypes may simply reflect a lower activity state of animals with genetically disturbed histamine signalling <sup>90,159</sup>. HDC or histamine receptor knockout mice models have not shown impaired motor coordination <sup>131,132</sup>.

#### 2.3.4 Histamine and the neurobiology of ethanol

Ethanol is the most common substance of abuse, and ethanol addiction and overuse causes substantial morbidity and social issues worldwide. There is thus a great need to understand the neural circuitry and mechanisms underlying the neural effects of ethanol. The strong involvement of the dopaminergic network in the behavioural and reinforcing effects of ethanol administration has been well documented <sup>160</sup>. Ethanol activates the neurons of the mesolimbic pathway, which leads to an increased release of dopamine in the nucleus accumbens, a key area in stimulant-induced locomotor activation <sup>161-163</sup>. Dopamine receptor antagonists are able to inhibit ethanol-induced hyperactivity, further suggesting that dopaminergic pathways are essential in this response <sup>164,165</sup>. The mesolimbic pathway, originating from neurons in the ventral tegmental area (VTA), is also essential in the development of substance addiction <sup>166</sup>. It is thus evident that dopaminergic signalling is of pivotal relevance in the neurobiology of ethanol. However, the effects of ethanol in the brain are highly non-specific and not confined to one system.

In animal models, addiction mechanisms are often studied using conditioned place preference (CPP), a setup in which an animal develops a preference for the

compartment in which it receives the addictive or rewarding substance <sup>167</sup>. Several studies have shown that mice lacking histamine demonstrate stronger CPP by morphine and ethanol, which suggests that histamine would be relevant in the pathogenesis of addiction <sup>168-170</sup>. Further studies into the mechanism behind this effect revealed that HRH3 antagonists inhibited ethanol-induced CPP and increased the release of histamine in the nucleus accumbens, suggesting that the mesolimbic dopaminergic pathway could be modulated by histamine at this site <sup>171,172</sup>. The mechanism for this modulation is likely to be at least partially attributable to the dimerization of HRH3 with dopamine receptors in the striatum, as knockout of HRH3 in mice results in impaired downstream signalling of DRD1 and DRD2 receptors in the striatum<sup>141</sup>. Histamine has also been implicated as a mediator of the acute effects of ethanol, as mice lacking histamine show a decreased locomotor activation following ethanol administration <sup>169</sup>. The mechanism by which histamine modulates acute effects of ethanol is still not completely understood. The HRH3 dimerization is likely to also modulate the dopamine signalling following the increased release of dopamine after an acute dose of ethanol. It is, however, important to also consider that the histaminergic system itself is affected by ethanol. In rats, acute ethanol treatment has been shown to increase histamine content and HDC activity in the hypothalamus, although the underlying mechanism has not been studied further <sup>173</sup>. Thus, further studies into how the histaminergic system itself is affected by ethanol are warranted.

#### 2.3.5 Histaminergic signalling in the pathology of psychiatric conditions

#### 2.3.5.1 Tourette's syndrome and autism spectrum disorders

The pathogenetic processes behind psychiatric disorders are poorly and incompletely understood and generally involve changes in a multitude of neurotransmitter systems. However, even partial understanding of the involvement of individual neurotransmitters and neurotransmitter receptors in these conditions is of importance, as this could open up new avenues for development of better pharmacological therapies. Histamine has been implicated in several psychiatric diseases <sup>174</sup>. Its involvement has probably best been described for Gilles de la Tourette's syndrome, a condition characterized by involuntary repetitive motor behaviours called tics, after the discovery of a dominant mutant loss of function allele of HDC in a family with an autosomal dominant inheritance pattern of Tourette's syndrome <sup>175</sup>. A tic-like phenotype of repetitive behaviour was later reproduced in HDC knockout mice, which was reversible by injection of histamine into the brain, providing further evidence of the relevance of histamine signalling in Tourette's syndrome <sup>176</sup>. There is, however, no understanding of the mechanism by which histamine deficiency triggers Tourette's syndrome. As the association between histamine and Tourette's syndrome has so far been discovered in only one family, it is unlikely to explain most cases of Tourette's syndrome. Interestingly, Tourette's syndrome has substantial comorbidity with diseases of the autism spectrum disorder <sup>177</sup>. These conditions are characterized by

impairments of social behaviour, communication deficits and repetitive, stereotypic behaviour <sup>178</sup>. Some evidence suggests that histamine might also be relevant in autism spectrum disorders. Treatment with the HRH3 antagonist ciproxifan reversed the social behaviour impairment in a mouse model of autism, and a recent study found that patients with autism spectrum disorder had altered expression of genes in the histaminergic system, although this study was unable to identify which individual genes were affected in detail <sup>179</sup>. These pioneer studies imply that histamine could regulate social behaviour, although further studies are necessary in order to understand the mechanism behind this.

#### 2.3.5.2 Anxiety disorders

Early pharmacological studies demonstrated that HRH1 agonists increase, while HRH1 antagonists reduce, anxiety-like light-avoidance behaviour in mice, suggesting that histamine acts as a modulator of anxiety <sup>180,181</sup>. By contrast, HRH3 antagonists had an anxiogenic effect, which was attributed to inhibition of HRH3 autoreceptors on histaminergic terminals, resulting in increased histamine release and increased HRH1 activation <sup>181</sup>. Supporting this view, HRH3 agonists show anxiolytic effects in both rats and guinea pigs <sup>182</sup>. In rats, the anxiogenic effect of histamine is at least in part mediated through histaminergic modulation of the amygdala, as histamine injected into the amygdala is anxiogenic, acting through a mechanism involving HRH1 but also DRD1 and DRD2 <sup>183,184</sup>.

However, more recent studies in mutant mice have challenged the simplistic notion that histamine would be anxiogenic. Although HRH1 knockout mice display decreased anxiety-like behaviour in the elevated plus maze test, they do not show altered light-avoidance behaviour in comparison to controls <sup>185,186</sup>. HDC knockout mice that lack histamine completely show an increase in anxiety-like behaviour in several studies and test paradigms <sup>158,187,188</sup>. An anxiogenic phenotype has also been observed after lowering brain histamine levels through limiting the availability of histidine in the food of mice <sup>189</sup>. Knockout of HRH3 seems to have a complex effect on anxiety, increasing startle-induced anxiety responses but decreasing anxiety behaviour in the elevated plus maze <sup>190</sup>. The discrepancy between results in mutant mice and pharmacological studies could imply that chronic inhibition of histamine signalling (i.e. mutant models) and acute inhibition (the current pharmacological studies) affect anxiety-like behaviour differently.

#### 2.3.5.3 Other psychiatric conditions

Histamine has also been linked to several other psychiatric conditions. Patients with schizophrenia display decreased HRH1 and increased HRH3 radioligand binding in the frontal cortex <sup>191,192</sup>. In a British study, a one amino acid substitution in the gene of HRH2 was found to be enriched in patients with schizophrenia, but this discovery was

not reproducible in other populations, thus casting doubts on its overall relevance <sup>193,194</sup>. Interestingly, HRH2 antagonists have shown some promise in the treatment of negative symptoms in schizophrenia. However, their beneficial effect may be transient due to the development of tolerance <sup>195,196</sup>. Due to their pro-cognitive effects in preclinical trials, attempts have been made to use HRH3 antagonists for treatment of psychotic conditions <sup>197</sup>. However, so far, clinical trials with HRH3 antagonists have not demonstrated efficacy in the treatment of schizophrenia <sup>198</sup>.

Patients suffering from depression have been shown to have lower levels of HRH1 binding in the prefrontal cortex and gyrus cinguli in comparison to healthy controls, with the magnitude of this effect correlating with the severity of the symptoms <sup>199</sup>. The HRH3 antagonist clobenpropit demonstrated antidepressant activity in a rat model of depression, and another HRH3 antagonist, pitolisant, was able to reverse depressive-like symptoms caused by olanzapine in mice <sup>200,201</sup>. However, the precise role of histamine in depression still remains unknown.

## 2.4 The zebrafish as a model of the vertebrate brain

#### 2.4.1 Introduction of the zebrafish as a model organism

The use of the zebrafish (Danio rerio) as a model organism was pioneered by Dr. George Streisinger at the University of Oregon almost 50 years ago. Streisinger's goal was to find a vertebrate animal that could be used as a model for study of the genetics of the developing nervous system and be simple to maintain in a laboratory setting <sup>202</sup>. The zebrafish had several properties making it a suitable candidate <sup>202</sup>. Zebrafish breed readily all year round in a laboratory setting and several hundred embryos can be obtained from a single breeding, enabling experiments requiring a large number of individuals, such as drug screening setups <sup>203</sup>. Zebrafish, like many other species of fish, are ovuliparous, and thus both the gametes and developing embryos are easily accessible to the researcher. This enables the use of several methods of genetic manipulation – indeed, the first major zebrafish paper from 1981 described the generation of homozygous diploid zebrafish embryos through conversion of haploid zebrafish eggs <sup>204</sup>. In addition, zebrafish embryos are transparent until the end of organogenesis (achieved at 24 hours post fertilization, hpf), and the transparency can be retained even longer by treating the embryos with 1-phenyl 2-thiourea or by using zebrafish strains that are unable to produce pigment <sup>205,206</sup>. This has allowed for the development of non-invasive, light-based and high-resolution in vivo imaging techniques of different organ systems, which are virtually impossible to develop in other established vertebrate models in life sciences <sup>207-209</sup>. Zebrafish embryos and larvae can easily be grown on a Petri dish and adult fish require considerably less space than a similar number of rodents <sup>210</sup>. The easy accessibility of the developing zebrafish embryo has also facilitated the development of many different tools for genetic manipulation and gene function regulation <sup>211-214</sup>. The zebrafish genome has also been

fully sequenced, which has made it possible to reliably identify the zebrafish orthologues of human genes <sup>215</sup>. Taken together, these fundamental advantages of the zebrafish attracted greater interest and, eventually, led to general acceptance of this animal model in life sciences.

#### 2.4.2 Similarities and differences between the zebrafish and the mammalian brain

Several fundamental principles of neurotransmission, such as the mechanism behind the action potential, have originally been discovered in organisms with quite simple neural networks <sup>216</sup>. However, in order to model the function of neurotransmitter networks relevant to the mammal brain, these networks must be present in the model organism. At first glance, the morphology of the zebrafish brain appears quite different from its mammalian counterparts. The telencephalon in mammals contains many different regions that can be identified macroscopically, while the zebrafish telencephalon is much simpler and encompasses a much smaller fraction of the brain mass in comparison to mammals <sup>217</sup>. However, although small in size, the zebrafish telencephalon contains regions homologous to mammalian structures, such as the amygdala, cortex and hippocampus <sup>218,219</sup>. The fish also contain all major small molecule and amine neurotransmitter systems that have been described in mammals. and many of the neuropeptides are conserved as well <sup>220</sup>. Additionally, important genes in brain development, such as the different classes of neurotrophic factors, have all been described in the zebrafish, suggesting that these developmental mechanisms are present and conserved also in the zebrafish <sup>221-224</sup>. Although many of the systems are conserved, they still have some essential functional differences that will shortly be reviewed here for the systems addressed in this dissertation.

#### 2.4.2.1 The histaminergic system of the zebrafish

The histaminergic neurons are localized in the posterior hypothalamus of the zebrafish and are first detectable by immunohistochemistry after 3 days post fertilization (dpf)<sup>20</sup>. The histaminergic system in the zebrafish is highly similar to that of mammals, with histaminergic fibres projecting to many brain regions<sup>225</sup>. The most notable difference is the absence of histamine fibre projections in the zebrafish cerebellum, while the mammalian cerebellum receives considerable histaminergic innervation (see chapter 2.3.3)<sup>20</sup>. Of the four mammalian histamine receptors, only the first three are found in the zebrafish. All of these are expressed in the brain of both larval and adult fish<sup>226</sup>. Although the exact signalling properties of these receptors have not been published, they display considerable similarity to their mammalian isoforms – for instance, the domain responsible for the high constitutive activity of HRH3 is conserved <sup>226</sup>.

The peripheral tissues, including mast cells, are devoid of histamine in the zebrafish <sup>20,227</sup>. Thus, it would seem that biologically relevant histamine in the zebrafish is only synthesized by the hypothalamic neurons. This makes the zebrafish an optimal model

for study of the role of histaminergic neurotransmission, as there is evidence suggesting that mast cell derived histamine would also influence behaviour and interact with neural histamine receptors in mice <sup>228,229</sup>.

The metabolism of histamine in the zebrafish has not been thoroughly studied. Although the zebrafish has a homologue of HNMT that is expressed widely in the brain, nothing is known about its properties at the moment <sup>230</sup>. Although low in mammalian brain, expression of DAO has been characterized in the zebrafish habenula, suggesting that oxidative deamination by DAO might partake in the metabolism of neural histamine in the zebrafish <sup>231</sup>.

#### 2.4.2.2 The catecholaminergic systems of the zebrafish

The dopaminergic system of the zebrafish is well developed and has been thoroughly characterized in several detailed studies <sup>225,232-234</sup>. All dopaminergic populations that are found in the adult brain are present in the brain at 5 dpf, and the distribution of some of the cell groups are well conserved <sup>225,233</sup>. The most notable difference between the zebrafish and mammals is the absence of dopaminergic neurons in the mesencephalon of the zebrafish, and it has thus been difficult to ascertain which of the populations is homologous with the mammalian substantia nigra <sup>225</sup>. Current evidence implicates the diencephalic posterior tuberal dopaminergic population as the zebrafish equivalent of the substantia nigra <sup>234,235</sup>. Other differences include a prominent population in the telencephalon and a pretectal diencephalic population, both of which are absent in mammals <sup>225</sup>.

The zebrafish has two isoforms of TH, named Th1 and Th2, which show a complementary expression pattern in the brain  $^{232}$ . In the brain, expression of *th2* is confined to the hypothalamus and preoptic region of the diencephalon. Some cell populations express both *th1* and *th2* transcripts; the majority of only *th2*-expressing neurons are located in the posterior hypothalamus  $^{236}$ . This has allowed for the study of functions specific to the *th2*-expressing subset of dopaminergic neurons; these are currently known to be involved in the regulation of hypothalamic neurogenesis and initiation of locomotion  $^{237,238}$ . Differences in the transcriptional regulation of these two isoforms are still poorly understood.

The noradrenergic neurons of the zebrafish are mainly located in the locus coeruleus in the hindbrain, with additional noradrenergic neurons being found in the medulla – this is highly similar to the noradrenergic system of mammals  $^{225}$ .

Although poorly understood, notable differences in the metabolism of catecholamines exist between mammals and the zebrafish. The zebrafish has only one isoform of MAO, which seems to be primarily involved in the metabolism of serotonin, as inhibition of MAO has no effect on the concentrations of either dopamine or noradrenaline in the zebrafish <sup>239</sup>. This suggests that catecholamines in the zebrafish are primarily metabolized by COMT, but very little is known about zebrafish COMT at the moment.

#### 2.4.2.3 The serotonergic system of the zebrafish

Like the dopaminergic and histaminergic systems, all serotonergic populations of the zebrafish brain have developed by 5 dpf <sup>233</sup>. The zebrafish has prominent serotonergic populations in the diencephalon, a feature common in other species of fish but not observed in mammals <sup>225,240</sup>. The Raphe nuclei are conserved in the zebrafish and send extensive ascending and descending projections, as is the case in mammals <sup>240</sup>.

The zebrafish have three isoforms of tph - tph1a, tph1b and tph2 – all of which are expressed in the brain <sup>241,242</sup>. Expression of tph1a is restricted to the diencephalic populations in the hypothalamus and tph2 is expressed in the raphe and pretectum <sup>242</sup>. tph1b is expressed only transiently in development and its role is not well understood <sup>241</sup>. As mentioned above, serotonin is efficiently metabolized by MAO <sup>239</sup>.

#### 2.4.3 Advantages and disadvantages of the zebrafish as a model organism

#### 2.4.3.1 The zebrafish genome duplication event

In early evolution, many teleost species, such as the zebrafish, have undergone a genome duplication event <sup>243</sup>. As a consequence, the zebrafish genome has two or several isoforms of many genes that are present only in one copy in mammals. This is the case for many genes relevant for neurotransmission, as reviewed in the previous chapter. As the isoforms often have an overlapping expression <sup>232,244</sup>, it can be difficult to generate knockout models that completely lack the function of this gene. In some cases, however, the expression patterns of the two isoforms are complementary and restricted to specific regions of the organism, thus making it possible to study the effect of regional loss of function of a certain gene. Thus, the genome duplication has created both unique challenges and opportunities for using the zebrafish as a model.

#### 2.4.3.2 Analysing behaviour of the zebrafish

Fruitful study of brain mechanisms usually requires a quantifiable readout. Different forms of behaviour are suitable readouts, as these can be monitored non-invasively and can also be used to model human symptoms, such as motor deficiencies and anxiety <sup>239,245</sup>. Zebrafish display a large repertoire of characteristic behaviours, many of which are already present in early larval stages <sup>246</sup>. Basic locomotion can be easily studied in automated setups, giving high-throughput information about parameters such as locomotion activity and place preference of the fish <sup>226,247</sup>. The small size of larvae allow for tracking of up to 96 individuals in the same trial, which makes it possible to track large numbers of individuals and several experimental groups in the same trial <sup>248</sup>. Additionally, the possibility to combine behavioural trials with non-invasive *in vivo* microscopy techniques has allowed for the detailed identification of cells and circuits

underlying specific forms of behavioural responses <sup>249,250</sup>. These studies provide important information about the organization of neural circuits controlling behaviour at the cellular level, which is not feasibly obtainable in other established vertebrate models.

The zebrafish is a diurnal species, and locomotion of zebrafish larvae is strongly regulated by the level of light and changes in illumination, and larvae display a preference for light <sup>251,252</sup>. As light conditions can easily be controlled during experiments, the sensitivity of larvae to light has been utilized in several behavioural setups. For instance, the preference of light has been used to develop models of fear and anxiety in larvae <sup>253</sup>. Rapid motor responses to sudden changes in illumination have been used to study the neural circuitry regulating alertness of the zebrafish <sup>133</sup>. Several studies have also shown the zebrafish to be a suitable model for studying the mechanisms and pathology of sleep <sup>254-256</sup>. However, it should be noted that sleep in zebrafish can only be defined by behavioural criteria, as it is not feasible to perform electroencephalographic recordings of the fish brain <sup>252</sup>.

Juvenile and adult zebrafish display a wide range of social behaviours, such as shoaling, social hierarchy between individuals and mating behaviour <sup>246</sup>. Social behaviour can be analysed quantitatively using video recordings and algorithms that are able to track individual fish in a shoal <sup>217,257</sup>. Zebrafish are thus a suitable model for elucidating the complex neurobiology of social behaviour, which is relevant in many human conditions such as autism spectrum disorder <sup>258</sup>. However, not all fish social behaviours can be easily translated into corresponding human behaviours <sup>217</sup>. For instance, there is no obvious equivalent of shoaling in mammals. There are also test paradigms available for other higher brain functions, such as memory and learning, although a detailed presentation of these methods is beyond the scope of this thesis <sup>259</sup>.

#### 2.4.3.3 Whole-mount and live brain imaging techniques

When studying the histological structure of the brain in rodents and other models, the brain often needs to be sectioned before analysis. The brain of the larval zebrafish is transparent, which has allowed for the development of histological methods using the whole brain as a sample. For instance, it is possible to do fluorescent immunohistochemistry and *in situ* hybridization on intact brains, although the limited availability of primary antibodies suitable for use in the zebrafish and the limited sensitivity of *in situ* hybridization methods can pose methodological challenges <sup>234,236</sup>. It is thus possible to obtain information about the exact number of neural cell bodies in certain brain areas and visualize their projections, thus providing more detailed anatomical information about the relevant system than a mere study of histological sections <sup>260</sup>. Using transgenic animals expressing fluorescent proteins in certain cells, different *in vivo* imaging setups have also been possible – for instance, activity of individual neurons can be imaged by expressing fluorescent calcium influx reporter genes <sup>261</sup>. Although similar methods are available for other animal models as well, the

zebrafish is currently the most feasible vertebrate option for performing this imaging non-invasively, as the comparable setups in other animals (i.e. mammals) generally either require extensive surgical procedures or are limited to the imaging of superficial brain structures <sup>262-264</sup>.

#### 2.4.3.4 Genetic manipulation methods

The easy accessibility of zebrafish embryos has facilitated the development of many different techniques for gene function modification and genetic manipulation. Early studies focused mainly on forward genetic approaches, where male zebrafish are treated with the chemical mutagen N-ethyl-N-nitrosurea (ENU) to induce germline mutations. These fish are then crossed with wild type females and the offspring is subsequently screened for phenotypes <sup>265</sup>. When a phenotype is found, the gene is then identified by cloning. This method was used in a large screen published in a single issue of the journal Development in 1996, in which many genes affecting the development of the zebrafish were identified <sup>266</sup>. However, this method is extremely slow and requires large fish facilities for successful screens.

One of the earliest reverse genetic methods utilized morpholino oligonucleotides that target specific RNA species to transiently inhibit the function of specific genes during development <sup>267</sup>. However, morpholinos also have unspecific off-target effects, and not all morpholino phenotypes have been successfully reproduced when mutants of the same genes have become available <sup>268</sup>. Together with the development of efficient techniques for reverse genetic screening, this has led to a decline in the use of morpholinos. The first widely used method to create constitutive knockout zebrafish of certain genes relied on the TILLING (Targeting Induced Local Lesions in Genomes) approach, in which the offspring of ENU-treated zebrafish are screened for mutations in the gene of interest <sup>213</sup>. However, TILLING also results in numerous off-target mutations, which may affect the vitality and phenotype of the fish strain. Thus, a method for specific mutagenesis was needed. The pioneer method for creating mutations in specific genes of interest used zinc finger nucleases containing a DNAcleavage domain and a sequence specific DNA-binding domain to induce doublestrand breaks in the genome, resulting in mutations in the target site <sup>269</sup>. Recently, however, the zinc finger nucleases have been virtually replaced in the zebrafish field by the CRISPR/Cas9 method, which has been adapted from a prokaryote immune defence mechanism against viruses. This method is based on synthesizing a small guide RNA, which targets a specific sequence in the genome, and Cas9 protein that cleaves both DNA strands at the binding site of the guide RNA <sup>270</sup>. The endogenous repair of this double-strand break is error-prone, often causing deletions and thus resulting in a mutated gene. This method is specific and more efficient than previous methods of site-specific mutagenesis <sup>271</sup>. More recent adaptations of the method have also made it possible to generate insertions using CRISPR/Cas9, opening up new avenues for overexpression studies and transgenics <sup>272</sup>.

#### 2.4.3.5 Ethical considerations in the use of zebrafish

When using animal models, it is important to pay attention to ethical use of animals and animal welfare. Having a much less complex central nervous system, the zebrafish is generally considered to be a lower-ordered vertebrate than mammalian models such as the mouse and the rat <sup>273</sup>. This motivates the use of zebrafish models instead of mammals, if a suitable zebrafish model is available. Additionally, many zebrafish studies can be carried out in larvae. According to the 3R guidelines, studies using immature forms of vertebrates are preferable to studies in adult individuals <sup>274</sup>. Experiments done in larvae are also not subjected to legal regulation and do not require an animal experiment permit in the European Union, if the experiments are performed and the larvae are terminated before they start to feed independently (Directive 2010/63/EU). By using larval zebrafish in pilot studies, for instance toxicity screens in drug development, it is also possible to reduce the number of mammalian animals needed in later stage experiments <sup>275</sup>. However, for experiments involving adult fish, such as the generation of genetically modified fish strains, an animal experiment license is required, and the housing conditions, procedures requiring anaesthesia and the termination of fish are strictly regulated by law <sup>276</sup>.

# 3. Aims

Given the increasing pharmacological interest in the histaminergic system, a detailed understanding of the different aspects of the neuropharmacology of histamine is required. A better understanding of this transmitter system in relation to behaviour and other transmitter networks could lead to the discovery of new drug targets in the treatment of psychiatric and neurological conditions. However, in order to make proper hypotheses about possible treatment mechanisms involving the pharmacological modulation of histaminergic signalling, the basic functional properties of the system have to be thoroughly characterized. In this study, we aimed to answer some of the unresolved questions about the histaminergic system, using the zebrafish as a model of the vertebrate brain.

The specific aims of this thesis project were as follows:

1. Describe how the histaminergic system reacts to an acute dose of ethanol in comparison to the dopaminergic system. (I)

2. Investigate factors regulating the expression of hdc. (I-III)

3. Investigate the role of VMAT2 in histaminergic neurotransmission in comparison to other neurotransmitter systems. (II)

4. Develop a fluorescent *in situ* hybridization protocol with sufficient sensitivity to colocalize low-abundance transcripts in the zebrafish brain. (II–III)

5. Identify the neurotransmitter phenotype of neurons expressing hrh3 in the zebrafish brain. (III)

6. Characterize the effect of hrh3 knockout on behaviour, other transmitter networks and the development of the zebrafish brain. (III)

# 4. Materials and Methods

## 4.1 Experimental animals (I-III)

Zebrafish from the wild-type Turku strain were used in all experiments. The mutant strain used in study III was also generated in the Turku strain, and thus shares a similar heritage. This strain was originally established from a mixed population of wild type zebrafish in Turku, Finland, and has since been maintained in our laboratory for almost two decades and used in several publications <sup>20,133,225</sup>. The fish were maintained in a 14/10 h light/dark cycle at a temperature of 27.5–28.5°C. Zebrafish embryos and larvae were raised in 1xE3 medium (5.00 mM NaCl, 0.44 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.33 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub> and 0.17 mM KCl) until 8 dpf, when the larvae were transferred into tanks containing fish system water.

Starting at 5 dpf, the fish were fed daily with SDS dry food (SDS Diets, Essex, United Kingdom), with the exception of fish used for experiments and terminated at 7 dpf. After reaching 14 dpf, fish were fed with SDS twice a day and additionally with artemia, which were grown from cysts according to the manufacturer's instructions (Great Salt Lake Artemia Cysts, Sanders, USA). During weekends, fish were fed only once a day with artemia. Fish husbandry was based on the principles described by Westerfield <sup>210</sup>.

Larvae were killed in ice-cold water. Genotyping samples were collected by fin clipping under anesthesia with MS-222 (Sigma A5040, Sigma-Aldrich, MO, USA). Deformed and injured fish were not used in the experiments. All animal experiments were authorized by the Animal Experiment Board of the Regional State Administrative Agency of Southern Finland and the experiments were conducted in accordance with the EU Directive 2010/63/EU. All experiments were conducted in the Zebrafish unit of the Neuroscience Center of the University of Helsinki.

#### **4.2 Ethanol treatment (I)**

Absolute ethanol (>99.5%) was dissolved into 1xE3 to obtain treatment solutions containing 0.75, 1.50 and 3.00% of ethanol (Aa ethanol, Altia, Finland). The concentrations chosen were based on previous studies on ethanol in the zebrafish, and are similar to the internal concentrations measured in mice after acute administration of ethanol <sup>277-279</sup>. 1xE3 without added ethanol was used for the control group. Treatment solutions were prepared fresh prior to the trial. 1 ml of solution was pipetted into each well of a 48-well plate. One 7 dpf larva was transferred to each well. The treatment durations used were 10 and 30 min. Samples of the larvae used in further experiments were collected immediately following the treatment. No mortality was observed after either treatment.
#### 4.3 Reserpine treatment (II)

The VMAT2 inhibitor reserpine (Sigma 83580, Sigma-Aldrich, MO, USA) was dissolved into 1xE3 at a concentration of 40 mg/L. Since reserpine is poorly soluble in water, the solution was vigorously agitated until no undissolved particles were seen and the solution appeared homogenous. Larvae were treated with reserpine at 4 dpf for either 20 min or 24 h. The 20 min treatment and the chosen reserpine concentration were based on a previous study, where adult zebrafish were treated with reserpine <sup>280</sup>. The longer, 24 h treatment was included to evaluate the possible differences between a short and long reserpine treatment. During treatment, larvae were kept at a density of 30 larvae / 3 ml treatment solution, and this density was also applied for larvae in the control group. After the treatment, the larvae were washed three times with 1xE3 and transferred to a clean plate. No difference in mortality was seen between controls and treated larvae.

#### 4.4 Behavioural tests (I–III)

#### 4.4.1 Locomotion effect of acute ethanol (I)

7 dpf larvae were transferred to a 48-well plate, with each well containing 1 ml of ethanol solution (0% for controls, 0.75%, 1.50% or 3.00%). Group sizes were equal (12 larvae per group). After transferring the larvae to the plate, the locomotion behaviour of the larvae was tracked for 10 min using the EthoVision 3.1 software (Noldus, Wageningen, The Netherlands). The experiment was conducted under light conditions, with an illumination of approximately 330 lux in accordance with previous studies <sup>133</sup>. In order to avoid light reflection artefacts in the tracks, the walls of the wells were coated manually with parafilm. The tracks were analysed by the software. Only tracks with no tracking artefacts and a detection rate over 90% were included in the analysis. Total distance moved, mean angular velocity, mean turn angle and mean meander for the trial were computed using a 0.2 mm minimum distance moved filter. The total distance moved was also analysed in 1 min bins. Larvae that did not move at all were considered abnormal and excluded from further analysis. The amount of excluded larvae per group was as follows: control 1/48, 0.75% ethanol 5/61, 1.50% ethanol 7/68 and 3.00% ethanol 2/55).

#### 4.4.2 Locomotion effect of reserpine treatment (II)

The reserpine behavioural tests were conducted at 5 dpf and 7 dpf (24 h and 72 h after administering reserpine, respectively). 16 larvae per group were tracked on a 48-well plate, using the EthoVision XT 11.5 software and DanioVision DVOC-0040 tracking chamber (Noldus, Wageningen, The Netherlands). Before the trial, the larvae were habituated to the plate for 10 min. Basic locomotor activity in normal light conditions

was assessed for 15 min, followed by three periods consisting of 2 min of darkness and 2 min of light. Illumination was set at approximately 330 lux, and light and dark transitions were instantaneous. A 0.2 mm minimum distance moved filter was used for the data analysis. The total distance moved and maximum distance moved per bout was analysed for the initial light period. For the altering light conditions, the distance moved was analysed in 1 min time bins. In order to analyse the dark-flash response, locomotion during the transition from light to dark was analysed in 1 sec bins.

### 4.4.3 Locomotion of hrh3 mutant zebrafish (III)

5 dpf wild type, heterozygous and knockout *hrh3* larvae were tracked using the same DanioVision system as described in chapter 4.4.2. Total distance moved, mean turn angle, mean angular velocity and mean meander were analysed during a 15 min tracking period. Dark adaptation was analysed by tracking the larvae for 15 min in 1 min bins after suddenly turning off the lights.

Adult fish of each genotype were tracked in white, cylindrical containers using the EthoVision 3.1 system. In order to evaluate the place preference of the fish, the arena was divided into three virtual zones in the tracking software. The locomotion of the fish was tracked for 20 min in light conditions. The time spent in each of the zones and the same movement parameters as listed above for the larvae were analysed.

### 4.4.4 Social behaviour of *hrh3* mutant adult zebrafish (III, partially unpublished)

6 adult fish were tracked as a group in the same white cylindrical container used in 4.4.3. The fish were habituated to the arena for 5 min and tracked for 10 min. The individual fish swimming tracks were analysed using idTracker software, and the correlation of leadership scores and probabilities of the fish being in front were computed <sup>257</sup>. The trial was repeated with four different groups of fish for each genotype.

The shoaling behaviour of the *hrh3*-mutant fish was tested using a three-chamber setup developed by Dr. D. Baronio, which is similar to the setup used previously with rodents <sup>281</sup>. A transparent square tank was divided into a rectangular compartment, with two equally sized smaller compartments facing its long side. One of the smaller compartments contained a shoal of fish and the other compartment contained stones. Shoaling preference was measured by counting the amount of time the fish spent in proximity to the tank containing the shoal of fish during a 10 min trial.

Aggression was tested using the mirror test, where the fish were placed in a transparent rectangular tank with a mirror at one end <sup>282</sup>. The time spent in proximity to the mirror during a 10 min trial was measured. A total of 12 fish of each genotype were analysed.

### 4.5 RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis (I-III)

5–15 larvae were pooled into a microcentrifuge tube in order to obtain one RNA sample. Excess water was removed, and the sample was flash-frozen in liquid nitrogen or immediately processed through the RNA isolation protocol. RNA isolation was performed using the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). In studies II and III, a DNase I treatment was included in order to verify the removal of all genomic DNA, as some of the PCR primers showed a strong tendency to amplify genomic DNA in pilot experiments of these studies. cDNA was synthesized using the SuperScript III reverse transcriptase kit (Invitrogen) using random hexamer primers in accordance with the kit protocol. In study I, 2  $\mu$ g of RNA was used for the reverse transcription, in study II, 0.5–1  $\mu$ g, and in study III 0.5  $\mu$ g. The reason for using less RNA template is optimization of the qPCR to minimize the number of animals that needed to be pooled for one sample – we discovered during the years this project was carried out that 0.5  $\mu$ g of RNA was sufficient for obtaining cDNA of a good quality. The cDNA was diluted 10 times in nuclease-free water and this dilution was used as a template for qPCR.

### 4.6 Quantitative PCR (I-III)

In study I, quantitative PCR analysis was performed using the SmartCyclerII® (Cepheid) cycling platform. SYBR Green premix was obtained from Takara (Takara, Madison, WI, USA). The PCR reaction was set up according to the instructions of the cycler and premix kit. The reaction volume was 25 µl. Ct values were computed using the SmartCyclerII® software.

In studies II and III, quantitative PCR was performed using the LightCycler® 480 platform, with SYBR Green I Master reaction mixture produced by the platform manufacturer (Roche, Mannheim, Germany). All experiments were conducted using white 96-well plates. The reaction was set up according to the instructions of the manufacturer. Cp values (equivalents to the Ct value in other systems) were computed using the LightCycler® software.

Relative expression of genes was calculated using the comparative C(T) method described by Livak and Schmittgen <sup>283</sup>. In study I, beta actin (*bactin*) was chosen as the reference gene, as this gene has been reported to be the most stable reference gene in zebrafish exposed to chemical treatments and has also demonstrated good stability in other comparisons <sup>284</sup>. In studies II and III, ribosomal protein L13 a (*rpl13a*) was used as a reference gene instead, because of a recent report that found it to be more stably expressed across different conditions <sup>285</sup>. For the sequences of the primers used, please consult the original publications.

# 4.7 Antibodies (I–III)

Please consult the table below for details of the antibodies used for immunohistochemistry and *in situ* hybridization.

Antibody	Dilution used	Supplier	Product number	Reference
Mouse anti-tyrosine hydroxylase	1:1000	Immunostar	22941	Kaslin and Panula 2001 <sup>225</sup>
Rabbit anti-histamine	1:10000	Prof. Panula	19C	Panula et al. 1990 <sup>15</sup>
Rabbit anti-serotonin	1:1000	Sigma	85545	Chen et al. 2012 <sup>221</sup>
Alexa 488 goat anti-rabbit	1:1000	Invitrogen	A 11034	Sundvik et al. 2012 286
Alexa 488 goat anti-mouse	1:1000	Invitrogen	A 11029	Sundvik et al. 2012 286
Alexa 568 goat anti-rabbit	1:1000	Invitrogen	A 11036	Sundvik et al. 2012 286
Alexa 568 goat-anti mouse	1:1000	Invitrogen	A 11031	Sundvik et al. 2012 286
Sheep anti-digoxigenin-POD	1:2000	Roche	11 207 733 910	Lauter et al. 2011 287
Sheep anti-fluorescein-POD	1:2000	Roche	11 426 346 910	Lauter et al. 2011 287
Sheep anti-digoxigenin-AP	1:7500	Roche	11 093 274 910	Thisse and Thisse 2008 <sup>288</sup>

# 4.8 Immunohistochemistry (I–III)

Larvae were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) diluted in 1xPBS (phosphate buffered saline) overnight at +4°C. For histamine staining, the larvae were fixed with 4% freshly prepared 1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)carbodiimide in 0.1 M phosphate buffer pH 7.00.

The next day, the larvae were washed for 3–4 hours in 1xPBS, after which the brains of the larvae were dissected under a stereomicroscope using #5 and #7 Dumont forceps (Fine Science Tools, Heidelberg, Germany). Brains were collected into meshed baskets kept on a 24-well plate, with each well containing 1 ml of PBS. All subsequent wash steps were carried out in the baskets on a 24-well plate.

The brains were washed 3x30 min with PBS containing 0.3% Triton X-100 detergent (PBSTx) at room temperature (RT). After this, nonspecific binding sites were blocked by incubating the samples in PBSTx containing 4% normal goat serum (NGS, Gibco) and 1% dimethyl sulfoxide, overnight at +4°C. After blocking, the samples were incubated in primary antibody overnight for 16–24 h. The primary antibody was diluted in PBSTx containing 2% NGS. After incubation, the brains were washed in RT for 10 min and 3x30 min in PBSTx in order to remove excess antibody. The brains were then incubated at +4°C with Alexa fluorophore-conjugated secondary antibody diluted in PBSTx with 2% NGS. This was followed by a 10 min wash in PBSTx and

3x30 min washes in PBS, followed by 2x60 min incubations in 50% glycerol in PBS. Finally, the brains were incubated for at least 24 h in 80% glycerol in order for the tissue to be completely infiltrated and optimally cleared by the glycerol. The brains were then mounted between two  $24 \times 60$  mm cover glasses, using  $18 \times 18$  mm cover glasses to make a space between the larger glasses.

### 4.9 Cloning of zebrafish vmat1 (II)

A 735 bp fragment of the predicted zebrafish *vmat1* (NCBI accession number XM\_009304250.2) was amplified from cDNA obtained from whole zebrafish larvae. The primer sequences are reported in the original publication <sup>289</sup>. The PCR reaction was set up using the DyNAzyme II kit (Thermo Scientific F-551), and the reaction was analysed on a 1% agarose gel. The band was excised from the gel and the DNA isolated with the Min Elute Gel Extraction kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). In order to obtain a plasmid, the PCR fragment was subsequently ligated into the pGEM®-T easy vector (Promega A1360, Fitchburg, WI, USA). The plasmid was then transformed into competent DH5 $\alpha$  *E.coli* bacteria. The successful cloning of the sequence was verified by sequencing the insert from both ends using T7 and SP6 primers.

### 4.10 Riboprobe synthesis (I–III)

All riboprobes used were synthesized from plasmids containing a fragment of the cDNA of the gene of interest as an insert, flanked by a RNA polymerase promoter sequence (T3, T7 or SP6). The plasmids were linearized with an appropriate restriction enzyme. 11-digoxigenin-UTP or 12-fluorescein-UTP labelled riboprobes were synthesized using 10x fluorescein or digoxigenin RNA labelling mix and an appropriate RNA polymerase (Roche, Mannheim, Germany), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

#### 4.11 Chromogenic *in situ* hybridization (I–III)

The hybridization procedure was based on the protocol by Thisse and Thisse <sup>288</sup>. Larvae were fixed in 4% PFA diluted in 1xPBS and dissected as described in chapter 4.7. The dissected brains were collected in methanol and stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C until used for *in situ* hybridization.

During the *in situ* procedure, the brains were kept in 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tubes containing 1 ml of solution, unless otherwise noted. Brains were progressively dehydrated through a series of 5 min washes in 75%, 50% and 25% methanol diluted with 1xPBS containing 0.1% Tween-20 detergent (PBSTw). This was followed by 4x5 min washes in PBSTw, after which the brains were permeabilized by treating them with proteinase K (1  $\mu$ g/ml) for 10 min. The proteinase digestion was stopped by post-

fixation with 4% PFA in 1xPBS for 20 min, followed by 4x5 min washes with PBSTw. Samples were then prehybridized in hybridization buffer (HB, 50% deionized formamide, 5x sodium salt citrate (SSC), 0.1% Tween-20, 50  $\mu$ g/ml heparin, 500  $\mu$ g/ml tRNA with pH adjusted to 6.00 using citric acid) for 2 hrs at 65–67°C. Afterwards, HB was replaced with 250  $\mu$ l HB containing 50–100 ng of digoxigenin-labelled riboprobe. Hybridization was done overnight at 65–67°C for a minimum of 16 h.

Following hybridization, the samples were washed at 65–67°C as follows: briefly in HB, then 10 min each in 75%, 50% and 25% HB diluted with 2xSSCT (sodium salt citrate with 0.1% Tween-20), followed by a 10 min wash in 2xSSCT and two 30 min washes in 0.2xSSCT. HB used in these washes did not contain tRNA or heparin; SSCT buffers include 0.1% Tween-20. This was followed by 10 min washes in RT with 75%, 50% and 25% 0.2xSSCT diluted with PBSTw and a final 10 min wash with PBSTw. The samples were blocked with PBSTw containing 2% normal sheep serum (NSS) and 2 mg/ml bovine serum albumin (BSA) for 2 h in RT followed by incubation with  $F_{ab}$  fragments of alkaline phosphatase conjugated sheep anti-digoxigenin antibodies, diluted to 1:7500 in blocking solution overnight at +4°C.

On the last day of the protocol, excess antibody was washed away with at least 6 washes in PBSTw, lasting on average 15 min per wash. Afterwards, samples were washed twice for 15 min in alkaline Tris buffer (100 mM Tris-HCl pH 9.5, 50 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 100 mM NaCl, 0.1% Tween-20). The solution was thereafter replaced with staining solution, consisting of 225 mg/l nitro blue tetrazolium chloride (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) and 175 mg/l of 5-bromo-4-chloro 3-indolyl phosphate (Sigma-Aldrich, MO, USA). Staining was monitored under a dissecting microscope. When a sufficient signal was seen, the reaction was terminated by several washes in 1xPBS. The samples were infiltrated with glycerol and mounted as described in chapter 4.7.

### 4.12 Tyramide conjugate synthesis (II–III)

Tyramides were synthesized following the protocol described by Hopman *et al.* <sup>290</sup>. Succinimidyl esters of the following fluorophores were used in order to make respective tyramide conjugates: DyLight 488, DyLight 550, DyLight 633, DY-490, DY-560, DY-647P1, ATTO 488, ATTO 633, ATTO 647N, 5-(and-6)carboxyfluorescein (FAM), and 5-(and-6)-carboxytetramethylrhodamine (TAMRA).

The tyramine solution was prepared by dissolving tyramine-HCl in dimethyl formamide at a concentration of 10 g/l (58 mM). The pH of the tyramine solution was adjusted to 7.00–8.00 by adding 10  $\mu$ l/ml triethylamine into the solution. The succinimidyl esters were dissolved in anhydrous dimethyl formamide at a concentration of 10 g/l. The solutions were immediately mixed so that the molar ratio between ester and tyramine was 1.1. The reaction was allowed to proceed for 2 h at RT. The solution was then diluted to a final concentration of 1 mg/l with absolute ethanol, according to the mass of the unconjugated ester, and stored at –20°C. The

concentrations of tyramide used for the amplification reaction are indicated in the table below.

Fluorophore	Supplier of succinimidyl ester (product number)	Dilution used for TSA	
DyLight 488	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, USA (46402)	1:250 (4 mg/l)	
DyLight 550	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, USA (62262)	1:250 (4 mg/l)	
DyLight 633	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, USA (46414)	1:167 (6 mg/l)	
DY-490	DyOmics, Jena, Germany (490-01)	1:250 (4 mg/l)	
DY-560	DyOmics, Jena, Germany (560-01)	1:250 (4 mg/l)	
DY-647P1	DyOmics, Jena, Germany (647P1-01)	1:250 (4 mg/l)	
Atto 488	ATTO-TEC, Siegen, Germany (AD 188-31)	1:250 (4 mg/l)	
Atto 633	ATTO-TEC, Siegen, Germany (AD 633-31)	1:250 (4 mg/l)	
Atto 647N	ATTO-TEC, Siegen, Germany (AD 647N-31)	1:250 (4 mg/l)	
FAM	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, USA (C1311)	1:250 (4 mg/l)	
TAMRA	Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, USA (C1171)	1:250 (4 mg/l)	

### 4.13 Fluorescent in situ hybridization (II–III, partially unpublished)

The basis of the protocol for fluorescent *in situ* hybridization was adapted from Lauter *et al.*  $^{291}$ . The basic outline of the protocol is highly similar to the one described for chromogenic *in situ* hybridization in chapter 4.8. The differences between the protocols are briefly outlined here.

Before rehydration, endogenous peroxidase was inactivated by incubating the samples for 20 min in 2% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in methanol. Hybridization was done at 60°C. The hybridization buffer contained 5% dextran sulphate but was otherwise identical to that used for chromogenic in situ. The post hybridization washes were performed at 60°C as follows: quick wash in HBW (50% deionized formamide, 2xSSC, 0.1% Tween-20), 2x30 min in HBW, 1x15 min in 2xSSCT and 2x30 min in 0.2xSSCT. Thereafter the samples were washed 4x10 min in PBSTw, followed by blocking with PBSTw containing 8% NSS for 1–2 h in RT. Detection of the probe was performed using  $F_{ab}$ fragments of peroxidase conjugated sheep anti-digoxigenin antibodies, diluted 1:500. After overnight incubation at +4°C, excess antibody was washed 6x15 min with PBSTw, followed by 2x15 min washes in TSA (tyramide signal amplification) buffer (0.1 M borate pH 8.5, 0.1% Tween-20). The probe was then detected by incubating the sample with tyramide reagent diluted in TSA working solution (0.45 g/l 4-iodophenol, 2% dextran sulphate, 0.003% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, 0.1% Tween-20) for 15 min. The reaction was stopped by four quick washes with PBSTw, where the tubes were vigorously shaken manually several times during each wash.

When two transcripts were detected in the samples (two-channel *in situ*), the peroxidase in the first antibody was now inactivated by incubating samples for 10–15 min in 0.1 M glycine-HCl buffer, pH 2.00. To remove all glycine, samples were washed 4x5 min in PBSTw. The samples were then blocked and incubated with the second antibody as described above. The second riboprobe was labelled with fluorescein and detected using peroxidase-conjugated sheep anti-fluorescein antibodies, diluted at 1:500. After the final detection, the samples were washed 4x5 min 1xPBSTw and then mounted in 75% glycerol containing 40 mM NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, in order to ensure a pH above 8 and optimal fluorophore performance.

#### 4.13.1 Optimizations tested for the fluorescent in situ protocol

The protocol listed above resulted in sub-optimal detection results for low-abundance transcripts, such as *hrh3*. In order to optimize detection results and the signal-to-noise ratio, several optimizations to the protocol were tested. These have been previously described by King and Newmark for the planarian *S. mediterrania*<sup>292</sup>. The following alternative protocols were tested:

1. Replacing the proteinase K treatment with heat-induced antigen retrieval, performed by boiling the samples in 10 mM sodium citrate buffer pH 6.00, followed by 20 min incubation in PBSTw (no PFA postfixation).

2. Using 0.3% Triton X-100 as a detergent instead of 0.1% Tween-20.

3. Using a higher antibody dilution (1:2000 instead of 1:500)

4. Investigating the difference between using higher (100 ng) and lower (50 ng) amounts of riboprobe.

5. Using 100 mM NaN<sub>3</sub> instead of glycine buffer for inactivation of the first peroxidase antibody. In order to completely remove NaN<sub>3</sub>, samples were washed 8x5 min with PBSTw after this step.

6. Testing several different tyramide reagents.

### 4.14 High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) (I-III)

10–20 larvae were pooled per sample and flash-frozen in liquid nitrogen. The larvae were homogenized in 2% perchloric acid by sonication while keeping the samples on ice. The samples were then centrifuged for 30 min at 15 000 g. The supernatant was collected and 10 µl loaded as a sample for HPLC. Catecholamines, serotonin and their metabolites were measured using an electrochemical detector. The detailed procedure has been described earlier <sup>234,239</sup>. Histamine was measured using a Shimadzu HPLC system equipped with a fluorescent detector setup according to the method described by Yamatodani <sup>293</sup>. The pellet was resuspended in 5% SDS and the protein concentration was measured using the Pierce<sup>TM</sup> BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo

Fisher Scientific 23227, Waltham, USA). The measured neurotransmitter amounts were normalized to the protein levels.

# 4.15 Generation of a hrh3 knockout zebrafish (III)

The hrh3 mutant line was generated using the CRISPR/Cas9 system <sup>271</sup>. A 20 nucleotide targeting sequence 5'-GGTGAGTGGAGACTGGGCAG was synthesized by annealing the oligonucleotides 5'-TAGGTGAGTGGAGACTGGGCAG and 5'-AAACCTGCCCAGTCTCCACTCA. This sequence targets the second exon of the zebrafish hrh3 gene (NCBI Gene ID 561773). The targeting sequence was then cloned into the single-guide RNA expression vector pDR274 (Addgene plasmid #42250). The resulting construct was linearized by digestion with DraI and used as a template for single-guide RNA synthesis with the MAXIscript T7 kit. Cas9 mRNA was synthesized using the mMESSAGE T7 ULTRA kit, using a Cas9 expression plasmid (pMLM3613, Addgene plasmid #42251) linearized with PmeI as template. In order to induce the desired mutation, 26 pg single-guide RNA and 600 pg Cas9 mRNA were injected simultaneously into zebrafish embryos in the one-cell stage. The development of the injected embryos was observed, and normally developed embryos were analysed for mutations at the target site using T7 Endonuclease I assay and high-resolution melt curve analysis PCR (HRM-PCR, primers 5'-CGTACGTCCTGACGGGTG and 5'-ACGCGGTGCACAACATATAATC). The target locus of potential founders was cloned into the pGEM®-T easy vector, as described in chapter 4.9.

Three mutations were successfully identified. Out of these, a line with a 5 nucleotide deletion was chosen. This mutation results in a frameshift mutation and nonsense protein primary sequence after amino acid 133 and a premature stop codon at amino acid 312. The nonsense mutation causes a loss of 5 out of 7 transmembrane domains, the domain responsible for constitutive activity of *hrh3* and the intracellular C-terminal domain. For a more detailed comparison of the sequences, please refer to the original publication (III).

The fish were genotyped using the same HRM-PCR assay as described above. All comparisons between genotypes were performed using sibling fish.

# 4.16 Microscopy and imaging (I-III)

Light microscopy samples were analysed and imaged using a Leica DM IRB inverse bright-field microscope with an attached digital camera (Leica, Wetzlar, Germany). A whole-mount sample was imaged at several focal planes and a multifocus image was constructed using the Leica Application suite. Anatomical regions were identified according to Mueller and Wulliman <sup>294</sup>.

Fluorophore labelled samples were imaged using a Leica SP2 AOBS confocal microscope equipped with a 488 nm argon laser, a 561 nm diode laser and a 633 nm

helium/neon laser. Fluorophore emission ranges were set according to the technical details provided by the fluorophore manufacturer. They are described in more detail in the original publications. Cross-talk between channels was excluded by sequential scanning. For visualizing the entire brain, a HC PL APO 20x/0.70 CS objective was used. Higher magnification images for colocalization analysis were taken using HC PL APO 40x/0.75 CS and HCX PL APO CS 63x/1.3 GLYC objectives.

Cell counting was performed manually from image stacks obtained by confocal microscopy using Fiji software, with the counter blinded to the sample type <sup>295</sup>. Colocalization was determined from single optical sections.

# 4.17 Statistical analyses (I-III)

For all analyses, n was defined as an independent experimental unit. Analyses were in general conducted using 1-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), followed by Tukey's post hoc test. The non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test and Dunn's post hoc test were used in cases where the variances were significantly different between groups, as determined by Bartlett's test or the Brown-Forsythe test. In study I, the behavioural data was transformed with the function y=lg(y), in order to make the distribution normal and allow for the use of parametric tests. Values of 0 were substituted with  $10^{-4}$  in order to allow for the logarithm function to be used.

Behavioural data analysed in time bins was analysed using 2-way repeated measures ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test (except in study I, where the Bonferroni post hoc test was used instead, as Tukey's test was not available in the software at that time).

The level of significance for all tests mentioned above was set at p < 0.05. All analyses were conducted in Graph Pad Prism version 5 (Study I) or 7 (Studies II–III) (Graph Pad Software, San Diego, CA, USA).

# 5. Results

# 5.1 Acute ethanol affects locomotion in a biphasic, dose-dependent manner (I)

Doses of 0.75% and 1.50% ethanol rapidly increased the locomotor activity of 7 dpf zebrafish larvae during the first 10 min following immersion in the treatment solution (Study I, Fig. 1a). This effect was significant for the 1.50% group (F(3,213) = 8.304 p < 0.0001). Interestingly, larvae treated with 3.00% ethanol seemed to have an equal swimming activity as controls. This was explained by a biphasic effect of 3.00% ethanol – analysis of locomotor activity in 1 min bins revealed that while the 3.00% groups initially showed a similar increase in locomotion as the 1.50% group, locomotor activity declined rapidly during the trial, and the 3.00% group showed significantly decreased locomotor activity in comparison to the control group during the last 5 min of the trial (treatment effect F(3,213) = 5.865 p = 0.0007; time effect F(9,1917) = 89.02 p < 0.0001; Study I, Fig. 1e). This result suggests that higher doses of ethanol lead to sedation in zebrafish larvae.

When analysing parameters describing the movement path of the larvae, we observed a significant increase in the mean angular velocity of larvae in the 1.50% group, in comparison to controls ( $F(3,213) = 16.18 \ p < 0.0001$ ; Study I, Fig. 1c). We saw no biologically relevant changes in mean turn angle or meander, which implies that the increased angular velocity in the 1.50% group is due to a higher amount of turning behaviour rather than an increased magnitude of individual turns.

# 5.2 Transcripts of enzymes synthesizing dopamine and histamine are rapidly upregulated by ethanol (I)

After a 10 min ethanol treatment, mRNA transcripts of both rate-limiting enzymes of dopamine synthesis, *th1* and *th2*, were upregulated in a dose-dependent fashion, with the 3.00% group showing a significant increase of both transcripts (*th1*:  $F(3,17) = 3.439 \ p = 0.0405$ ; *th2*:  $F(3,17) = 8.489 \ p = 0.0011$ ; Study I, Fig. 2). A similar dose-dependent increase was also observed for the histamine synthesizing enzyme *hdc* ( $F(3,17) = 5.515 \ p = 0.0079$ ).

# **5.3** Ethanol transiently decreases dopamine levels with no effect on histamine levels (I)

A 10 min treatment with 3.00% ethanol significantly reduced dopamine levels by approximately 30% in zebrafish larvae (F(3,24) = 6.174 p = 0.0029; Study I, Fig. 7). The 1.50% group showed a similar decrease trend, while dopamine levels were unaltered in the 0.75% group. No significant differences were observed in the

concentrations of noradrenaline or the dopamine metabolites DOPAC and HVA across groups, although HVA levels appeared slightly lower in the ethanol-treated groups. As transcripts of th1 and th2 were upregulated at this same point in time, we hypothesized that this upregulation might reflect a compensatory response to the loss of dopamine. Thus, we analysed dopamine levels after a longer, 30 min treatment. At this point in time, no differences in dopamine levels were observed across groups.

As for histamine levels, we found no significant change in any of the groups after a 10 min treatment, although the histamine levels were slightly lowered in the 1.50% and 3.00% groups.

# 5.4 Unaltered morphology of histaminergic and dopaminergic networks after ethanol treatment (I)

In order to investigate if the transcriptional changes reflected global or local changes in the dopaminergic and histaminergic systems, we analysed the distribution of *th1*, *th2*, and *hdc* mRNA in the brains of zebrafish larvae after a 10 min ethanol treatment. The expression patterns were unaltered between groups, suggesting that the transcriptional changes occurred in the same cells that express the mRNA species analysed under normal conditions. Th1- and histamine immunohistochemistry also showed unaltered cell population sizes, fibre projections and cellular morphology, supporting these conclusions (Study I, Fig. 3–4). As histological changes might become apparent on a longer time scale than molecular ones, we performed the same analyses using larvae treated with 1.50% ethanol for 30 min (Study I, Fig. 4 and 6). However, the longer treatment also showed no changes in the histaminergic and dopaminergic networks.

### 5.5 Reserpine alters behavioural responses to sudden darkness (II)

During normal light conditions, larvae treated with reserpine (both the 20 min and 24 h group) were hypoactive in comparison to controls (Study II, Fig. 2). The hypoactivity was more pronounced in the group treated for 24 h. This effect was long-lasting and observed at both 24 h and 72 h after administration of reserpine (H(2) = 23.9 p < 0.0001 and F(2,141) = 22.07 p < 0.0001, respectively). The maximum distance moved per bout of motor activity was unaltered or slightly increased in the reserpine-treated groups, suggesting that the neuromuscular pathways responsible for movement were intact.

Zebrafish larvae increase their locomotion in response to sudden darkness in two phases <sup>251</sup>. First, the larvae show a dark-induced flash response, a spike of locomotor activity during the first 500 ms of darkness. A 24 h reserpine treatment abolished the dark-flash response almost completely both at 24 h and 72 h after administration of reserpine, in comparison to controls (Tukey's p < 0.0001 for all points in time, except in 3a where p = 0.0108; Study II, Fig. 3). The 20 min treated larvae showed

significantly decreased dark-flash responsiveness only at 72 h after administration of reserpine (Study II, Fig. 3d–f; Tukey's p < 0.0001 except in 3d where p = 0.0339). The dark-flash response is of particular interest with regard to the study of the histaminergic system, as previous studies have demonstrated that decreased histamine levels inhibit this response <sup>133,296</sup>.

After the dark-flash response, zebrafish larvae show increased locomotor activity during the first several minutes following sudden onset of darkness, through a poorly understood neural mechanism <sup>251</sup>. When analysing locomotor activity during 2 min periods of alternating light and darkness, we found that this response was significantly aggravated in both reserpine-treated groups 24 h after administration of reserpine (interaction effect  $F(22,1551) = 24.91 \ p < 0.0001$ ; Study II, Fig. 2). When returning to light conditions, the reserpine treated larvae rapidly returned to baseline activity, being hypoactive in comparison to controls. At 72 h after administration of reserpine, both reserpine-treated and control larvae showed similar levels of locomotor activity.

### 5.6 Neural histamine is depleted by reserpine (II)

Immunohistochemical analysis revealed that histamine immunoreactivity in the brains of larvae was strongly decreased in both reserpine-treated groups at 72 h after administration of reserpine (Study II, Fig. 4). Importantly, immunoreactivity was almost completely absent in the fibre projections of the histaminergic neurons, suggesting that histamine was absent especially from the nerve terminals. The reserpine-treated larvae also showed a significantly decreased number of histamine immunoreactive neurons both at 24 h and 72 h after administration of reserpine, with a similar 40% decrease observed in both the 20 min and 24 h treated groups (F(2,35) = 13.9 p < 0.0001 and F(2,43) = 26.34 p < 0.0001, respectively; Study II, Fig. 4). Although some neurons retained immunoreactivity in the soma, the projections of these cells did not show any detectable immunoreactivity.

In order to verify that the decrease in histamine immunoreactive neurons was not due to reserpine toxicity, we analyzed the number of *hdc* mRNA positive neurons in the treated brains and found this to be the same as in controls. Thus, we concluded that the decrease in immunoreactivity reflects a decrease in histamine levels in the otherwise intact histamine neurons.

As some of the histaminergic neurons retained immunoreactivity, we investigated whether the neurons were expressing different vesicular transporters. However, we saw that almost all *hdc*-positive neurons were also positive for *vmat2* (Study II, Fig. 5). Additionally, we saw no expression of *vmat1* mRNA in any region of the brain. This strongly suggests that *vmat2* acts as the main vesicular transporter in all *hdc*-positive neurons, and the uneven depletion of histamine after reserpine treatment is due to a mechanism other than the presence of another transporter.

#### 5.7 Depletion upregulates synthesis of monoamines but not histamine (II)

As expected from studies in other vertebrates, reserpine strongly diminished levels of dopamine, noradrenaline and serotonin in the zebrafish (Study II, Fig. 7). The magnitude of the decrease was similar at both 24 h and 72 h after administration of reserpine. Dopamine (24h treatment: H(2) = 8.28 p = 0.0062; 72h treatment: H(2) = 9.42 p = 0.0024) and noradrenaline levels (24h treatment: H(2) = 10.22 p = 0.0006) were most sensitive to reserpine treatment, with both 20 min and 24 h treatments resulting in a 80–90% decrease of both transmitters. Serotonin levels were significantly decrease that was not significant (H(2) = 10.21 p = 0.0007 and H(2) = 6.86 p = 0.0236 for each point in time, rescpetively). Levels of histamine showed a similar sensitivity to reserpine as serotonin, with a significant 70–80% decrease observed only for the 24 h group at both points in time (H(2) = 8.271 p = 0.0065 and H(2) = 12.5 p < 0.0001, respectively).

In study I, decreased levels of dopamine were associated with increased th1 and th2transcripts, suggesting that depletion of dopamine upregulates this synthesis. Thus, we investigated whether reserpine-induced depletion of histamine and monoamines upregulated their synthesis by measuring relevant mRNA species by qPCR at 72 h after administration of reservine (Study II, Fig. 6). We found that th 1 (F(2,11) = 9.F(2,11) = 9.515 p = 0.0040 and *tph1a* (F(2,11) = 4.552 p = 0.0363) were upregulated in the reserpine-treated groups, while *th2* and *tph2* were not, suggesting that these transcripts are differentially regulated by the depletion of their end product. Interestingly, *dbh* was extremely strongly upregulated, showing a 300% increase in the 24 h treated group (F(2,11) = 29.98 p < 0.0001) and an increase trend in the 20 min treated group. In contrast to the other amines, histamine synthesis was not upregulated, showing an unchanged expression of *hdc* in the reserpine-treated groups. We also investigated if the monoamine reuptake mechanisms were upregulated. Only the noradrenaline transporter *net* was upregulated in the reserpine-treated groups (F(2,11))  $= 8.178 \ p = 0.0067$ ), while the serotonin and dopamine transporters showed a similar level of expression as controls. We also saw no change in the expression of *vmat2*. As reserpine inhibits *vmat2* irreversibly, this might in part explain why the effects of reserpine are extremely long lasting.

# **5.8** Optimized fluorescent *in situ* hybridization protocol for detection of low-abundance mRNA species (II–III, development of protocol unpublished)

Although many protocols for fluorescent *in situ* hybridization are available for the zebrafish, many of these have mainly been tested with genes that are expressed at a relatively high level, such as transcription factors that show abundant expression during development. However, transcripts with a lower level of expression, such as genes responsible for neurotransmitter synthesis and neurotransmitter receptors, are

more difficult to visualize, particularly when detecting two or more transcripts. Using the protocol described by Lauter *et al.* as a starting point, we performed several optimizations to develop a protocol that could be used to reliably detect transcripts with lower levels of expression. Firstly, we discovered that the tyramide signal amplification reaction produced less background when using a higher dilution of the peroxidase-conjugated antibody than recommended by the manufacturer (1:2000 instead of 1:500).

Secondly, we tested a large repertoire of different tyramide reagents (listed in chapter 4.12). We found no better alternative for the red wavelength channel than the TAMRA conjugate described by Lauter *et al*. In the far-red channel, however, we found that the DY-647P1 tyramide worked much better than the previously described DyLight 633 tyramide, showing a much clearer signal (Figure 2). In the green channel, the Atto488 tyramide slightly outperformed the previously described FAM tyramide, showing better bleach resistance. Although both the Atto488 and DY-647P1 fluorophores have been available for some time, they had not been previously used successfully for whole-mount *in situ* hybridization.

Whole-mount *in situ* hybridization in zebrafish has traditionally included a proteinase K treatment in order to permeabilize the tissue to the riboprobe. We tested an alternative permeabilization method described by King and Newmark for the planarian *S. mediterrania*, where the samples are permeabilized by boiling them in citrate buffer <sup>292</sup>. Surprisingly, we found that this heat-induced antigen retrieval method resulted in a greatly improved signal compared to the proteinase K treatment, allowing improved visualization of less abundant transcripts (Figure 3). We also found that, in accordance with King and Newmark, inactivating the first peroxidase-conjugated antibody using 100 mM NaN<sub>3</sub> instead of acidic glycine resulted in more consistent detection of the second riboprobe, although this improvement was less dramatic. We attempted replacement of the Tween-20 detergent with Triton X-100, as King and Newmark had discovered that this resulted in better detection. However, we noted that a change of detergent mostly increased background staining.

Using these optimizations, we were able to reliably colocalize specific neural markers, as can be seen from our results in studies II and III.



**Figure 2.** Comparisons between different far-red tyramides. Note how the *hrh3* signal in the dorsal telencephalon (outlined area) is far clearer when using the DY-647P1 tyramide in comparison to the DyLight 633 (DL633) tyramide. We also tested long-wavelength Atto tyramides, but these showed a high background staining.



**Figure 3.** Comparison between heat-induced antigen recovery in citrate buffer (method 2) and proteinase K treatment (method 1) for permeabilization. Note the stronger signal and more clearly identifiable cellular structures obtained by method 2.

# 5.9 Expression of hrh3 in the zebrafish brain (III)

*hrh3* expression in the zebrafish has previously been poorly characterized, with previous reports showing moderate expression in the dorsal telencephalon <sup>133</sup>. We discovered that the expression of *hrh3* was much more widespread in the brain (Study III, Fig. 1). The strongest expression was consistently observed in the dorsal telencephalon (Study III, Fig. 1). However, we also saw prominent expression in the optic tectum, thalamic region and hypothalamus (Study III, Fig. 1). The hypothalamic expression was localized to the posterior hypothalamus, the region containing the

histaminergic neurons, and two bilaterally located populations in the anterior hypothalamus.

During development, prominent *hrh3* expression was firstly detected at 3 dpf (Study III, Fig. 1A–C). At this stage, prominent expression was seen in the pallium of the dorsal telencephalon, with weaker expression also seen in the posterior hypothalamus and the thalamic region. At 5 dpf, the anterior hypothalamic populations were detectable (Study III, Fig. 1F), and expression in the optic tectum became prominent at 14 dpf (Study III, Fig. 1G–H). 30 dpf brains showed expression in the same regions as 14 dpf brains (Study III, Fig. 1J–M).

Although *hrh3* expression has been characterized in several species, no direct histological evidence of the transmitter phenotype of neurons expressing *hrh3* is available. Using our optimized fluorescent *in situ* hybridization protocol, we were able to identify the *hrh3*-positive cells of the pallium to be mostly glutamatergic, expressing the vesicular glutamate transporter *vglut2.2* (Study III, Fig. 2A–C). The dorsal pallium also contains individual *gad2* mRNA positive GABAergic neurons <sup>297</sup>. Interestingly, these neurons showed no *hrh3* expression (Study III, Fig. 2D–F). Coexpression between *hrh3* and *gad2* was, however, seen in individual neurons in the ventral areas of the pallium (Study III, Fig. 2G–I). Our results thus indicate that the majority of the target neurons of *hrh3* in the dorsal telencephalon are glutamatergic. We were further able to demonstrate that the zebrafish histaminergic neurons express *hrh3*, consistent with observations in other species (Study III, Fig. 2J–L). Due to the lower sensitivity of the fluorescent *in situ* protocol, we were unable to reliably identify the neurotransmitter phenotype of *hrh3*-expressing cells in other brain regions.

### 5.10 hrh3 knockout larvae adapt faster to darkness (III)

Using the CRISPR/Cas9 method, we successfully generated a *hrh3* knockout strain of zebrafish (see chapter 4.15 and Study III, Fig. 3 for details). Larvae lacking *hrh3* displayed baseline-like locomotor activity at 5 dpf. Additionally, we saw no differences in parameters describing the swimming path of the larvae, such as meander and angular velocity. This indicates that the circuitry controlling basal movement coordination was intact in *hrh3* knockout larvae (Study III, Fig. 4C–D, F–G). The *hrh3* knockout larvae also show a normal dark-flash response and showed a similar increase in locomotor activity upon sudden darkness as wild type and heterozygous siblings (Study III, Fig. 4A–B). However, we discovered that *hrh3* larvae remained hyperactive for a shorter time after onset of sudden darkness, returning significantly faster toward baseline locomotor activity than wild type siblings (genotype effect F(2,91) = 3,259 p = 0.0430; Study III, Fig 4A). These results suggest that *hrh3* can regulate adaptation of motor responses to sudden changes in the environment.

We also analysed basic locomotion behaviour of adult zebrafish. We found that adult *hrh3* knockout fish were significantly hypoactive in comparison to wild type siblings  $(F(2,27) = 4.23 \ p = 0.0252;$  Study III, Fig. 5A). We saw no differences in swimming-

path parameters such as meander (Study III, Fig. 5B). A previous study found that depletion of histamine in adult zebrafish decreased the time spent in proximity to the edge of the tank, a characteristic behaviour known as thigmotaxis  $^{247}$ . We found that the time spent close to the edge of the tank was unaltered between *hrh3* knockout fish and wild type siblings, suggesting that histamine does not regulate thigmotaxis through *hrh3* (Study III, Fig 5C).

As recent studies in rodents have implicated *hrh3* in the regulation of social behaviour, we also analysed several metrics of social behaviour. We found that *hrh3* knockout and wild type fish show a similar correlation between the leadership score of an individual and the probability of said individual to be swimming in front (Study III, Fig. 5D–F). Additionally, we have seen no differences in shoaling preference (t(18.99) = 1.584 p = 0.1298) and aggressive behaviour (F(2,41) = 0.5261 p = 0.5948) between *hrh3* knockout and wild type fish (Puttonen *et al*, unpublished results, data not shown). This suggests that knockout of *hrh3* does not significantly affect social behaviour of the zebrafish.

### 5.11 Lower levels of serotonin and dopamine in *hrh3* knockout larvae (III)

A multitude of previous studies have shown that *hrh3* regulates aminergic neurotransmission, as reviewed in chapter 2.1.5.4. However, these systems have not been previously described in *hrh3* knockout animal models. We addressed this question using several methodological approaches. First, we analysed the expression of key genes in monoaminergic neurotransmission in all three genotypes using quantitative PCR. This included enzymes of monoamine synthesis (*th1*, *th2*, *dbh*, *tph1a*, *tph2*, *ddc*) and high-affinity monoamine transporters (*dat*, *serta*, *sertb*, *net*, *vmat2*). Additionally, we analysed the expression of *hdc* and the dopamine receptors (*drd1*, *drd2a*, *drd2b*, *drd3*, *drd4b*). We noted, however, that the expression of the genes mentioned above was completely unaffected by the *hrh3* genotype.

Next, we analysed the levels of monoamine transmitters by HPLC. We found that both dopamine and serotonin levels were significantly decreased in *hrh3* knockout larvae (H(2) = 8.06 p = 0.0092 and F(2,13) = 3.948 p = 0.0457, respectively; Study III, Fig. 6A, D). Levels of noradrenaline, adrenaline and the catecholamine and serotonin metabolites were not significantly altered across groups (Study III, Fig. 6B–C, E–G).

In order to investigate whether the decreased transmitter levels resulted from structurally altered dopaminergic and serotonergic networks, we visualized these systems using Th1 and serotonin immunohistochemistry. We found that all Th1 and serotonin populations were identifiable in the brains of both *hrh3* knockout and wild type larvae, and appeared to be of similar size (Study III, Fig. 7). The dopaminergic and serotonergic fibre projections also appeared intact. These results suggest that the decreased levels of serotonin and dopamine reflect functional changes in otherwise intact networks, and that *hrh3* knockout does not significantly alter the development of these transmitter networks.

# 6. Discussion

# 6.1 Dopaminergic and histaminergic mechanisms in acute effects of ethanol (I)

In this thesis, we discovered that a short, 10 min treatment with acute ethanol upregulated expression of rate-limiting genes in dopamine and histamine synthesis, th1, th2 and hdc. Dopaminergic mechanisms underlying acute effects of ethanol have been readily studied previously, and recently the histaminergic system has also attracted more attention in this field. However, previous studies have mainly focused on the neurochemical dynamics of these systems, with the molecular mechanisms having received considerably less attention.

A few rodent studies have reported increased Th mRNA levels in the VTA following chronic ethanol treatment setups  $^{298,299}$ . Our results suggest that upregulation of *th* occurs rapidly after ethanol exposure, even in animals that have not previously encountered the substance. This is supported by the only mammalian study on the subject, where increased Th expression was observed in rats 1 h after administration of a single dose of ethanol <sup>300</sup>. We already saw a significant increase after a 10 min treatment, suggesting an even more rapid transcriptional response than reported previously. Additionally, we found the magnitude of this upregulation to be dosedependent. Our *in situ* hybridization and immunohistochemistry results suggest that the transcriptional changes were not confined to any specific cell population, suggesting that the dopaminergic network was diffusely affected. This is also supported by the fact that both th isoforms were upregulated, as these isoforms are partly expressed in different brain regions – for instance, th2 is absent in the proposed zebrafish functional homolog of the mammalian mesencephalic dopaminergic groups <sup>232,234</sup>. Although we analysed only transcript levels in this study, a later report proved that Th protein was increased by acute ethanol, supporting our results <sup>301</sup>.

We reported for the first time that acute ethanol upregulated *hdc*, following a similar dose-dependency as the upregulation of the *th* isoforms. In rats, increased histamine levels and histidine decarboxylase activity in the hypothalamus were reported in an early study <sup>173</sup>. However, since the hypothalamus of rats also contains some mast cells, it was unclear whether these changes reflected alterations in mast cells or in neurons. In the zebrafish, however, *hdc* has been found solely in neurons <sup>20</sup>. Thus, we present the first evidence of the upregulation of neuronal histamine synthesis after acute ethanol. As this upregulation is extremely rapid, it suggests that the histaminergic network itself is acutely modulated by ethanol and that the histaminergic system is not merely modulated by the other neurotransmitter systems. This is supported by the observation that histamine seems to be necessary for ethanol-induced hyperactivity in mice <sup>169</sup>. In mice, acute ethanol does not alter histamine release in the nucleus accumbens, while dopamine release is increased in this region <sup>171</sup>. However, ethanol-related histaminergic dynamics in other brain regions has yet to be investigated.

Elevated brain histamine levels have been associated with alcohol preference in rats, and a single study has found increased levels of histamine in certain types of human alcoholics  $^{302}$ . Thus, the role of neural *hdc* in the pathophysiology of alcoholism should be further studied.

The mechanism underlying the upregulation of histamine and dopamine synthesis is still unclear. We noted that dopamine levels in zebrafish larvae were decreased after a 10 min ethanol treatment with the 1.50% and 3.00% doses. Ethanol is known to increase dopamine in other animals, and this depletion could be caused by a rapid increase in dopamine release. As the *th* isoforms were upregulated at this time, this would suggest a compensatory upregulation of synthesis in response to rapid dopamine depletion. This is supported by our observation that dopamine levels were equal across groups at 30 min after ethanol treatment. Additionally, this mechanism would explain the discrepancy between our results and previous studies in zebrafish that have consistently reported increased levels of dopamine following an acute dose of ethanol, as these studies have measured dopamine levels after a longer, 1 h treatment <sup>303,304</sup>. The mechanism mediating the increase in transcription remains to be elucidated. A recent study showed that ethanol increases Th transcription in cultured midbrain dopaminergic neurons through the cAMP/PKA and MAPK/Erk kinase pathways <sup>305</sup>. As the cAMP/PKA pathway is known to be an important downstream target of ethanol, it is also possible that th transcription is activated directly by ethanol, independently of dopamine depletion <sup>306,307</sup>. It should, however, be noted that this effect was demonstrated by exposing the cells to a very high, 100 mM dose of ethanol, which cannot be considered physiological in mammals. Histamine levels were not significantly altered, and thus it seems unlikely that increased *hdc* transcription would be triggered by a compensatory mechanism. As the cAMP/PKA pathway stimulates histamine synthesis, the transcriptional effects of ethanol on hdc may also be related to this mechanism, although this needs to be studied further <sup>25</sup>.

As reported in previous studies, acute ethanol treatment increased locomotor activity of the larval zebrafish <sup>277,278</sup>. We additionally demonstrated that higher ethanol doses had a biphasic effect on locomotion, showing an initial hyperactivity, which was rapidly followed by hypoactivity, similar to results in rodents <sup>308</sup>. As these locomotor changes were associated with robust upregulation of both the dopaminergic and histaminergic systems, it suggests that these networks are involved in the locomotor response. Earlier studies have shown that both of these networks are relevant in the regulation of zebrafish locomotor activity. Both inhibition of *hdc* translation and pharmacological antagonism of histamine receptor signalling decreases locomotion of larval zebrafish <sup>133,226</sup>. As in mammals, amphetamine-induced dopamine release causes hyperactivity, and inhibition of Drd2 and tyrosine hydroxylase phosphorylation reduces alcohol-induced hyperactivity in the zebrafish <sup>310,311</sup>. DRD2 inhibition also has a similar effect in mice, suggesting that the pathways mediating ethanol-induced hyperactivity are at least partially conserved <sup>312</sup>. Thus, the dopaminergic mechanisms

may be more relevant to the observed locomotor response. The findings discussed here are summarized in Figure 4.



**Figure 4.** Summary of currently known effects of acute ethanol on the histaminergic and dopaminergic systems in the zebrafish. Discoveries from Study I are indicated by a light-grey background.

# 6.2 New aspects of the regulation of amine neurotransmitter synthesis (I–III)

One of the aims of this study was to identify factors regulating the expression of neural *hdc*. In addition to ethanol treatment, we examined the effect of depletion of neural histamine by reserpine and knockout of the *hrh3* autoreceptor from the histaminergic neurons. This question is of relevance, as the alterations in brain histamine levels have been described in many different brain disorders, and transcriptional regulation of *hdc* is still poorly understood  $5^{8}$ .

Although reserpine-treated larvae showed decreased histamine levels, the expression of *hdc* was unaltered. Previous studies have shown that reserpine treatment in mice increases the activity of HDC, but the mechanism behind this has not been studied <sup>35</sup>. Our results suggest that the underlying mechanism is likely to be related to post-translational modification of HDC, rather than increased transcription. This is the case in the periodic regulation of HDC activity in the mouse brain, where *Hdc* mRNA levels remain stable but enzyme activities show diurnal fluctuation <sup>313</sup>.

In contrast to the histaminergic system, reserpine treatment upregulated genes involved in the synthesis of other amine neurotransmitters. Interestingly, we only saw an increase in the expression of th1, while th2 remained unchanged. Previous studies in reserpinized rodents have also suggested that different dopaminergic populations react differently to dopamine depletion <sup>314,315</sup>. For instance, expression in locus coeruleus is increased, while expression in the substantia nigra is not. The zebrafish th1 is expressed in the noradrenergic locus coeruleus and in the majority of the dopaminergic populations of the brain <sup>232</sup>. Additionally, we found that the expression of *dbh* was greatly upregulated, suggesting that noradrenaline depletion results in a strong compensatory transcriptional response. Our results also suggest that it is unlikely that the increase in th1 and th2 mRNA expression following an acute dose of ethanol can be merely explained as a compensatory response to dopamine depletion, as the dopamine depletion observed after acute ethanol was much smaller in magnitude but still caused a much larger transcriptional response. Also, reserpine-induced dopamine depletion did not affect th2, while ethanol also upregulated the th2 transcript.

We also observed a similar effect in serotonin synthesis – tphla was upregulated, whereas tph2 was not. This is the first study to show differential upregulation of tphmRNA upon serotonin depletion in any species. This suggests that different serotonin populations show different transcriptional responses to serotonin depletion, as in the case of dopamine. This may have importance in understanding functional differences among serotonergic neurons, as recent studies have identified distinct subtypes of serotonergic neurons <sup>316</sup>.

In order to further understand transcriptional mechanisms in relation to monoamine depletion, we also analysed expression of the high-affinity monoamine transporters. We found, however, that only the noradrenaline transporter *net* was upregulated, whereas the serotonin and dopamine transporters were not. Together with the fact that *dbh* showed stronger upregulation than other rate-limiting enzymes, this suggests that noradrenaline depletion induces stronger compensatory transcriptional mechanisms than depletion of the other monoamines. This might reflect the importance of maintaining sufficient levels of noradrenaline, as knockout of noradrenaline synthesis is fatal in mice <sup>317</sup>.

We additionally investigated whether knockout of *hrh3*, the autoreceptor of histaminergic neurons, affected *hdc* transcription. However, *hrh3* knockout zebrafish larvae showed normal expression of all enzymes of monoamine synthesis and all monoamine transporters, suggesting that removal of *hrh3* does not affect monoamine synthesis at a transcriptional level.

Taken together, we discovered that depletion of histamine does not induce compensatory changes in mRNA expression, while depletion of other aminergic neurotransmitters resulted in the upregulation of at least one synthesizing enzyme. These findings are summarized in Figure 5. Additionally, we described novel differences in the regulation of *th* and *tph* isoforms in the zebrafish, which is relevant for further studies into the characteristics of these enzymes.

# VMAT2 inhibition by reserpine

	▼	▼	•	
	Histamine	Dopamine	Noradrenaline	Serotonin
Transmitter levels	¥	₩	₩	¥
Transcript of rate-limiting enzyme	+	<b>↑</b> (th1)	<b>↑↑</b>	<b>↑</b> (tph1a)
Transcript of reuptake transporter	Data not available	*	Ť	+

**Figure 5.** Overview of changes in monoamine levels and related transcripts after reserpine treatment. Double arrows indicate a larger magnitude change. The histaminergic system is the only system not to show any transcriptional changes, while the strongest transcriptional changes occurred in the noradrenergic system.

# 6.3 The role of VMAT2 in histamine storage (II)

Although histamine transport by *vmat2* has been described previously, its relevance to histamine neurons had not been previously characterized <sup>31</sup>. We discovered that inhibition of *vmat2* by reserpine treatment depleted almost all histamine immunoreactivity in axonal processes of these neurons. This implies that histamine was lacking especially in the axon terminals and in its site of action. Additionally, immunoreactivity in cell bodies was clearly decreased, although a subset of the neurons seemed to retain immunoreactivity. The decrease in histamine was verified independently by HPLC. Thus, we provide compelling evidence of the *vmat2* dependence of histaminergic neurotransmission.

What could then explain the discrepancy in previous studies? Previous studies have relied on the use of HPLC measurements, which are unable to differentiate between neural and extraneural histamine <sup>33-36</sup>. Maldonado and Maeyama tried to account for this by using rats lacking mast cells, and discovered that reserpine decreased histamine levels significantly only in rats with mast cells, which partially led the authors to

suggest that the neural pool of histamine would be relatively resistant to reserpine <sup>35</sup>. However, if mast cell histamine constituted a significant amount of the histamine in the brain, basal histamine levels should be altered between the strains used, although the authors speculated that the lack of mast cell histamine might upregulate neural histamine synthesis by a poorly understood mechanism. Also, histamine synthesis is not restricted only to neurons and mast cells; for instance, neutrophils have recently been shown to produce histamine <sup>318</sup>. Although we observed that histamine levels were less sensitive to reserpine treatment than catecholamine levels, our immunohistochemical results clearly demonstrate that the neural pool of histamine was significantly affected by reserpine. The differences between our studies could theoretically be related to differences in histamine metabolism between the zebrafish and mammals, but at least zebrafish *mao* shows a similar lack of histamine metabolizing activity as its mammalian counterparts <sup>319</sup>. We therefore find it unlikely that the metabolism of histamine would be dramatically different in the zebrafish.

One intriguing discovery was the retained immunoreactivity in a subset of histamine neuron soma. We did not discover the mechanism behind this. One possibility would be that a subset of histaminergic neurons expresses a different monoamine transporter. However, we concluded this to be unlikely, as virtually all *hdc* mRNA positive neurons in the zebrafish brain expressed *vmat2*, and we saw no expression of the other major monoamine transporter, *vmat1* in the brain. This is consistent with observations in other species, showing that *vmat1* is not significantly expressed in the brain <sup>320</sup>. Thus, the reason for this observed heterogeneity remains to be elucidated. However, it is known that histaminergic neurons display heterogeneity in other properties as well. For instance, histamine neurons display differences in cotransmitter profiles and receptor expression <sup>286,321</sup>. Thus, it is possible that differences in histamine synthesis or metabolism between individual histaminergic neurons could explain the uneven loss of histamine immunoreactivity, but this warrants further study.

Recent reports have associated polymorphisms in the VMAT2 gene with the prevalence of several conditions, such as Parkinson's disease, alcoholism, psychotic disorders and cognitive impairment after traumatic brain injury <sup>322-326</sup>. As we have demonstrated conclusively the importance of VMAT2 in neural histamine storage, altered function of the histaminergic system should also be considered as a potential contributor to pathological processes involving VMAT2 polymorphisms. The relevance of altered VMAT2 expression to histaminergic neurotransmission should be further evaluated in different models, such as animals lacking or overexpressing VMAT2 in histamine neurons.

# 6.4 Histamine and other monoamines as regulators of responses to sudden changes in the environment (II–III)

The histaminergic system is known to be important in regulating the wakefulness of animals. For instance, periods of wakefulness in mice are correlated with histamine release, and HRH1 signalling has been shown to promote wakefulness <sup>327-329</sup>. Importantly, HRH1 antagonists that cross the blood-brain barrier have substantial sedative effects in humans <sup>330</sup>. In the zebrafish, histamine has been shown to regulate responsiveness to environmental cues. Burgess and Granato demonstrated that when illumination is suddenly turned off, zebrafish respond with an instantaneous burst of locomotor activity that lasts for approximately 500 ms<sup>251</sup>. As this response results in a 180° turn referred to as an O-bend, it has been suggested as having a navigational function, orienting the larvae back towards light upon suddenly entering a darker area <sup>251</sup>. The circuitry regulating the dark-flash response is still poorly understood. However, zebrafish with decreased neural histamine have an impaired dark-flash response. This effect has been shown both after inhibition of hdc translation by morpholinos and after inhibition of histamine synthesis by alpha-fluoromethylhistidine and also by inhibition of Hrh1 signalling <sup>133</sup>. Additionally, presenilin 1 knockout zebrafish have a deficiency of histaminergic neurons and an inconsistent dark-flash response at 5 dpf, with unaltered morphology of other aminergic networks <sup>296</sup>. Our observation of the lack of a dark-flash response in reserpine-treated animals might thus be explained by impaired histaminergic transmission, which further supports our conclusion that histamine transmission is *vmat2* dependent. We also observed that the dark-flash response was more strongly impaired in larvae receiving a longer reserpine treatment. This also supports the importance of histamine in this response, as only the longer reserpine treatment significantly reduced histamine levels by HPLC. As hrhl and hrh3 are expressed partially in the same area of the dorsal telencephalon, we also investigated the dark-flash response of hrh3 knockout zebrafish larvae. This was unaltered, suggesting that the dark-flash response is not dependent on hrh3.

A recent study described that *hdc* knockout zebrafish that completely lack histamine have an intact dark-flash response, leading the authors to suggest that the previously observed effect of impaired histaminergic transmission might be due to off-target effects of the used methods <sup>248</sup>. It is true that morpholinos are notorious for off-target effects, and many – if not all – pharmacological substances also affect structures other than their intended target. However, the association between impaired histamine signalling and an impaired dark-flash response has been demonstrated with several methods – morpholino knockdown, three structurally different pharmacological compounds and a mutation impairing histamine neuron development <sup>133,296</sup>. It is unlikely that all these methods would have the same off-target effect. Hence, other explanations for the lack of dark-flash impairment in *hdc* knockout zebrafish should be considered. It is known that complete knockout of a gene by a loss of function mutation may cause a different phenotype than partial knockdown of the gene or translation inhibition, for instance by triggering compensatory mechanisms <sup>331</sup>. Further

studies, i.e. with inducible knockout models, should be conducted in order to conclusively settle the question of histamine as a regulator of the dark-flash response.

After the dark-flash response, zebrafish larvae show transiently increased locomotion during adaptation to darkness, which slowly declines to a lower level of activity than during light conditions <sup>251</sup>. This has been speculated as helping the animal move back into lighted environments <sup>251</sup>. The circuitry regulating this behaviour is not known. We discovered that depletion of amine neurotransmitters increased this hyperactivity. However, the exact aminergic network responsible remains to be determined. Histamine is unlikely to be involved, as histamine-depleted animals do not display a similar phenotype. Monoaminergic networks innervated the nucleus of the medial longitudinal fasciculus in the zebrafish midbrain, a region necessary for the control of swimming velocity, and monoamine depletion could thus affect the swimming speed of larvae<sup>332</sup>. The dopaminergic and serotonergic networks in particular also project extensively to many other regions regulating motor activity, such as the subpallium in the telencephalon (homologous to the mammalian basal ganglia) and the motor neurons in the spinal cord <sup>235,333</sup>. Thus, the regulation of locomotion by monoamines occurs on several different levels, and extensive studies will still be necessary to precisely dissect the mechanism by which monoamines regulate hyperactivity after sudden darkness. We were, however, able to contribute one additional piece to this puzzle, as we discovered that the adaptation of this hyperactivity was faster in hrh3 knockout larvae. This suggests that hrh3 can regulate adaptation to sudden changes in the environment.

The hyperactivity occurring after darkness has also been suggested as representing anxiety-like behaviour and stress caused by a sudden change in the environment <sup>334,335</sup>. Thus, the increased dark-induced hyperactivity observed in the reserpine-treated larvae could suggest increased anxiety-like behaviour. This would be consistent with previous observations in *vmat2* heterozygous fish, which show increased anxiety-like behaviour in a dark avoidance test  $^{336}$ . The observation that *hrh3* knockout larvae adapt faster to this stimulus could further be interpreted to suggest that hrh3 could be involved in the regulation of adaption to anxiogenic stimuli in the zebrafish. However, there was no change in thigmotaxis, the preference for the outer rim of a tank, in adult hrh3 knockout zebrafish (discussed in detail in chapter 6.5). As thigmotaxis is a more established measure of anxiety, it seems unlikely that the faster adaptation to darkness observed in larvae would represent altered anxiety. Also, hrh3 knockout larvae showed a wild type-like initial hyperactivity, with only the adaptation being altered. Anxiolytic treatments have been shown not to affect the habituation of zebrafish to the environment <sup>337</sup>. Thus, we find it unlikely that the faster adaptation to darkness is related to anxiety.

How, then, does *hrh3* regulate the circuitry relevant to adaptation to darkness? We saw very strong *hrh3* expression in the pallium of the zebrafish. This region contains the areas of the zebrafish brain that are functionally equivalent to the mammalian cortex, amygdala and hippocampus, which are important centers in the regulation of behaviour  $^{219}$ . We discovered that *hrh3* was expressed predominantly in glutamatergic neurons of

the pallium. In the zebrafish, neurons from the pallium send extensive projections to lower brain regions, and knockout of *hrh3* could alter the function of these neurons <sup>133</sup>. However, we also detected *hrh3* expression in the optic tectum of the zebrafish. This region is involved in the regulation of visually elicited motor responses, and it is thus also possible that *hrh3* alters the adaptation to darkness at this site as well <sup>249</sup>.

Regardless of how *hrh3* knockout alters adaptation to darkness, our results imply that *hrh3* regulates the glutamatergic component in the pallial projection neurons, but we do not know with certainty whether Hrh3 protein is localized postsynaptically in the cell bodies or presynaptically in the axon terminals. The HRH3 radioligand binding profile in the zebrafish brain does not show significant binding in the pallium, suggesting that a presynaptic location of HRH3 in the axon terminals of these neurons is more plausible <sup>338</sup>. Interestingly, *hrh1* is also prominently expressed in the pallium, and this area receives dense histaminergic innervation <sup>133</sup>. Thus, it is possible that histamine could modulate the pallial neurons bidirectionally – exciting them at the cell body and dendrites through *hrh1*, and inhibiting them at the axon terminal through *hrh3*. A diagram of this theoretical circuit is outlined in Figure 6. It would be relevant to study this potential mechanism further in mammals, as it could reveal a complex regulatory role of histamine in the function of cortical projection neurons. Although both *HRH1* and *HRH3* are expressed in the mammalian cortex, their precise location in the cortical circuits remains unknown <sup>67</sup>.



**Figure 6.** A hypothetical schematic of how histamine receptors could regulate glutamatergic neurons in the dorsal telencephalon. Ascending inputs from the hypothalamic histamine neurons (HA) synapse with the glutamatergic target neurons with Hrh1, which send projections to other brain areas. The axon terminals of the glutamatergic neurons express Hrh3, which regulates transmitter release at these terminals. Projections of neurons are based on earlier studies <sup>133</sup>.

### 6.5 The zebrafish hrh3 knockout phenotype (III)

Aside from the faster adaptation to darkness described in the previous chapter, *hrh3* knockout had a minimal effect on the behaviour of zebrafish. Adult *hrh3* knockout fish were hypoactive in comparison to controls, but otherwise displayed similar locomotor coordination. This is consistent with studies in mice <sup>154,231</sup>. However, larval zebrafish

displayed completely normal basal locomotion, suggesting a different role of *hrh3* in the locomotor activity of larval and adult zebrafish. This is in contrast to previous results showing that Hrh3 antagonists cause hypoactivity in larval zebrafish <sup>226</sup>. However, this study also reported a similar effect of Hrh3 agonists. Agonists and antagonists of a receptor are unlikely to have the same effect on the animal, and thus it is likely that these pharmacological effects are at least partially explained by nonspecific effects of the compounds. However, the exact binding profile and receptor affinity of these ligands in the zebrafish have not been properly characterized. Differences in HRH3 ligand affinities and effects between species have been previously described between the human and rat isoform of HRH3 <sup>339</sup>.

Previous studies have shown histamine and HRH3 to be involved in anxiogenic responses in mice, but this association has remained enigmatic, as described in chapter 2.3.5.2. Histamine has also been suggested as being involved in anxiety in the zebrafish. In adult zebrafish, depletion of histamine increases the time fish spend swimming in the center of the tank (and thus decreases thigmotaxis), which has been interpreted to suggest decreased anxiety-like behaviour <sup>133</sup>. An opposite phenotype is seen in *psen1* knockout fish, which, as adults, have an increased number of histaminergic neurons <sup>296</sup>. We did not find any differences in the place preference of *hrh3* knockout adult fish, suggesting that this response is not mediated by *hrh3*. In order to better understand the involvement of *hrh3* in anxiety, the behavioural response to different anxiogenic conditions and drugs should be evaluated in this model. Additionally, we investigated different metrics of social behaviour in adult *hrh3* knockouts, but found these to be similar to controls. Thus, although *hrh3* inhibitors may have beneficial effects on social behaviour in disease states such as autism <sup>281</sup>, it seems that it has a minimal role in regulating social behaviour in the normal brain.

Interestingly, we discovered that hrh3 knockout larvae had lower levels of dopamine and serotonin than wild type siblings. This effect was not due to an altered morphology of the dopaminergic or serotonergic networks or to altered transcription of enzymes of monoamine synthesis and transport, as all these measures were unchanged between genotypes. This is the first study to characterize monoaminergic systems in hrh3knockout animals in detail. Altered transmitter levels in otherwise intact networks suggest that the function of these networks is changed. The mechanism for this remains to be elucidated. However, altered levels of dopamine and serotonin could be of relevance in the observed faster adaptation to darkness. For instance, dopamine is an important regulator of locomotor circuits in the zebrafish, while serotonin regulates light-seeking behaviour in zebrafish larvae  $^{340-342}$ .

In conclusion, the zebrafish hrh3 mutant displays minimal phenotypes. However, the altered habituation to darkness and decreased dopamine and serotonin levels in hrh3 knockout zebrafish larvae motivate further studies using this model to better understand how hrh3 knockout affects the function of the brain. As the zebrafish larva is an exceptionally versatile model for *in vivo* imaging techniques, these could be employed to understand how the brain function is altered at the level of individual neurons  $^{261,263}$ .

#### 6.6 Evaluation of applied methodology (I-III)

The use of zebrafish larvae for these studies minimizes uncontrolled genetic and environmental variation between the animals and experimental groups. Larval zebrafish can easily be raised in standardized conditions on a Petri dish. In our mutant studies, all comparisons were made between siblings, removing the risk of maintaining separate homozygous lines that could have unidentified genetic variation acquired throughout the generations. Thus, the error arising from differences between subjects should be minimal. However, it should be noted that zebrafish strains display a larger genetic variability than inbred rodent strains, which is partially due to a relatively strong inbreeding depression in zebrafish <sup>343</sup>. Although one study has shown preliminary evidence that it might be possible to create inbred zebrafish strains in the future, these strains have vet to be firmly established in the zebrafish research community <sup>344,345</sup>. Therefore, regardless of the experimental setup, zebrafish studies have an inherently larger interindividual genetic variation than mice. It should also be noted that our studies were conducted using a wild type strain that is specific to our animal facility. However, this Turku strain has been used in many publications for over 20 years <sup>20,133,296,297,319,338,346</sup>

Although the need to pool larvae in order to obtain sufficient samples for qPCR and HPLC results in a need for a larger number of animals, this also increases the reliability of the sample, as the measured value will represent a mean of several individuals. However, the small size of the larvae makes it unfeasible to dissect brains from unfixed larvae, and thus, our results may partly be affected by changes in peripheral organs. As *vmat2* and *hrh3* in the zebrafish are both predominantly expressed in the brain, it is unlikely that genetic or pharmacological manipulation of these proteins would result in predominant changes in the peripheral organs of larvae <sup>237</sup>. Thus, the error introduced into the results by peripheral effects should be minimal.

Our fluorescent *in situ* hybridization protocol allowed for reliable demonstration of coexpression of transcripts, and should also be useful for this purpose in future studies. Of particular interest is the ability to detect transcripts of low abundance, such as GPCR mRNAs. However, as this method still shows less sensitivity than the chromogenic *in situ* hybridization protocol, some regions may be difficult to analyse reliably. In the case of *hrh3*, we were not able to properly evaluate the coexpression of *hrh3* with all relevant markers, such as genes responsible for monoamine synthesis. In our experience, the major obstacle is the significant loss of sensitivity when detecting the second riboprobe. Additionally, *in situ* hybridization is unable to provide information about where in the cell the protein synthesized from the mRNA species is expressed. This would be most properly evaluated by immunohistochemistry, although this method is unfortunately unavailable for many proteins of interest due to the lack of reliable antibodies that work with the zebrafish (although this issue is prominent in most other model organisms as well). The antibodies used in this dissertation have all been thoroughly characterized in previous publications.

As discussed when evaluating the discrepancy in results between comparable knockout, knockdown and pharmacological manipulations, knocking out a gene function completely might lead to compensatory mechanisms in the organism that mask part of the loss of function. Thus, certain normally *hrh3*-dependent mechanisms may still be intact in our knockout model. For instance, lack of this receptor may change the way synapses where this receptor normally is present form during brain development, and thus alter the brain circuitry. The only feasible way to avoid this situation is the creation of inducible knockout lines, where a protein function can be specifically silenced at any stage of development.

# 7. Conclusions

In this dissertation, I aimed to uncover novel mechanisms in the function of the histaminergic system. Our main conclusions were as follows:

1. Ethanol rapidly upregulates expression of neural hdc in a similar manner as th1 and th2 are upregulated. Acute ethanol treatment caused a rapid decrease in dopamine levels, which recovered during a longer treatment, suggesting that the upregulation of the th mRNA species is a compensatory mechanism. Histamine levels, however, showed no significant changes after ethanol treatment. These results suggest that ethanol rapidly modulates the histaminergic and dopaminergic systems at a transcriptional level. Additionally, ethanol stimulates locomotor behaviour of larval zebrafish, with higher doses being sedative after longer exposure. This is similar to observations in mammals. The rapid changes in the dopaminergic and histaminergic systems occurred in the same time frame as the locomotor activation, suggesting that these networks are likely to be involved in locomotor responses to ethanol in the zebrafish.

2. Inhibition of VMAT2 by reserpine strongly diminished histamine immunoreactivity from both neural soma and axonal projections and decreased total histamine levels. Other monoamine levels were also decreased. However, whereas decreases in other monoamine levels upregulated their synthesis, *hdc* expression was not changed, implying that histamine depletion does not trigger a compensatory upregulation of *hdc*. Additionally, we saw that the histamine-mediated dark-flash response was impaired in reserpinized zebrafish larvae, suggesting that histaminergic transmission was impaired.

3. The optimized protocol for fluorescent *in situ* hybridization with sufficient sensitivity to detect transcripts with low-moderate expression developed in this study was sensitive enough to detect low-level mRNAs. Using this method, we identified most of the *hrh3*-expressing neurons in the dorsal telencephalon to be glutamatergic, while *hrh3* was also detected in individual GABAergic neurons in more ventral regions of the telencephalon. Additionally, we saw expression of *hrh3* in *hdc* mRNA positive neurons.

4. The new zebrafish model with a loss-of-function allele of hrh3 was phenotyped in this study. The hrh3 knockout larvae showed a faster habituation to sudden darkness, which suggests a role of hrh3 in the adaptation and regulation of responses to sudden changes in the environment. Adult hrh3 knockout fish were hypoactive, while larvae showed normal locomotor activity, suggesting a different role of hrh3 in regulation of

locomotion in different developmental stages. Social behaviour was unaffected by *hrh3* knockout. *hrh3* knockout did also not affect the development of aminergic networks or the expression of key genes in monoaminergic neurotransmission. However, dopamine and serotonin levels were decreased, which may reflect an altered function of these networks.

# 8. Questions for Future Research

1. The acute histaminergic responses to ethanol still need to be evaluated further, particularly as regards how ethanol affects the activity of hdc. As we discovered that ethanol upregulates hdc, it would also be of interest to study possible alcoholism-related polymorphisms in the human hdc promoter, to see if this mechanism has clinical significance.

2. The role of VMAT2 in the function of histaminergic neurons needs to be studied further in models lacking and overexpressing VMAT2 in the histamine neurons specifically. This could reveal how VMAT2 affects histamine turnover and metabolism, which could be relevant when considering the pathogenetic mechanisms related to VMAT2 polymorphisms.

3. Differences in histamine metabolism and turnover among histaminergic neurons should be investigated. This could most robustly be done by single-cell sequencing of the transcriptome of these neurons.

4. Inducible knockout models of histamine receptors and *hdc* should be generated, in order to see how removal of specific components of the histaminergic system in a normally developed brain affects behaviour and other parameters. Additionally, the changes in brain activity patterns under different conditions caused by histamine receptor and *hdc* knockout (both inducible and classic ones) should be characterized.

5. In order to better understand the partially contradictory results obtained with our Hrh3 knockout fish and Hrh3 ligands, the properties of zebrafish histamine receptors need to be characterized using *in vitro* expression of the receptors in cells, and the affinities and effects of histamine receptor ligands at the receptors should be determined.

# 9. Acknowledgements

The research work presented in this thesis was carried out over the years 2010–2017 at the Department of Anatomy of the University of Helsinki. Now, at the end of this project, I wish to express some final words of gratitude and appreciation to the persons and instances that facilitated the completion of this work.

I was personally funded by the M.D., Ph.D. program of the Faculty of Medicine and by the Department of Anatomy. The research projects I worked on received funding from the Academy of Finland, Finska Läkaresällskapet, Magnus Ehrnrooth's Foundation, Sigrid Juselius Foundation and the University of Helsinki. I thank our benefactors for their financial support and their contribution to the advancement of science. I also thank the prefect of Medicum, Profesor Tom Böhling, for providing the facilities for our research group.

I have had the privilege to be supervised by two experienced scientists, Professor Pertti Panula and Dr. Maria Sundvik. I am eternally grateful to Pertti for giving me the opportunity to work on this project and for his commitment as a supervisor during all these years. Pertti also provided me with a unique perspective to the world of life sciences. Maria instructed me in practical work with arduous patience, teaching me all the fundamental principles of laboratory work and a multitude of the research methods employed in this thesis. Both Pertti and Maria were readily available to discuss the issues related to my work and how to advance the project.

I am very grateful to my thesis committee members Docent Nina Peitsaro and Docent Tarja Stenberg for constructive discussions and comments on my work. You helped me look at my project from different perspectives.

This thesis was reviewed by Docent Mataleena Parikka and Docent Mikko Uusi-Oukari. I am much obliged to you for meticulously reading my thesis manuscript and for your comments that helped to substantially improve this final version of the thesis. Eija Puttonen is thanked for a thorough and prompt language revision of this thesis.

I thank associate professor Petronella Kettunen for agreeing to be the opponent of this thesis and look forward to our discussion about my work.

My co-authors Dr. Yu-Chia Chen, Dr. Stanislav Rozov, Svetlana Semenova and Yukako Shirai are recognized with highest gratitude for their contributions to the original research papers that constitute the foundation of this thesis. I wish to further thank Yu-Chia for teaching me practically everything I know about molecular biology and for her tremendous efforts in helping me troubleshoot the problems I encountered with these tricky methods. Docent Saara Rannanpää is recognized for discussions and comments that helped me finalize the third study of this thesis. I also wish to thank Dr. Vilma Lammi for our collaboration in the development of a rest deprivation system for zebrafish. I am grateful to Dr. Mari Palviainen for our time spent optimizing *in situ*  hybridization protocols. I especially appreciate how Mari voluntarily took time to discuss different technical issues even after she moved on to a different research group.

I wish to gratefully acknowledge all the members of the Panula group that I have had the opportunity to work with over the years. I want to especially thank Shamsi Abdurakhmanova, Diego Baronio, Sveta Sharifulina, Valentina Marchica and Yukako Shirai for all the time spent in the lab together. Henri Koivula, Suski Norrbacka, Sanni Perttunen, Riikka Pesonen and Jana Pennonen are gratefully acknowledged for taking excellent care of our valuable experimental animals. I am grateful to Reeta Huhtala for technical assistance, keeping the lab in good working condition, and for many discussions during lengthy incubations. Katharina Ven is warmly recognized for technical assistance, and I will always remember how we managed to troubleshoot a PCR reaction while I was 5000 miles away from the lab. I further thank the entire staff of the Department of Anatomy for creating a pleasant and positive working environment. I especially wish to thank my fellow graduate students Sari Heine-Koskinen, Camilla Höglund, and Jaakko Leinonen for our many conversations about research and other matters.

During my years in the Department of Anatomy, I had the honour and pleasure to work as an assisting teacher in anatomy courses over many years. I am extremely grateful to my pedagogical mentors Professor Heikki Hervonen and Docent Suvi Viranta-Kovanen for giving me the opportunity to work as an assistant teacher and for our many discussions about issues related to teaching work. Professor Matti Airaksinen and Docent Maarit Hölttä-Vuori are also warmly remembered for many jolly pedagogical moments particularly in the TeSaKu course. I hope you will keep the tradition of the PBL-cup even after my departure. Furthermore, I wish to acknowledge my good colleagues from the Department of Physiology, Docent Liisa Peltonen and Docent Kaj Karlstedt for our many *ad hoc* conversations that helped me develop my teaching skills. I also thank all other senior and junior teachers at the Institute of Biomedicine I have worked with during these years, and all the secretarial staff of the institute that ensured that all administrative matters went smoothly. I especially wish to recognize Ritva Henriksson, Sari Levo-Siitari, Outi Rauanheimo and Anne Simola for their contributions and for being valued co-workers.

I wish to thank all my colleagues at the HUSLAB Pathology laboratory, where I have had the great pleasure of starting my specialist training while still finishing my doctoral thesis. I especially wish to thank Docent Kaisa Salmenkivi for offering me this unique opportunity. I am very grateful to Professor Hannu Sariola, Docent Jouko Lohi and Docent Päivi Heikkilä for introducing me to the fascinating world of paediatric and perinatal pathology. Similarly, I wish to thank Docent Anders Paetau, Docent Olli Tynninen and Docent Liisa Myllykangas for giving me a unique glance into the field of neuropathology. I am obliged to Professor Tom Böhling for allowing me to work as a clinical instructor in pathology, which was a very valuable experience that will certainly benefit my future career. My fellow teachers in pathology, especially Docent Mikko Mäyränpää, Dr. Helena Leijon, and Dr. Jonas Kantonen are warmly remembered.
All my friends from medical school are recognized for the long days spent together in the different lecture halls and hospitals around Finland. I especially wish to thank Karri Kalervo, Henriikka Kalmi, Emma Kotisalmi, Rony Lindell, Saara Roininen and Maria Vartiainen for many memorable moments over the years. I also thank all my mentors in the field of medicine. Professor Tom Petterson and Dr. Lena Sjöberg-Tuominen warrant a special mention for being extremely motivating and devoted medical educators. I also wish to gratefully recognize Ann-Catherine Lampinen, the study coordinator of the Swedish medical curriculum, for her continued dedicated efforts in arranging practical matters to make life as convenient as possible for both teachers and students.

My interest in empirical sciences started long before I started my university studies. I wish to thank my middle school science teacher Gerd Granvik for introducing me to the world of the scientific method. My high school teachers in chemistry (Hannele Hagström), biology (Tiina Vuorinen) and physics (Jonas Waxlax) are also recognized for their inspiring guidance that gave me the motivation to pursue an empirical thesis project. Additionally, I wish to acknowledge my old classmates Axi Holmström and Kim Pöyhönen for all our time spent together in our high school days, pursuing a deeper understanding of natural sciences together.

My last words of gratitude will be directed to all my friends and family. I wish to especially thank Martin Porkholm for our rather long-lasting friendship and the time we have spent together over the years. I am forever grateful to my fiancée Yukako for her companionship and support which helped me clear the final obstacles of this thesis project. Finally, I wish to thank my parents and grandparents, for always supporting and encouraging me in the various endeavours of my life.

## 10. References

- Dale, H. H. & Laidlaw, P. P. The physiological action of beta-iminazolylethylamine. *J Physiol* 41, 318-344 (1910).
- 2 Wolf, E. P. Experimental Studies on Inflammation : Ii. Experimental Chemical Inflammation in Vivo. *J Exp Med* **37**, 511-524 (1923).
- 3 Wolf, E. P. Experimental Studies on Inflammation : I. The Influence of Chemicals Upon the Chemotaxis of Leucocytes in Vitro. *J Exp Med* **34**, 375-396 (1921).
- 4 Ivy, A. C., McIlvain, G. B. & Javois, A. J. The Stimulation of Gastric Secretion by Histamine. *Science* **58**, 286, doi:10.1126/science.58.1502.286-a (1923).
- 5 Beaven, M. A. Histamine: its role in physiological and pathological processes. *Monogr Allergy* **13**, 1-113 (1978).
- 6 Kwiatkowski, H. Histamine in nervous tissue. *J Physiol* **102**, 32-41 (1943).
- 7 Kuhar, M. J., Taylor, K. M. & Snyder, S. H. The subcellular localization of histamine and histamine methyltransferase in rat brain. *J Neurochem* **18**, 1515-1527 (1971).
- 8 Panula, P., Yang, H. Y. & Costa, E. Histamine-containing neurons in the rat hypothalamus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **81**, 2572-2576 (1984).
- 9 Watanabe, T. *et al.* Distribution of the histaminergic neuron system in the central nervous system of rats; a fluorescent immunohistochemical analysis with histidine decarboxylase as a marker. *Brain Res* **295**, 13-25 (1984).
- 10 Anden, N. E. *et al.* Demonstration and Mapping out of Nigro-Neostriatal Dopamine Neurons. *Life Sci (1962)* **3**, 523-530 (1964).
- 11 Anden, N. E., Dahlstrom, A., Fuxe, K. & Larsson, K. Mapping out of catecholamine and 5hydroxytryptamine neurons innervating the telencephalon and diencephalon. *Life Sci* 4, 1275-1279 (1965).
- 12 Anden, N. E., Dahlstrom, A., Fuxe, K., Olson, L. & Ungerstedt, U. Ascending noradrenaline neurons from the pons and the medulla oblongata. *Experientia* **22**, 44-45 (1966).
- 13 Dahlstroem, A. & Fuxe, K. Evidence for the Existence of Monoamine-Containing Neurons in the Central Nervous System. I. Demonstration of Monoamines in the Cell Bodies of Brain Stem Neurons. Acta Physiol Scand Suppl, SUPPL 232:231-255 (1964).
- 14 Dahlstrom, A. & Fuxe, K. Localization of monoamines in the lower brain stem. *Experientia* **20**, 398-399 (1964).
- 15 Panula, P., Airaksinen, M. S., Pirvola, U. & Kotilainen, E. A histamine-containing neuronal system in human brain. *Neuroscience* **34**, 127-132 (1990).
- 16 Airaksinen, M. S. & Panula, P. The histaminergic system in the guinea pig central nervous system: an immunocytochemical mapping study using an antiserum against histamine. *J Comp Neurol* 273, 163-186, doi:10.1002/cne.902730204 (1988).
- 17 Airaksinen, M. S., Alanen, S., Szabat, E., Visser, T. J. & Panula, P. Multiple neurotransmitters in the tuberomammillary nucleus: comparison of rat, mouse, and guinea pig. *J Comp Neurol* 323, 103-116, doi:10.1002/cne.903230109 (1992).
- 18 Tillet, Y., Batailler, M. & Panula, P. Histaminergic neurons in the sheep diencephalon. *J Comp Neurol* **400**, 317-333 (1998).
- 19 Airaksinen, M. S. & Panula, P. Comparative neuroanatomy of the histaminergic system in the brain of the frog Xenopus laevis. *J Comp Neurol* 292, 412-423, doi:10.1002/cne.902920307 (1990).
- 20 Eriksson, K. S., Peitsaro, N., Karlstedt, K., Kaslin, J. & Panula, P. Development of the histaminergic neurons and expression of histidine decarboxylase mRNA in the zebrafish brain in the absence of all peripheral histaminergic systems. *Eur J Neurosci* **10**, 3799-3812 (1998).
- 21 Waton, N. G. Studies on mammalian histidine decarboxylase. Br J Pharmacol Chemother 11, 119-127 (1956).
- 22 Hegstrand, L. R. & Simon, J. R. Histidine transport into rat brain synaptosomes. J Neurochem 45, 407-414 (1985).

- 23 Chudomelka, P. J. & Murrin, L. C. Transport of histidine into synaptosomes of the rat central nervous system. J Neurochem 40, 830-835 (1983).
- 24 Fogel, W. A., Andrzejewski, W. & Maslinski, C. Brain histamine in rats with hepatic encephalopathy. J Neurochem 56, 38-43 (1991).
- 25 Gomez-Ramirez, J., Ortiz, J. & Blanco, I. Presynaptic H3 autoreceptors modulate histamine synthesis through cAMP pathway. *Mol Pharmacol* **61**, 239-245 (2002).
- 26 Torrent, A. *et al.* H3 autoreceptors modulate histamine synthesis through calcium/calmodulinand cAMP-dependent protein kinase pathways. *Mol Pharmacol* **67**, 195-203, doi:10.1124/mol.104.005652 (2005).
- 27 Moreno-Delgado, D., Blanco, I. & Ortiz, J. Phosphatases regulate histamine synthesis in rat brain. *Neuroscience* **150**, 616-624, doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2007.09.040 (2007).
- 28 McLaughlin, J. T. et al. PACAP and gastrin regulate the histidine decarboxylase promoter via distinct mechanisms. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 286, G51-59, doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00169.2002 (2004).
- 29 Nakagawa, S. *et al.* Identification of multiple regulatory elements of human L-histidine decarboxylase gene. *J Biochem* 121, 935-940 (1997).
- 30 Kukko-Lukjanov, T. K. & Panula, P. Subcellular distribution of histamine, GABA and galanin in tuberomamillary neurons in vitro. *J Chem Neuroanat* **25**, 279-292 (2003).
- 31 Merickel, A. & Edwards, R. H. Transport of histamine by vesicular monoamine transporter-2. *Neuropharmacology* 34, 1543-1547 (1995).
- 32 Leao, A. H., Sarmento-Silva, A. J., Santos, J. R., Ribeiro, A. M. & Silva, R. H. Molecular, Neurochemical, and Behavioral Hallmarks of Reserpine as a Model for Parkinson's Disease: New Perspectives to a Long-Standing Model. *Brain Pathol* 25, 377-390, doi:10.1111/bpa.12253 (2015).
- 33 Adam, H. M. & Hye, H. K. Concentration of histamine in different parts of brain and hypophysis of cat and its modification by drugs. *Br J Pharmacol Chemother* **28**, 137-152 (1966).
- 34 Taylor, K. M. & Snyder, S. H. Dynamics of the regulation of histamine levels in mouse brain. J Neurochem 19, 341-354 (1972).
- 35 Maldonado, M. & Maeyama, K. The metabolism of histamine in rat hypothalamus and cortex after reserpine treatment. *Neurochem Int* **85-86**, 31-39, doi:10.1016/j.neuint.2015.04.005 (2015).
- 36 Muroi, N., Oishi, R. & Saeki, K. Effect of reserving on histamine metabolism in the mouse brain. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 256, 967-972 (1991).
- 37 Torres, G. E., Gainetdinov, R. R. & Caron, M. G. Plasma membrane monoamine transporters: structure, regulation and function. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **4**, 13-25, doi:10.1038/nrn1008 (2003).
- 38 Grundemann, D. *et al.* Transport of monoamine transmitters by the organic cation transporter type 2, OCT2. *J Biol Chem* **273**, 30915-30920 (1998).
- 39 Grundemann, D., Schechinger, B., Rappold, G. A. & Schomig, E. Molecular identification of the corticosterone-sensitive extraneuronal catecholamine transporter. *Nat Neurosci* 1, 349-351, doi:10.1038/1557 (1998).
- 40 Engel, K., Zhou, M. & Wang, J. Identification and characterization of a novel monoamine transporter in the human brain. *J Biol Chem* **279**, 50042-50049, doi:10.1074/jbc.M407913200 (2004).
- 41 Yoshikawa, T. *et al.* Molecular mechanism of histamine clearance by primary human astrocytes. *Glia* **61**, 905-916, doi:10.1002/glia.22484 (2013).
- 42 Huszti, Z., Prast, H., Tran, M. H., Fischer, H. & Philippu, A. Glial cells participate in histamine inactivation in vivo. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* **357**, 49-53 (1998).
- 43 Sakurai, E. *et al.* Evidence for the presence of histamine uptake into the synaptosomes of rat brain. *Pharmacology* **78**, 72-80, doi:10.1159/000095637 (2006).
- 44 Nishibori, M. *et al.* Neuronal and vascular localization of histamine N-methyltransferase in the bovine central nervous system. *Eur J Neurosci* **12**, 415-424 (2000).
- 45 Shan, L. *et al.* Alterations in the histaminergic system in the substantia nigra and striatum of Parkinson's patients: a postmortem study. *Neurobiol Aging* **33**, 1488 e1481-1413, doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.10.016 (2012).

- 46 Klocker, J. *et al.* Expression of histamine degrading enzymes in porcine tissues. *Inflamm Res* 54 Suppl 1, S54-57, doi:10.1007/s00011-004-0425-7 (2005).
- 47 Haas, H. & Panula, P. The role of histamine and the tuberomamillary nucleus in the nervous system. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **4**, 121-130, doi:10.1038/nrn1034 (2003).
- 48 Saras, A. *et al.* Histamine action on vertebrate GABAA receptors: direct channel gating and potentiation of GABA responses. *J Biol Chem* 283, 10470-10475, doi:10.1074/jbc.M709993200 (2008).
- 49 Bekkers, J. M. Enhancement by histamine of NMDA-mediated synaptic transmission in the hippocampus. *Science* **261**, 104-106 (1993).
- 50 Vorobjev, V. S., Sharonova, I. N., Walsh, I. B. & Haas, H. L. Histamine potentiates N-methyl-D-aspartate responses in acutely isolated hippocampal neurons. *Neuron* 11, 837-844 (1993).
- 51 Southan, C. *et al.* The IUPHAR/BPS Guide to PHARMACOLOGY in 2016: towards curated quantitative interactions between 1300 protein targets and 6000 ligands. *Nucleic Acids Res* **44**, D1054-1068, doi:10.1093/nar/gkv1037 (2016).
- 52 Leurs, R. *et al.* Guinea pig histamine H1 receptor. II. Stable expression in Chinese hamster ovary cells reveals the interaction with three major signal transduction pathways. *J Neurochem* **62**, 519-527 (1994).
- 53 Hill, S. J. Distribution, properties, and functional characteristics of three classes of histamine receptor. *Pharmacol Rev* **42**, 45-83 (1990).
- 54 Haas, H. L., Sergeeva, O. A. & Selbach, O. Histamine in the nervous system. *Physiol Rev* 88, 1183-1241, doi:10.1152/physrev.00043.2007 (2008).
- 55 Juric, D. M., Krzan, M. & Lipnik-Stangelj, M. Histamine and astrocyte function. *Pharmacol Res* 111, 774-783, doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2016.07.035 (2016).
- 56 Karlstedt, K. *et al.* Lack of histamine synthesis and down-regulation of H1 and H2 receptor mRNA levels by dexamethasone in cerebral endothelial cells. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* **19**, 321-330, doi:10.1097/00004647-199903000-00010 (1999).
- 57 Passani, M. B. & Ballerini, C. Histamine and neuroinflammation: insights from murine experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Front Syst Neurosci* 6, 32, doi:10.3389/fnsys.2012.00032 (2012).
- 58 Panula, P. & Nuutinen, S. The histaminergic network in the brain: basic organization and role in disease. Nat Rev Neurosci 14, 472-487, doi:10.1038/nrn3526 (2013).
- 59 Martinez-Mir, M. I. *et al.* Three histamine receptors (H1, H2 and H3) visualized in the brain of human and non-human primates. *Brain Res* **526**, 322-327 (1990).
- 60 Nijmeijer, S., Leurs, R. & Vischer, H. F. Constitutive activity of the histamine H(1) receptor. *Methods Enzymol* **484**, 127-147, doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-381298-8.00007-1 (2010).
- 61 Tao, Y. X. Constitutive activation of G protein-coupled receptors and diseases: insights into mechanisms of activation and therapeutics. *Pharmacol Ther* **120**, 129-148, doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2008.07.005 (2008).
- 62 Dagda, R. K. & Das Banerjee, T. Role of protein kinase A in regulating mitochondrial function and neuronal development: implications to neurodegenerative diseases. *Rev Neurosci* **26**, 359-370, doi:10.1515/revneuro-2014-0085 (2015).
- 63 Giese, K. P. & Mizuno, K. The roles of protein kinases in learning and memory. *Learn Mem* **20**, 540-552, doi:10.1101/lm.028449.112 (2013).
- 64 Threlfell, S., Exley, R., Cragg, S. J. & Greenfield, S. A. Constitutive histamine H2 receptor activity regulates serotonin release in the substantia nigra. *J Neurochem* 107, 745-755, doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008.05646.x (2008).
- 65 Smit, M. J. *et al.* Inverse agonism of histamine H2 antagonist accounts for upregulation of spontaneously active histamine H2 receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **93**, 6802-6807 (1996).
- 66 Jin, C. Y., Kalimo, H. & Panula, P. The histaminergic system in human thalamus: correlation of innervation to receptor expression. *Eur J Neurosci* 15, 1125-1138 (2002).
- 67 Jin, C. Y. & Panula, P. The laminar histamine receptor system in human prefrontal cortex suggests multiple levels of histaminergic regulation. *Neuroscience* 132, 137-149, doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2004.12.017 (2005).

- 68 Sanchez-Lemus, E. & Arias-Montano, J. A. Histamine H3 receptor activation inhibits dopamine D1 receptor-induced cAMP accumulation in rat striatal slices. *Neurosci Lett* 364, 179-184, doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2004.045 (2004).
- 69 Brown, R. E. & Haas, H. L. On the mechanism of histaminergic inhibition of glutamate release in the rat dentate gyrus. *J Physiol* **515 (Pt 3)**, 777-786 (1999).
- 70 Drutel, G. *et al.* Identification of rat H3 receptor isoforms with different brain expression and signaling properties. *Mol Pharmacol* **59**, 1-8 (2001).
- 71 Bongers, G. *et al.* The Akt/GSK-3beta axis as a new signaling pathway of the histamine H(3) receptor. *J Neurochem* **103**, 248-258, doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2007.04752.x (2007).
- 72 Schlicker, E. & Kathmann, M. Role of the Histamine H3 Receptor in the Central Nervous System. *Handb Exp Pharmacol*, doi:10.1007/164 2016 12 (2016).
- 73 Rouleau, A. *et al.* Cloning and expression of the mouse histamine H3 receptor: evidence for multiple isoforms. *J Neurochem* **90**, 1331-1338, doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2004.02606.x (2004).
- 74 Wellendorph, P. *et al.* Molecular cloning and pharmacology of functionally distinct isoforms of the human histamine H(3) receptor. *Neuropharmacology* **42**, 929-940 (2002).
- 75 Morisset, S. *et al.* High constitutive activity of native H3 receptors regulates histamine neurons in brain. *Nature* **408**, 860-864, doi:10.1038/35048583 (2000).
- 76 Yan, H. *et al.* Histamine H3 receptors aggravate cerebral ischaemic injury by histamineindependent mechanisms. *Nat Commun* 5, 3334, doi:10.1038/ncomms4334 (2014).
- 77 Arrang, J. M., Garbarg, M. & Schwartz, J. C. Auto-inhibition of brain histamine release mediated by a novel class (H3) of histamine receptor. *Nature* **302**, 832-837 (1983).
- 78 Schlicker, E., Betz, R. & Gothert, M. Histamine H3 receptor-mediated inhibition of serotonin release in the rat brain cortex. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* **337**, 588-590 (1988).
- 79 Schlicker, E., Fink, K., Detzner, M. & Gothert, M. Histamine inhibits dopamine release in the mouse striatum via presynaptic H3 receptors. *J Neural Transm Gen Sect* 93, 1-10 (1993).
- 80 Schlicker, E., Fink, K., Hinterthaner, M. & Gothert, M. Inhibition of noradrenaline release in the rat brain cortex via presynaptic H3 receptors. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* 340, 633-638 (1989).
- 81 Schlicker, E., Malinowska, B., Kathmann, M. & Gothert, M. Modulation of neurotransmitter release via histamine H3 heteroreceptors. *Fundam Clin Pharmacol* **8**, 128-137 (1994).
- 82 Pillot, C. *et al.* A detailed mapping of the histamine H(3) receptor and its gene transcripts in rat brain. *Neuroscience* **114**, 173-193 (2002).
- 83 Ellenbroek, B. A. & Ghiabi, B. The other side of the histamine H3 receptor. *Trends Neurosci* 37, 191-199, doi:10.1016/j.tins.2014.02.007 (2014).
- 84 Karlstedt, K., Jin, C. & Panula, P. Expression of histamine receptor genes Hrh3 and Hrh4 in rat brain endothelial cells. *Br J Pharmacol* 170, 58-66, doi:10.1111/bph.12173 (2013).
- 85 Gbahou, F. *et al.* Compared pharmacology of human histamine H3 and H4 receptors: structureactivity relationships of histamine derivatives. *Br J Pharmacol* **147**, 744-754, doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0706666 (2006).
- 86 Schneider, E. H. & Seifert, R. The histamine H4-receptor and the central and peripheral nervous system: A critical analysis of the literature. *Neuropharmacology* **106**, 116-128, doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2015.05.004 (2016).
- 87 Chen, R., Wu, X., Jiang, L. & Zhang, Y. Single-Cell RNA-Seq Reveals Hypothalamic Cell Diversity. *Cell Rep* 18, 3227-3241, doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2017.03.004 (2017).
- 88 Trudeau, L. E. *et al.* The multilingual nature of dopamine neurons. *Prog Brain Res* 211, 141-164, doi:10.1016/B978-0-444-63425-2.00006-4 (2014).
- 89 Tritsch, N. X., Granger, A. J. & Sabatini, B. L. Mechanisms and functions of GABA co-release. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 17, 139-145, doi:10.1038/nrn.2015.21 (2016).
- 90 Yu, X. et al. Wakefulness Is Governed by GABA and Histamine Cotransmission. Neuron 87, 164-178, doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2015.06.003 (2015).
- 91 Carlsson, A., Lindqvist, M., Magnusson, T. & Waldeck, B. On the presence of 3hydroxytyramine in brain. *Science* **127**, 471 (1958).
- 92 Nagatsu, T., Levitt, M. & Udenfriend, S. Tyrosine Hydroxylase. The Initial Step in Norepinephrine Biosynthesis. *J Biol Chem* **239**, 2910-2917 (1964).

- 93 Sabban, E. L. & Kvetnansky, R. Stress-triggered activation of gene expression in catecholaminergic systems: dynamics of transcriptional events. *Trends Neurosci* 24, 91-98 (2001).
- 94 Kumer, S. C. & Vrana, K. E. Intricate regulation of tyrosine hydroxylase activity and gene expression. *J Neurochem* **67**, 443-462 (1996).
- 95 Lovenberg, W., Weissbach, H. & Udenfriend, S. Aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase. J Biol Chem 237, 89-93 (1962).
- 96 Liu, Y. & Edwards, R. H. The role of vesicular transport proteins in synaptic transmission and neural degeneration. *Annu Rev Neurosci* 20, 125-156, doi:10.1146/annurev.neuro.20.1.125 (1997).
- 97 Moron, J. A., Brockington, A., Wise, R. A., Rocha, B. A. & Hope, B. T. Dopamine uptake through the norepinephrine transporter in brain regions with low levels of the dopamine transporter: evidence from knock-out mouse lines. *J Neurosci* **22**, 389-395 (2002).
- Meiser, J., Weindl, D. & Hiller, K. Complexity of dopamine metabolism. *Cell Commun Signal* 11, 34, doi:10.1186/1478-811X-11-34 (2013).
- 99 Beaulieu, J. M. & Gainetdinov, R. R. The physiology, signaling, and pharmacology of dopamine receptors. *Pharmacol Rev* **63**, 182-217, doi:10.1124/pr.110.002642 (2011).
- 100 Smeets, W. J. & Gonzalez, A. Catecholamine systems in the brain of vertebrates: new perspectives through a comparative approach. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev* **33**, 308-379 (2000).
- 101 Korchounov, A., Meyer, M. F. & Krasnianski, M. Postsynaptic nigrostriatal dopamine receptors and their role in movement regulation. *J Neural Transm (Vienna)* 117, 1359-1369, doi:10.1007/s00702-010-0454-z (2010).
- 102 Pierce, R. C. & Kumaresan, V. The mesolimbic dopamine system: the final common pathway for the reinforcing effect of drugs of abuse? *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 30, 215-238, doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2005.04.016 (2006).
- 103 Arias-Carrion, O. *et al.* Orquestic regulation of neurotransmitters on reward-seeking behavior. Int Arch Med 7, 29, doi:10.1186/1755-7682-7-29 (2014).
- 104 Euler, U. S. v. A Specific Sympathomimetic Ergone in Adrenergic Nerve Fibres (Sympathin) and its Relations to Adrenaline and Nor-Adrenaline. *Acta Physiologica Scandinavica* **12**, 73-97, doi:10.1111/j.1748-1716.1946.tb00368.x (1946).
- 105 Rush, R. A. & Geffen, L. B. Dopamine beta-hydroxylase in health and disease. *Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci* 12, 241-277, doi:10.3109/10408368009108731 (1980).
- 106 Eisenhofer, G., Kopin, I. J. & Goldstein, D. S. Catecholamine metabolism: a contemporary view with implications for physiology and medicine. *Pharmacol Rev* 56, 331-349, doi:10.1124/pr.56.3.1 (2004).
- 107 Ramos, B. P. & Arnsten, A. F. Adrenergic pharmacology and cognition: focus on the prefrontal cortex. *Pharmacol Ther* **113**, 523-536, doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2006.11.006 (2007).
- 108 Guyenet, P. G. The sympathetic control of blood pressure. Nat Rev Neurosci 7, 335-346, doi:10.1038/nrn1902 (2006).
- 109 K Hare, a. & Hinsey, J. C. The Autonomic Nervous System. *Annual Review of Physiology* 4, 407-444, doi:10.1146/annurev.ph.04.030142.002203 (1942).
- 110 Sara, S. J. The locus coeruleus and noradrenergic modulation of cognition. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **10**, 211-223, doi:10.1038/nrn2573 (2009).
- 111 Moret, C. & Briley, M. The importance of norepinephrine in depression. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat* 7, 9-13, doi:10.2147/NDT.S19619 (2011).
- 112 Rapport, M. M., Green, A. A. & Page, I. H. Serum vasoconstrictor, serotonin; isolation and characterization. *J Biol Chem* 176, 1243-1251 (1948).
- 113 Woolley, D. W. Serotonin in mental disorders. *Res Publ Assoc Res Nerv Ment Dis* **36**, 381-400 (1958).
- 114 Twarog, B. M. & Page, I. H. Serotonin content of some mammalian tissues and urine and a method for its determination. *Am J Physiol* **175**, 157-161 (1953).
- 115 Hosoda, S. & Glick, D. Studies in histochemistry. LXXIX. Properties of tryptophan hydroxylase from neoplastic murine mast cells. *J Biol Chem* **241**, 192-196 (1966).

- 116 Walther, D. J. & Bader, M. A unique central tryptophan hydroxylase isoform. *Biochem Pharmacol* **66**, 1673-1680 (2003).
- 117 Walther, D. J. *et al.* Synthesis of serotonin by a second tryptophan hydroxylase isoform. *Science* **299**, 76, doi:10.1126/science.1078197 (2003).
- 118 Zhou, M., Engel, K. & Wang, J. Evidence for significant contribution of a newly identified monoamine transporter (PMAT) to serotonin uptake in the human brain. *Biochem Pharmacol* 73, 147-154, doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2006.09.008 (2007).
- 119 Bortolato, M., Chen, K. & Shih, J. C. in *Handbook of Behavioral Neuroscience* Vol. Volume 21 (eds P. Müller Christian & L. Jacobs Barry) 203-218 (Elsevier, 2010).
- 120 Barnes, N. M. & Sharp, T. A review of central 5-HT receptors and their function. *Neuropharmacology* **38**, 1083-1152 (1999).
- 121 Pytliak, M., Vargova, V., Mechirova, V. & Felsoci, M. Serotonin receptors from molecular biology to clinical applications. *Physiol Res* **60**, 15-25 (2011).
- 122 Azmitia, E. C. Serotonin neurons, neuroplasticity, and homeostasis of neural tissue. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **21**, 33S-45S, doi:10.1016/S0893-133X(99)00022-6 (1999).
- 123 Naughton, M., Mulrooney, J. B. & Leonard, B. E. A review of the role of serotonin receptors in psychiatric disorders. *Hum Psychopharmacol* 15, 397-415, doi:10.1002/1099-1077(200008)15:6<397::AID-HUP212>3.0.CO;2-L (2000).
- 124 Zohar, J. & Westenberg, H. G. Anxiety disorders: a review of tricyclic antidepressants and selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. *Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl* **403**, 39-49 (2000).
- 125 Albert, P. R. & Benkelfat, C. The neurobiology of depression--revisiting the serotonin hypothesis. II. Genetic, epigenetic and clinical studies. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* **368**, 20120535, doi:10.1098/rstb.2012.0535 (2013).
- 126 Molina-Hernandez, A. & Velasco, I. Histamine induces neural stem cell proliferation and neuronal differentiation by activation of distinct histamine receptors. *J Neurochem* 106, 706-717, doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008.05424.x (2008).
- 127 Kinnunen, A., Lintunen, M., Karlstedt, K., Fukui, H. & Panula, P. In situ detection of H1receptor mRNA and absence of apoptosis in the transient histamine system of the embryonic rat brain. *J Comp Neurol* **394**, 127-137 (1998).
- 128 Karlstedt, K., Ahman, M. J., Anichtchik, O. V., Soinila, S. & Panula, P. Expression of the H3 receptor in the developing CNS and brown fat suggests novel roles for histamine. *Mol Cell Neurosci* 24, 614-622 (2003).
- 129 Karlstedt, K., Senkas, A., Ahman, M. & Panula, P. Regional expression of the histamine H(2) receptor in adult and developing rat brain. *Neuroscience* **102**, 201-208 (2001).
- 130 Molina-Hernandez, A., Rodriguez-Martinez, G., Escobedo-Avila, I. & Velasco, I. Histamine upregulates fibroblast growth factor receptor 1 and increases FOXP2 neurons in cultured neural precursors by histamine type 1 receptor activation: conceivable role of histamine in neurogenesis during cortical development in vivo. *Neural Dev* 8, 4, doi:10.1186/1749-8104-8-4 (2013).
- 131 Schneider, E. H., Neumann, D. & Seifert, R. Modulation of behavior by the histaminergic system: lessons from HDC-, H3R- and H4R-deficient mice. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 47, 101-121, doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.07.020 (2014).
- 132 Schneider, E. H., Neumann, D. & Seifert, R. Modulation of behavior by the histaminergic system: lessons from H(1)R-and H(2)R-deficient mice. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 42, 252-266, doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.03.009 (2014).
- 133 Sundvik, M. *et al.* The histaminergic system regulates wakefulness and orexin/hypocretin neuron development via histamine receptor H1 in zebrafish. *FASEB J* **25**, 4338-4347, doi:10.1096/fj.11-188268 (2011).
- 134 Escobedo-Avila, I. *et al.* Histamine impairs midbrain dopaminergic development in vivo by activating histamine type 1 receptors. *Mol Brain* 7, 58, doi:10.1186/s13041-014-0058-x (2014).
- 135 Aquino-Miranda, G. *et al.* Histamine H(3) receptors modulate depolarization-evoked [(3)H]noradrenaline release from rat olfactory bulb slices. *Neuropharmacology* 62, 1127-1133, doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2011.11.004 (2012).
- 136 Threlfell, S. *et al.* Histamine H3 receptors inhibit serotonin release in substantia nigra pars reticulata. *J Neurosci* **24**, 8704-8710, doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2690-04.2004 (2004).

- 137 Samaranayake, S. *et al.* A voltammetric and mathematical analysis of histaminergic modulation of serotonin in the mouse hypothalamus. *J Neurochem* 138, 374-383, doi:10.1111/jnc.13659 (2016).
- 138 Aquino-Miranda, G., Escamilla-Sanchez, J., Gonzalez-Pantoja, R., Bueno-Nava, A. & Arias-Montano, J. A. Histamine H3 receptor activation inhibits dopamine synthesis but not release or uptake in rat nucleus accumbens. *Neuropharmacology* **106**, 91-101, doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2015.07.006 (2016).
- 139 Ferrada, C. *et al.* Interactions between histamine H3 and dopamine D2 receptors and the implications for striatal function. *Neuropharmacology* 55, 190-197, doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2008.05.008 (2008).
- 140 Ferrada, C. *et al.* Marked changes in signal transduction upon heteromerization of dopamine D1 and histamine H3 receptors. *Br J Pharmacol* **157**, 64-75, doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2009.00152.x (2009).
- 141 Kononoff Vanhanen, J., Nuutinen, S., Tuominen, M. & Panula, P. Histamine H3 Receptor Regulates Sensorimotor Gating and Dopaminergic Signaling in the Striatum. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 357, 264-272, doi:10.1124/jpet.115.230771 (2016).
- 142 Ellender, T. J., Huerta-Ocampo, I., Deisseroth, K., Capogna, M. & Bolam, J. P. Differential modulation of excitatory and inhibitory striatal synaptic transmission by histamine. *J Neurosci* 31, 15340-15351, doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3144-11.2011 (2011).
- 143 Frazao, R. *et al.* Histamine elevates free intracellular calcium in mouse retinal dopaminergic cells via H1-receptors. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 52, 3083-3088, doi:10.1167/iovs.10-6160 (2011).
- 144 Li, B. *et al.* Histamine Increases Neuronal Excitability and Sensitivity of the Lateral Vestibular Nucleus and Promotes Motor Behaviors via HCN Channel Coupled to H2 Receptor. *Front Cell Neurosci* 10, 300, doi:10.3389/fncel.2016.00300 (2016).
- 145 Zhang, J., Han, X. H., Li, H. Z., Zhu, J. N. & Wang, J. J. Histamine excites rat lateral vestibular nuclear neurons through activation of post-synaptic H2 receptors. *Neurosci Lett* 448, 15-19, doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2008.10.027 (2008).
- 146 Vizuete, M. L. *et al.* Detailed mapping of the histamine H2 receptor and its gene transcripts in guinea-pig brain. *Neuroscience* **80**, 321-343 (1997).
- 147 Tighilet, B. & Lacour, M. Distribution of histaminergic axonal fibres in the vestibular nuclei of the cat. *Neuroreport* 7, 873-878 (1996).
- 148 Murdin, L., Hussain, K. & Schilder, A. G. Betahistine for symptoms of vertigo. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, CD010696, doi:10.1002/14651858.CD010696.pub2 (2016).
- 149 Parfenov, V. A. *et al.* Effectiveness of betahistine (48 mg/day) in patients with vestibular vertigo during routine practice: The VIRTUOSO study. *PLoS One* 12, e0174114, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0174114 (2017).
- 150 Li, B., Zhu, J. N. & Wang, J. J. Histaminergic afferent system in the cerebellum: structure and function. *Cerebellum Ataxias* 1, 5, doi:10.1186/2053-8871-1-5 (2014).
- 151 He, Y. C. *et al.* Histamine promotes rat motor performances by activation of H(2) receptors in the cerebellar fastigial nucleus. *Behav Brain Res* **228**, 44-52, doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2011.11.029 (2012).
- 152 Song, Y. N., Li, H. Z., Zhu, J. N., Guo, C. L. & Wang, J. J. Histamine improves rat rota-rod and balance beam performances through H(2) receptors in the cerebellar interpositus nucleus. *Neuroscience* 140, 33-43, doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2006.01.045 (2006).
- 153 Bosch-Bouju, C., Hyland, B. I. & Parr-Brownlie, L. C. Motor thalamus integration of cortical, cerebellar and basal ganglia information: implications for normal and parkinsonian conditions. *Front Comput Neurosci* 7, 163, doi:10.3389/fncom.2013.00163 (2013).
- 154 Toyota, H. *et al.* Behavioral characterization of mice lacking histamine H(3) receptors. *Mol Pharmacol* **62**, 389-397 (2002).
- 155 Takahashi, K., Suwa, H., Ishikawa, T. & Kotani, H. Targeted disruption of H3 receptors results in changes in brain histamine tone leading to an obese phenotype. *J Clin Invest* **110**, 1791-1799, doi:10.1172/JCI15784 (2002).

- 156 Yanai, K., Son, L. Z., Endou, M., Sakurai, E. & Watanabe, T. Targeting disruption of histamine H1 receptors in mice: behavioral and neurochemical characterization. *Life Sci* 62, 1607-1610 (1998).
- 157 Kubota, Y. *et al.* Increased methamphetamine-induced locomotor activity and behavioral sensitization in histamine-deficient mice. *J Neurochem* **83**, 837-845 (2002).
- Dere, E. *et al.* Changes in motoric, exploratory and emotional behaviours and neuronal acetylcholine content and 5-HT turnover in histidine decarboxylase-KO mice. *Eur J Neurosci* 20, 1051-1058, doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2004.03546.x (2004).
- 159 Thakkar, M. M. Histamine in the regulation of wakefulness. *Sleep Med Rev* **15**, 65-74, doi:10.1016/j.smrv.2010.06.004 (2011).
- 160 Ma, H. & Zhu, G. The dopamine system and alcohol dependence. *Shanghai Arch Psychiatry* **26**, 61-68, doi:10.3969/j.issn.1002-0829.2014.02.002 (2014).
- 161 Gessa, G. L., Muntoni, F., Collu, M., Vargiu, L. & Mereu, G. Low doses of ethanol activate dopaminergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area. *Brain Res* **348**, 201-203 (1985).
- 162 Di Chiara, G. & Imperato, A. Preferential stimulation of dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens by opiates, alcohol, and barbiturates: studies with transcerebral dialysis in freely moving rats. *Ann NY Acad Sci* **473**, 367-381 (1986).
- 163 Kelly, P. H., Seviour, P. W. & Iversen, S. D. Amphetamine and apomorphine responses in the rat following 6-OHDA lesions of the nucleus accumbens septi and corpus striatum. *Brain Res* 94, 507-522 (1975).
- 164 Cohen, C., Perrault, G. & Sanger, D. J. Evidence for the involvement of dopamine receptors in ethanol-induced hyperactivity in mice. *Neuropharmacology* **36**, 1099-1108 (1997).
- 165 Camarini, R., Marcourakis, T., Teodorov, E., Yonamine, M. & Calil, H. M. Ethanol-induced sensitization depends preferentially on D1 rather than D2 dopamine receptors. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 98, 173-180, doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2010.12.017 (2011).
- 166 Adinoff, B. Neurobiologic processes in drug reward and addiction. *Harv Rev Psychiatry* **12**, 305-320, doi:10.1080/10673220490910844 (2004).
- 167 Tzschentke, T. M. Measuring reward with the conditioned place preference (CPP) paradigm: update of the last decade. *Addict Biol* **12**, 227-462, doi:10.1111/j.1369-1600.2007.00070.x (2007).
- 168 Gong, Y. X., Zhang, W. P., Shou, W. T., Zhong, K. & Chen, Z. Morphine induces conditioned place preference behavior in histidine decarboxylase knockout mice. *Neurosci Lett* **468**, 115-119, doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2009.10.079 (2010).
- 169 Nuutinen, S., Karlstedt, K., Aitta-Aho, T., Korpi, E. R. & Panula, P. Histamine and H3 receptordependent mechanisms regulate ethanol stimulation and conditioned place preference in mice. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 208, 75-86, doi:10.1007/s00213-009-1710-5 (2010).
- 170 Suzuki, T., Takamori, K., Misawa, M. & Onodera, K. Effects of the histaminergic system on the morphine-induced conditioned place preference in mice. *Brain Res* **675**, 195-202 (1995).
- 171 Nuutinen, S. *et al.* Histamine H3 receptor antagonist decreases cue-induced alcohol reinstatement in mice. *Neuropharmacology* **106**, 156-163, doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2015.06.006 (2016).
- 172 Nuutinen, S., Vanhanen, J., Pigni, M. C. & Panula, P. Effects of histamine H3 receptor ligands on the rewarding, stimulant and motor-impairing effects of ethanol in DBA/2J mice. *Neuropharmacology* **60**, 1193-1199, doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2010.10.027 (2011).
- 173 Subramanian, N., Mitznegg, P. & Estler, C. J. Ethanol-induced alterations in histamine content and release in the rat hypothalamus. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* **302**, 119-121 (1978).
- 174 Rapanelli, M. & Pittenger, C. Histamine and histamine receptors in Tourette syndrome and other neuropsychiatric conditions. *Neuropharmacology* **106**, 85-90, doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2015.08.019 (2016).
- 175 Ercan-Sencicek, A. G. *et al.* L-histidine decarboxylase and Tourette's syndrome. *N Engl J Med* **362**, 1901-1908, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0907006 (2010).
- 176 Castellan Baldan, L. *et al.* Histidine decarboxylase deficiency causes tourette syndrome: parallel findings in humans and mice. *Neuron* **81**, 77-90, doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2013.10.052 (2014).

- 177 Gillberg, C. & Billstedt, E. Autism and Asperger syndrome: coexistence with other clinical disorders. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* **102**, 321-330 (2000).
- 178 Masi, A., DeMayo, M. M., Glozier, N. & Guastella, A. J. An Overview of Autism Spectrum Disorder, Heterogeneity and Treatment Options. *Neurosci Bull* 33, 183-193, doi:10.1007/s12264-017-0100-y (2017).
- 179 Wright, C. *et al.* Altered expression of histamine signaling genes in autism spectrum disorder. *Transl Psychiatry* **7**, e1126, doi:10.1038/tp.2017.87 (2017).
- 180 Imaizumi, M., Miyazaki, S. & Onodera, K. Effects of betahistine, a histamine H1 agonist and H3 antagonist, in a light/dark test in mice. *Methods Find Exp Clin Pharmacol* 18, 19-24 (1996).
- 181 Imaizumi, M. & Onodera, K. The behavioral and biochemical effects of thioperamide, a histamine H3-receptor antagonist, in a light/dark test measuring anxiety in mice. *Life Sci* 53, 1675-1683 (1993).
- 182 Yokoyama, F. *et al.* Anxiolytic-like profiles of histamine H3 receptor agonists in animal models of anxiety: a comparative study with antidepressants and benzodiazepine anxiolytic. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* **205**, 177-187, doi:10.1007/s00213-009-1528-1 (2009).
- 183 Hajizadeh Moghaddam, A., Roohbakhsh, A., Rostami, P., Heidary-Davishani, A. & Zarrindast, M. R. GABA and histamine interaction in the basolateral amygdala of rats in the plus-maze test of anxiety-like behaviors. *Pharmacology* 82, 59-66, doi:10.1159/000131110 (2008).
- 184 Bananej, M., Karimi-Sori, A., Zarrindast, M. R. & Ahmadi, S. D1 and D2 dopaminergic systems in the rat basolateral amygdala are involved in anxiogenic-like effects induced by histamine. J Psychopharmacol 26, 564-574, doi:10.1177/0269881111405556 (2012).
- 185 Yanai, K. *et al.* Behavioural characterization and amounts of brain monoamines and their metabolites in mice lacking histamine H1 receptors. *Neuroscience* 87, 479-487 (1998).
- 186 Zlomuzica, A., Ruocco, L. A., Sadile, A. G., Huston, J. P. & Dere, E. Histamine H1 receptor knockout mice exhibit impaired spatial memory in the eight-arm radial maze. *Br J Pharmacol* 157, 86-91, doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2009.00225.x (2009).
- 187 Acevedo, S. F., Ohtsu, H., Benice, T. S., Rizk-Jackson, A. & Raber, J. Age-dependent measures of anxiety and cognition in male histidine decarboxylase knockout (Hdc-/-) mice. *Brain Res* 1071, 113-123, doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2005.11.067 (2006).
- 188 Acevedo, S. F., Pfankuch, T., Ohtsu, H. & Raber, J. Anxiety and cognition in female histidine decarboxylase knockout (Hdc(-/-)) mice. *Behav Brain Res* 168, 92-99, doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2005.10.016 (2006).
- 189 Yoshikawa, T. *et al.* Insufficient intake of L-histidine reduces brain histamine and causes anxiety-like behaviors in male mice. *J Nutr* **144**, 1637-1641, doi:10.3945/jn.114.196105 (2014).
- 190 Rizk, A., Curley, J., Robertson, J. & Raber, J. Anxiety and cognition in histamine H3 receptor-/mice. *Eur J Neurosci* 19, 1992-1996, doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2004.03251.x (2004).
- 191 Jin, C. Y., Anichtchik, O. & Panula, P. Altered histamine H3 receptor radioligand binding in post-mortem brain samples from subjects with psychiatric diseases. *Br J Pharmacol* 157, 118-129, doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2009.00149.x (2009).
- 192 Nakai, T. *et al.* Decreased histamine H1 receptors in the frontal cortex of brains from patients with chronic schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* **30**, 349-356 (1991).
- 193 Orange, P. R. *et al.* Individuals with schizophrenia have an increased incidence of the H2R649G allele for the histamine H2 receptor gene. *Mol Psychiatry* **1**, 466-469 (1996).
- 194 Ito, C. *et al.* Histamine H2 receptor gene variants: lack of association with schizophrenia. *Mol Psychiatry* **5**, 159-164 (2000).
- 195 Mehta, V. S. & Ram, D. Role of ranitidine in negative symptoms of schizophrenia--an open label study. *Asian J Psychiatr* **12**, 150-154, doi:10.1016/j.ajp.2014.08.005 (2014).
- 196 Meskanen, K. *et al.* A randomized clinical trial of histamine 2 receptor antagonism in treatmentresistant schizophrenia. *J Clin Psychopharmacol* 33, 472-478, doi:10.1097/JCP.0b013e3182970490 (2013).
- 197 Ellenbroek, B. A. & Ghiabi, B. Do Histamine receptor 3 antagonists have a place in the therapy for schizophrenia? *Curr Pharm Des* **21**, 3760-3770 (2015).

- 198 Mahmood, D. Histamine H3 receptors and its antagonism as a novel mechanism for antipsychotic effect: a current preclinical & clinical perspective. *Int J Health Sci (Qassim)* 10, 564-575 (2016).
- 199 Kano, M. *et al.* Decreased histamine H1 receptor binding in the brain of depressed patients. *Eur J Neurosci* **20**, 803-810, doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2004.03540.x (2004).
- 200 Femenia, T., Magara, S., DuPont, C. M. & Lindskog, M. Hippocampal-Dependent Antidepressant Action of the H3 Receptor Antagonist Clobenpropit in a Rat Model of Depression. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* 18, doi:10.1093/ijnp/pyv032 (2015).
- 201 Dudek, M. *et al.* H3 histamine receptor antagonist pitolisant reverses some subchronic disturbances induced by olanzapine in mice. *Metab Brain Dis* **31**, 1023-1029, doi:10.1007/s11011-016-9840-z (2016).
- 202 Grunwald, D. J. & Eisen, J. S. Headwaters of the zebrafish -- emergence of a new model vertebrate. *Nat Rev Genet* **3**, 717-724, doi:10.1038/nrg892 (2002).
- 203 MacRae, C. A. & Peterson, R. T. Zebrafish as tools for drug discovery. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 14, 721-731, doi:10.1038/nrd4627 (2015).
- 204 Streisinger, G., Walker, C., Dower, N., Knauber, D. & Singer, F. Production of clones of homozygous diploid zebra fish (Brachydanio rerio). *Nature* **291**, 293-296 (1981).
- 205 Karlsson, J., von Hofsten, J. & Olsson, P. E. Generating transparent zebrafish: a refined method to improve detection of gene expression during embryonic development. *Mar Biotechnol (NY)* 3, 522-527, doi:10.1007/s1012601-0053-4 (2001).
- 206 Antinucci, P. & Hindges, R. A crystal-clear zebrafish for in vivo imaging. *Sci Rep* **6**, 29490, doi:10.1038/srep29490 (2016).
- 207 Hove, J. R. & Craig, M. P. High-speed confocal imaging of zebrafish heart development. *Methods Mol Biol* 843, 309-328, doi:10.1007/978-1-61779-523-7\_26 (2012).
- 208 Kerr, J. N. & Denk, W. Imaging in vivo: watching the brain in action. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 9, 195-205, doi:10.1038/nrn2338 (2008).
- 209 McLean, D. L. & Fetcho, J. R. Using imaging and genetics in zebrafish to study developing spinal circuits in vivo. *Dev Neurobiol* **68**, 817-834, doi:10.1002/dneu.20617 (2008).
- 210 Westerfield, M. *The zebrafish book. A guide for the laboratory use of zebrafish (Danio rerio)*. 4th ed. edn, (University of Oregon Press, 2000).
- 211 Liu, J. *et al.* CRISPR/Cas9 in zebrafish: an efficient combination for human genetic diseases modeling. *Hum Genet* **136**, 1-12, doi:10.1007/s00439-016-1739-6 (2017).
- 212 Bill, B. R., Petzold, A. M., Clark, K. J., Schimmenti, L. A. & Ekker, S. C. A primer for morpholino use in zebrafish. *Zebrafish* 6, 69-77, doi:10.1089/zeb.2008.0555 (2009).
- 213 Moens, C. B., Donn, T. M., Wolf-Saxon, E. R. & Ma, T. P. Reverse genetics in zebrafish by TILLING. *Brief Funct Genomic Proteomic* **7**, 454-459, doi:10.1093/bfgp/eln046 (2008).
- 214 Kawakami, K. Tol2: a versatile gene transfer vector in vertebrates. *Genome Biol* **8** Suppl 1, S7, doi:10.1186/gb-2007-8-s1-s7 (2007).
- 215 Howe, K. *et al.* The zebrafish reference genome sequence and its relationship to the human genome. *Nature* **496**, 498-503, doi:10.1038/nature12111 (2013).
- 216 Vandenberg, J. I. & Waxman, S. G. Hodgkin and Huxley and the basis for electrical signalling: a remarkable legacy still going strong. *J Physiol* **590**, 2569-2570, doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2012.233411 (2012).
- 217 Kalueff, A. V., Stewart, A. M. & Gerlai, R. Zebrafish as an emerging model for studying complex brain disorders. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* **35**, 63-75, doi:10.1016/j.tips.2013.12.002 (2014).
- 218 Ganz, J. *et al.* Subdivisions of the adult zebrafish pallium based on molecular marker analysis. *F1000Res* **3**, 308, doi:10.12688/f1000research.5595.2 (2014).
- 219 Mueller, T., Dong, Z., Berberoglu, M. A. & Guo, S. The dorsal pallium in zebrafish, Danio rerio (Cyprinidae, Teleostei). *Brain Res* **1381**, 95-105, doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2010.12.089 (2011).
- 220 Panula, P. *et al.* The comparative neuroanatomy and neurochemistry of zebrafish CNS systems of relevance to human neuropsychiatric diseases. *Neurobiol Dis* **40**, 46-57, doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2010.05.010 (2010).

- 221 Chen, Y. C., Sundvik, M., Rozov, S., Priyadarshini, M. & Panula, P. MANF regulates dopaminergic neuron development in larval zebrafish. *Dev Biol* **370**, 237-249, doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2012.07.030 (2012).
- 222 Shepherd, I. T., Beattie, C. E. & Raible, D. W. Functional analysis of zebrafish GDNF. *Dev Biol* 231, 420-435, doi:10.1006/dbio.2000.0145 (2001).
- 223 Hashimoto, M. & Heinrich, G. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor gene expression in the developing zebrafish. *Int J Dev Neurosci* 15, 983-997 (1997).
- Kassen, S. C. *et al.* CNTF induces photoreceptor neuroprotection and Muller glial cell proliferation through two different signaling pathways in the adult zebrafish retina. *Exp Eye Res* 88, 1051-1064, doi:10.1016/j.exer.2009.01.007 (2009).
- 225 Kaslin, J. & Panula, P. Comparative anatomy of the histaminergic and other aminergic systems in zebrafish (Danio rerio). *J Comp Neurol* **440**, 342-377 (2001).
- 226 Peitsaro, N., Sundvik, M., Anichtchik, O. V., Kaslin, J. & Panula, P. Identification of zebrafish histamine H1, H2 and H3 receptors and effects of histaminergic ligands on behavior. *Biochem Pharmacol* **73**, 1205-1214, doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2007.01.014 (2007).
- 227 Mulero, I., Sepulcre, M. P., Meseguer, J., Garcia-Ayala, A. & Mulero, V. Histamine is stored in mast cells of most evolutionarily advanced fish and regulates the fish inflammatory response. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **104**, 19434-19439, doi:10.1073/pnas.0704535104 (2007).
- 228 Fitzpatrick, C. J. & Morrow, J. D. Thalamic mast cell activity is associated with sign-tracking behavior in rats. *Brain Behav Immun*, doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2017.05.003 (2017).
- 229 Chikahisa, S. *et al.* Histamine from brain resident MAST cells promotes wakefulness and modulates behavioral states. *PLoS One* **8**, e78434, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0078434 (2013).
- Norton, W. H. *et al.* Modulation of Fgfr1a signaling in zebrafish reveals a genetic basis for the aggression-boldness syndrome. *J Neurosci* **31**, 13796-13807, doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2892-11.2011 (2011).
- Amo, R. *et al.* Identification of the zebrafish ventral habenula as a homolog of the mammalian lateral habenula. *J Neurosci* **30**, 1566-1574, doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3690-09.2010 (2010).
- 232 Chen, Y. C., Priyadarshini, M. & Panula, P. Complementary developmental expression of the two tyrosine hydroxylase transcripts in zebrafish. *Histochem Cell Biol* 132, 375-381, doi:10.1007/s00418-009-0619-8 (2009).
- 233 McLean, D. L. & Fetcho, J. R. Ontogeny and innervation patterns of dopaminergic, noradrenergic, and serotonergic neurons in larval zebrafish. *J Comp Neurol* **480**, 38-56, doi:10.1002/cne.20280 (2004).
- 234 Sallinen, V. *et al.* MPTP and MPP+ target specific aminergic cell populations in larval zebrafish. *J Neurochem* **108**, 719-731, doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008.05793.x (2009).
- 235 Rink, E. & Wullimann, M. F. The teleostean (zebrafish) dopaminergic system ascending to the subpallium (striatum) is located in the basal diencephalon (posterior tuberculum). *Brain Res* 889, 316-330 (2001).
- Semenova, S. A., Chen, Y. C., Zhao, X., Rauvala, H. & Panula, P. The tyrosine hydroxylase 2 (TH2) system in zebrafish brain and stress activation of hypothalamic cells. *Histochem Cell Biol* 142, 619-633, doi:10.1007/s00418-014-1240-z (2014).
- 237 Chen, Y. C. *et al.* A novel developmental role for dopaminergic signaling to specify hypothalamic neurotransmitter identity. *J Biol Chem*, doi:10.1074/jbc.M115.697466 (2016).
- 238 McPherson, A. D. *et al.* Motor Behavior Mediated by Continuously Generated Dopaminergic Neurons in the Zebrafish Hypothalamus Recovers after Cell Ablation. *Curr Biol* **26**, 263-269, doi:10.1016/j.cub.2015.11.064 (2016).
- 239 Sallinen, V. *et al.* Hyperserotonergic phenotype after monoamine oxidase inhibition in larval zebrafish. *J Neurochem* **109**, 403-415, doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.05986.x (2009).
- 240 Lillesaar, C. The serotonergic system in fish. *J Chem Neuroanat* **41**, 294-308, doi:10.1016/j.jchemneu.2011.05.009 (2011).
- 241 Bellipanni, G., Rink, E. & Bally-Cuif, L. Cloning of two tryptophan hydroxylase genes expressed in the diencephalon of the developing zebrafish brain. *Mech Dev* 119 Suppl 1, S215-220 (2002).

- 242 Lillesaar, C., Tannhauser, B., Stigloher, C., Kremmer, E. & Bally-Cuif, L. The serotonergic phenotype is acquired by converging genetic mechanisms within the zebrafish central nervous system. *Dev Dyn* **236**, 1072-1084, doi:10.1002/dvdy.21095 (2007).
- 243 Postlethwait, J. H. *et al.* Zebrafish comparative genomics and the origins of vertebrate chromosomes. *Genome Res* **10**, 1890-1902 (2000).
- Higashijima, S., Mandel, G. & Fetcho, J. R. Distribution of prospective glutamatergic, glycinergic, and GABAergic neurons in embryonic and larval zebrafish. *J Comp Neurol* 480, 1-18, doi:10.1002/cne.20278 (2004).
- 245 Maximino, C. *et al.* Measuring anxiety in zebrafish: a critical review. *Behav Brain Res* **214**, 157-171, doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2010.05.031 (2010).
- 246 Orger, M. B. & de Polavieja, G. G. Zebrafish Behavior: Opportunities and Challenges. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, doi:10.1146/annurev-neuro-071714-033857 (2017).
- 247 Peitsaro, N., Kaslin, J., Anichtchik, O. V. & Panula, P. Modulation of the histaminergic system and behaviour by alpha-fluoromethylhistidine in zebrafish. *J Neurochem* **86**, 432-441 (2003).
- 248 Chen, A., Singh, C., Oikonomou, G. & Prober, D. A. Genetic Analysis of Histamine Signaling in Larval Zebrafish Sleep. *eNeuro* **4**, doi:10.1523/ENEURO.0286-16.2017 (2017).
- 249 Dunn, T. W. *et al.* Neural Circuits Underlying Visually Evoked Escapes in Larval Zebrafish. *Neuron* **89**, 613-628, doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2015.12.021 (2016).
- 250 Dunn, T. W. *et al.* Brain-wide mapping of neural activity controlling zebrafish exploratory locomotion. *Elife* **5**, e12741, doi:10.7554/eLife.12741 (2016).
- 251 Burgess, H. A. & Granato, M. Modulation of locomotor activity in larval zebrafish during light adaptation. *J Exp Biol* **210**, 2526-2539, doi:10.1242/jeb.003939 (2007).
- 252 Zhdanova, I. V. Sleep and its regulation in zebrafish. *Rev Neurosci* 22, 27-36, doi:10.1515/RNS.2011.005 (2011).
- 253 Bai, Y., Liu, H., Huang, B., Wagle, M. & Guo, S. Identification of environmental stressors and validation of light preference as a measure of anxiety in larval zebrafish. *BMC Neurosci* 17, 63, doi:10.1186/s12868-016-0298-z (2016).
- 254 Singh, A., Subhashini, N., Sharma, S. & Mallick, B. N. Involvement of the alpha1-adrenoceptor in sleep-waking and sleep loss-induced anxiety behavior in zebrafish. *Neuroscience* 245, 136-147, doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.04.026 (2013).
- 255 Singh, C., Oikonomou, G. & Prober, D. A. Norepinephrine is required to promote wakefulness and for hypocretin-induced arousal in zebrafish. *Elife* **4**, e07000, doi:10.7554/eLife.07000 (2015).
- 256 Yokogawa, T. *et al.* Characterization of sleep in zebrafish and insomnia in hypocretin receptor mutants. *PLoS Biol* **5**, e277, doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0050277 (2007).
- 257 Perez-Escudero, A., Vicente-Page, J., Hinz, R. C., Arganda, S. & de Polavieja, G. G. idTracker: tracking individuals in a group by automatic identification of unmarked animals. *Nat Methods* **11**, 743-748, doi:10.1038/nmeth.2994 (2014).
- 258 Meshalkina, D. A. *et al.* Zebrafish models of autism spectrum disorder. *Exp Neurol*, doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2017.02.004 (2017).
- 259 Bailey, J. M., Oliveri, A. N. & Levin, E. D. Pharmacological analyses of learning and memory in zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 139 Pt B, 103-111, doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2015.03.006 (2015).
- 260 Sallinen, V. *et al.* Dopaminergic cell damage and vulnerability to MPTP in Pink1 knockdown zebrafish. *Neurobiol Dis* **40**, 93-101, doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2010.06.001 (2010).
- 261 Kettunen, P. Calcium imaging in the zebrafish. *Adv Exp Med Biol* **740**, 1039-1071, doi:10.1007/978-94-007-2888-2 48 (2012).
- 262 Ahrens, M. B., Huang, K. H., Narayan, S., Mensh, B. D. & Engert, F. Two-photon calcium imaging during fictive navigation in virtual environments. *Front Neural Circuits* **7**, 104, doi:10.3389/fncir.2013.00104 (2013).
- 263 Engert, F. Fish in the matrix: motor learning in a virtual world. *Front Neural Circuits* **6**, 125, doi:10.3389/fncir.2012.00125 (2012).
- 264 Belluscio, L. Two-photon imaging in live rodents. *Curr Protoc Neurosci* Chapter 2, Unit 2 9, doi:10.1002/0471142301.ns0209s32 (2005).

- 265 Lee, J. et al. An ENU mutagenesis screen in zebrafish for visual system mutants identifies a novel splice-acceptor site mutation in patched2 that results in Colobomas. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 53, 8214-8221, doi:10.1167/iovs.12-11061 (2012).
- 266 Driever, W. *et al.* A genetic screen for mutations affecting embryogenesis in zebrafish. *Development* **123**, 37-46 (1996).
- 267 Blum, M., De Robertis, E. M., Wallingford, J. B. & Niehrs, C. Morpholinos: Antisense and Sensibility. *Dev Cell* **35**, 145-149, doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2015.09.017 (2015).
- 268 Kok, F. O. *et al.* Reverse genetic screening reveals poor correlation between morpholinoinduced and mutant phenotypes in zebrafish. *Dev Cell* 32, 97-108, doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2014.11.018 (2015).
- 269 Carroll, D. Genome engineering with zinc-finger nucleases. *Genetics* **188**, 773-782, doi:10.1534/genetics.111.131433 (2011).
- 270 Cong, L. et al. Multiplex genome engineering using CRISPR/Cas systems. Science 339, 819-823, doi:10.1126/science.1231143 (2013).
- 271 Hwang, W. Y. *et al.* Efficient genome editing in zebrafish using a CRISPR-Cas system. *Nat Biotechnol* **31**, 227-229, doi:10.1038/nbt.2501 (2013).
- 272 Salsman, J. & Dellaire, G. Precision genome editing in the CRISPR era. *Biochem Cell Biol* **95**, 187-201, doi:10.1139/bcb-2016-0137 (2017).
- 273 Vliegenthart, A. D., Tucker, C. S., Del Pozo, J. & Dear, J. W. Zebrafish as model organisms for studying drug-induced liver injury. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 78, 1217-1227, doi:10.1111/bcp.12408 (2014).
- 274 Executive Committee of the, C. Background to the Three Rs Declaration of Bologna, as adopted by the 3rd World Congress on Alternatives and Animal Use in the Life Sciences, Bologna, Italy, on 31 August 1999. *Altern Lab Anim* **37**, 286-289 (2009).
- 275 Bugel, S. M., Tanguay, R. L. & Planchart, A. Zebrafish: A marvel of high-throughput biology for 21st century toxicology. *Curr Environ Health Rep* **1**, 341-352, doi:10.1007/s40572-014-0029-5 (2014).
- 276 OJ. L 276. (European Union, 22.9.2010).
- 277 MacPhail, R. C. *et al.* Locomotion in larval zebrafish: Influence of time of day, lighting and ethanol. *Neurotoxicology* **30**, 52-58, doi:10.1016/j.neuro.2008.09.011 (2009).
- 278 Lockwood, B., Bjerke, S., Kobayashi, K. & Guo, S. Acute effects of alcohol on larval zebrafish: a genetic system for large-scale screening. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 77, 647-654, doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2004.01.003 (2004).
- 279 Nuutinen, S. *et al.* Evidence for the role of histamine H3 receptor in alcohol consumption and alcohol reward in mice. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **36**, 2030-2040, doi:10.1038/npp.2011.90 (2011).
- 280 Kyzar, E. *et al.* Behavioral effects of bidirectional modulators of brain monoamines reserpine and d-amphetamine in zebrafish. *Brain Res* **1527**, 108-116, doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2013.06.033 (2013).
- 281 Baronio, D. *et al.* Effects of an H3R antagonist on the animal model of autism induced by prenatal exposure to valproic acid. *PLoS One* **10**, e0116363, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0116363 (2015).
- 282 Way, G. P., Ruhl, N., Snekser, J. L., Kiesel, A. L. & McRobert, S. P. A comparison of methodologies to test aggression in zebrafish. *Zebrafish* 12, 144-151, doi:10.1089/zeb.2014.1025 (2015).
- 283 Schmittgen, T. D. & Livak, K. J. Analyzing real-time PCR data by the comparative C(T) method. *Nat Protoc* 3, 1101-1108 (2008).
- 284 McCurley, A. T. & Callard, G. V. Characterization of housekeeping genes in zebrafish: malefemale differences and effects of tissue type, developmental stage and chemical treatment. BMC Mol Biol 9, 102, doi:10.1186/1471-2199-9-102 (2008).
- 285 Xu, H. *et al.* Genome-wide identification of suitable zebrafish Danio rerio reference genes for normalization of gene expression data by RT-qPCR. *J Fish Biol* 88, 2095-2110, doi:10.1111/jfb.12915 (2016).

- 286 Sundvik, M. & Panula, P. Organization of the histaminergic system in adult zebrafish (Danio rerio) brain: neuron number, location, and cotransmitters. *J Comp Neurol* 520, 3827-3845, doi:10.1002/cne.23126 (2012).
- 287 Lauter, G., Soll, I. & Hauptmann, G. Multicolor fluorescent in situ hybridization to define abutting and overlapping gene expression in the embryonic zebrafish brain. *Neural Dev* 6, 10, doi:10.1186/1749-8104-6-10 (2011).
- 288 Thisse, C. & Thisse, B. High-resolution in situ hybridization to whole-mount zebrafish embryos. *Nat Protoc* **3**, 59-69, doi:10.1038/nprot.2007.514 (2008).
- 289 Puttonen, H. A. J., Semenova, S., Sundvik, M. & Panula, P. Storage of neural histamine and histaminergic neurotransmission is VMAT2 dependent in the zebrafish. *Sci Rep* 7, 3060, doi:10.1038/s41598-017-02981-w (2017).
- 290 Hopman, A. H., Ramaekers, F. C. & Speel, E. J. Rapid synthesis of biotin-, digoxigenin-, trinitrophenyl-, and fluorochrome-labeled tyramides and their application for In situ hybridization using CARD amplification. J Histochem Cytochem 46, 771-777, doi:10.1177/002215549804600611 (1998).
- 291 Lauter, G., Soll, I. & Hauptmann, G. Sensitive whole-mount fluorescent in situ hybridization in zebrafish using enhanced tyramide signal amplification. *Methods Mol Biol* 1082, 175-185, doi:10.1007/978-1-62703-655-9 12 (2014).
- 292 King, R. S. & Newmark, P. A. In situ hybridization protocol for enhanced detection of gene expression in the planarian Schmidtea mediterranea. *BMC Dev Biol* 13, 8, doi:10.1186/1471-213X-13-8 (2013).
- 293 Yamatodani, A., Fukuda, H., Wada, H., Iwaeda, T. & Watanabe, T. High-performance liquid chromatographic determination of plasma and brain histamine without previous purification of biological samples: cation-exchange chromatography coupled with post-column derivatization fluorometry. J Chromatogr 344, 115-123 (1985).
- 294 Mueller, T. & Wulliman, M. F. *Atlas of Early Zebrafish Brain Development*. (Elsevier B.V., 2005).
- 295 Schindelin, J. *et al.* Fiji: an open-source platform for biological-image analysis. *Nat Methods* **9**, 676-682, doi:10.1038/nmeth.2019 (2012).
- 296 Sundvik, M., Chen, Y. C. & Panula, P. Presenilin1 regulates histamine neuron development and behavior in zebrafish, danio rerio. *J Neurosci* 33, 1589-1597, doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1802-12.2013 (2013).
- 297 Perala, N. *et al.* Conservation, expression, and knockdown of zebrafish plxnb2a and plxnb2b. *Dev Dyn* **239**, 2722-2734, doi:10.1002/dvdy.22397 (2010).
- 298 Lee, Y. K. *et al.* Effects of naltrexone on the ethanol-induced changes in the rat central dopaminergic system. *Alcohol Alcohol* **40**, 297-301, doi:10.1093/alcalc/agh163 (2005).
- 299 Navarrete, F., Rubio, G. & Manzanares, J. Effects of naltrexone plus topiramate on ethanol selfadministration and tyrosine hydroxylase gene expression changes. *Addict Biol* 19, 862-873, doi:10.1111/adb.12058 (2014).
- 300 Oliva, J. M., Ortiz, S., Perez-Rial, S. & Manzanares, J. Time dependent alterations on tyrosine hydroxylase, opioid and cannabinoid CB1 receptor gene expressions after acute ethanol administration in the rat brain. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* 18, 373-382, doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2007.09.001 (2008).
- 301 Tran, S., Facciol, A., Nowicki, M., Chatterjee, D. & Gerlai, R. Acute alcohol exposure increases tyrosine hydroxylase protein expression and dopamine synthesis in zebrafish. *Behav Brain Res* 317, 237-241, doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2016.09.048 (2017).
- 302 Lintunen, M. *et al.* Increased brain histamine in an alcohol-preferring rat line and modulation of ethanol consumption by H(3) receptor mechanisms. *FASEB J* **15**, 1074-1076 (2001).
- 303 Chatterjee, D. & Gerlai, R. High precision liquid chromatography analysis of dopaminergic and serotoninergic responses to acute alcohol exposure in zebrafish. *Behav Brain Res* **200**, 208-213 (2009).
- 304 Gerlai, R., Chatterjee, D., Pereira, T., Sawashima, T. & Krishnannair, R. Acute and chronic alcohol dose: population differences in behavior and neurochemistry of zebrafish. *Genes Brain Behav* 8, 586-599, doi:10.1111/j.1601-183X.2009.00488.x (2009).

- 305 Kawahata, I. *et al.* Tyrosine hydroxylase gene expression is facilitated by alcohol followed by the degradation of the protein by ubiquitin proteasome system. *Neuro Endocrinol Lett* **38**, 43-49 (2017).
- 306 Maas, J. W., Jr. *et al.* Calcium-stimulated adenylyl cyclases are critical modulators of neuronal ethanol sensitivity. *J Neurosci* 25, 4118-4126, doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4273-04.2005 (2005).
- 307 Balino, P., Ledesma, J. C. & Aragon, C. M. In vivo study of ethanol-activated brain protein kinase A: manipulations of Ca2+ distribution and flux. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 38, 629-640, doi:10.1111/acer.12289 (2014).
- 308 Gingras, M. A. & Cools, A. R. Analysis of the biphasic locomotor response to ethanol in high and low responders to novelty: a study in Nijmegen Wistar rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 125, 258-264 (1996).
- 309 Irons, T. D., Kelly, P. E., Hunter, D. L., Macphail, R. C. & Padilla, S. Acute administration of dopaminergic drugs has differential effects on locomotion in larval zebrafish. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 103, 792-813, doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2012.12.010 (2013).
- 310 Tran, S., Facciol, A. & Gerlai, R. Alcohol-induced behavioral changes in zebrafish: The role of dopamine D2-like receptors. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 233, 2119-2128, doi:10.1007/s00213-016-4264-3 (2016).
- 311 Nowicki, M., Tran, S., Chatterjee, D. & Gerlai, R. Inhibition of phosphorylated tyrosine hydroxylase attenuates ethanol-induced hyperactivity in adult zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 138, 32-39, doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2015.09.008 (2015).
- 312 Risinger, F. O., Dickinson, S. D. & Cunningham, C. L. Haloperidol reduces ethanol-induced motor activity stimulation but not conditioned place preference. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 107, 453-456 (1992).
- 313 Rozov, S. V., Zant, J. C., Karlstedt, K., Porkka-Heiskanen, T. & Panula, P. Periodic properties of the histaminergic system of the mouse brain. *Eur J Neurosci* 39, 218-228, doi:10.1111/ejn.12397 (2014).
- 314 Biguet, N. F., Buda, M., Lamouroux, A., Samolyk, D. & Mallet, J. Time course of the changes of TH mRNA in rat brain and adrenal medulla after a single injection of reserpine. *EMBO J* **5**, 287-291 (1986).
- 315 Pasinetti, G. M., Morgan, D. G., Johnson, S. A., Millar, S. L. & Finch, C. E. Tyrosine hydroxylase mRNA concentration in midbrain dopaminergic neurons is differentially regulated by reserpine. *J Neurochem* **55**, 1793-1799 (1990).
- 316 Okaty, B. W. *et al.* Multi-Scale Molecular Deconstruction of the Serotonin Neuron System. *Neuron* **88**, 774-791, doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2015.10.007 (2015).
- 317 Thomas, S. A., Matsumoto, A. M. & Palmiter, R. D. Noradrenaline is essential for mouse fetal development. *Nature* **374**, 643-646, doi:10.1038/374643a0 (1995).
- 318 Alcaniz, L. *et al.* Histamine production by human neutrophils. *FASEB J* **27**, 2902-2910, doi:10.1096/fj.12-223867 (2013).
- 319 Anichtchik, O., Sallinen, V., Peitsaro, N. & Panula, P. Distinct structure and activity of monoamine oxidase in the brain of zebrafish (Danio rerio). *J Comp Neurol* 498, 593-610, doi:10.1002/cne.21057 (2006).
- 320 Schafer, M. K., Weihe, E. & Eiden, L. E. Localization and expression of VMAT2 aross mammalian species: a translational guide for its visualization and targeting in health and disease. *Adv Pharmacol* **68**, 319-334, doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-411512-5.00015-4 (2013).
- 321 Sergeeva, O. A., Eriksson, K. S., Sharonova, I. N., Vorobjev, V. S. & Haas, H. L. GABA(A) receptor heterogeneity in histaminergic neurons. *Eur J Neurosci* **16**, 1472-1482 (2002).
- 322 Fehr, C. *et al.* Association of VMAT2 gene polymorphisms with alcohol dependence. *J Neural Transm (Vienna)* **120**, 1161-1169, doi:10.1007/s00702-013-0996-y (2013).
- 323 Yang, X. et al. Polymorphism in the Vesicular Monoamine Transporter 2 Gene Decreases the Risk of Parkinson's Disease in Han Chinese Men. Parkinsons Dis 2015, 903164, doi:10.1155/2015/903164 (2015).
- 324 Brighina, L. *et al.* Analysis of vesicular monoamine transporter 2 polymorphisms in Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol Aging* 34, 1712 e1719-1713, doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2012.12.020 (2013).

- 325 Markos, S. M. *et al.* Genetic Variation in the Vesicular Monoamine Transporter: Preliminary Associations With Cognitive Outcomes After Severe Traumatic Brain Injury. *J Head Trauma Rehabil* **32**, E24-E34, doi:10.1097/HTR.0000000000224 (2017).
- 326 Simons, C. J., van Winkel, R. & Group. Intermediate phenotype analysis of patients, unaffected siblings, and healthy controls identifies VMAT2 as a candidate gene for psychotic disorder and neurocognition. *Schizophr Bull* **39**, 848-856, doi:10.1093/schbul/sbs067 (2013).
- 327 Zant, J. C., Rozov, S., Wigren, H. K., Panula, P. & Porkka-Heiskanen, T. Histamine release in the basal forebrain mediates cortical activation through cholinergic neurons. *J Neurosci* 32, 13244-13254, doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5933-11.2012 (2012).
- 328 Monti, J. M., Pellejero, T. & Jantos, H. Effects of H1- and H2-histamine receptor agonists and antagonists on sleep and wakefulness in the rat. *J Neural Transm* **66**, 1-11 (1986).
- 329 Lin, J. S., Hou, Y., Sakai, K. & Jouvet, M. Histaminergic descending inputs to the mesopontine tegmentum and their role in the control of cortical activation and wakefulness in the cat. *J Neurosci* **16**, 1523-1537 (1996).
- 330 Slater, J. W., Zechnich, A. D. & Haxby, D. G. Second-generation antihistamines: a comparative review. *Drugs* 57, 31-47 (1999).
- 331 Rossi, A. *et al.* Genetic compensation induced by deleterious mutations but not gene knockdowns. *Nature* **524**, 230-233, doi:10.1038/nature14580 (2015).
- 332 Severi, K. E. *et al.* Neural control and modulation of swimming speed in the larval zebrafish. *Neuron* **83**, 692-707, doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2014.06.032 (2014).
- 333 McLean, D. L. & Fetcho, J. R. Relationship of tyrosine hydroxylase and serotonin immunoreactivity to sensorimotor circuitry in larval zebrafish. *J Comp Neurol* **480**, 57-71, doi:10.1002/cne.20281 (2004).
- 334 Peng, X. *et al.* Anxiety-related behavioral responses of pentylenetetrazole-treated zebrafish larvae to light-dark transitions. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 145, 55-65, doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2016.03.010 (2016).
- 335 Schnorr, S. J., Steenbergen, P. J., Richardson, M. K. & Champagne, D. L. Measuring thigmotaxis in larval zebrafish. *Behav Brain Res* 228, 367-374, doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2011.12.016 (2012).
- 336 Wang, Y. *et al.* Vesicular monoamine transporter 2 (Vmat2) knockdown elicits anxiety-like behavior in zebrafish. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **470**, 792-797, doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.01.079 (2016).
- 337 Wong, K. *et al.* Analyzing habituation responses to novelty in zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Behav Brain Res* **208**, 450-457, doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2009.12.023 (2010).
- 338 Peitsaro, N., Anichtchik, O. V. & Panula, P. Identification of a histamine H(3)-like receptor in the zebrafish (Danio rerio) brain. *J Neurochem* **75**, 718-724 (2000).
- 339 Lovenberg, T. W., Pyati, J., Chang, H., Wilson, S. J. & Erlander, M. G. Cloning of rat histamine H(3) receptor reveals distinct species pharmacological profiles. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 293, 771-778 (2000).
- 340 Cheng, R. K., Krishnan, S. & Jesuthasan, S. Activation and inhibition of tph2 serotonergic neurons operate in tandem to influence larval zebrafish preference for light over darkness. *Sci Rep* 6, 20788, doi:10.1038/srep20788 (2016).
- 341 Godoy, R., Noble, S., Yoon, K., Anisman, H. & Ekker, M. Chemogenetic ablation of dopaminergic neurons leads to transient locomotor impairments in zebrafish larvae. J Neurochem 135, 249-260, doi:10.1111/jnc.13214 (2015).
- 342 Jay, M., De Faveri, F. & McDearmid, J. R. Firing dynamics and modulatory actions of supraspinal dopaminergic neurons during zebrafish locomotor behavior. *Curr Biol* 25, 435-444, doi:10.1016/j.cub.2014.12.033 (2015).
- 343 Monson, C. A. & Sadler, K. C. Inbreeding depression and outbreeding depression are evident in wild-type zebrafish lines. *Zebrafish* 7, 189-197, doi:10.1089/zeb.2009.0648 (2010).
- 344 Shinya, M. Construction of the Inbred Strain. *Methods Mol Biol* **1451**, 107-118, doi:10.1007/978-1-4939-3771-4 8 (2016).
- 345 Shinya, M. & Sakai, N. Generation of highly homogeneous strains of zebrafish through full sibpair mating. *G3 (Bethesda)* **1**, 377-386, doi:10.1534/g3.111.000851 (2011).

- 346 Kaslin, J., Nystedt, J. M., Ostergard, M., Peitsaro, N. & Panula, P. The orexin/hypocretin system in zebrafish is connected to the aminergic and cholinergic systems. *J Neurosci* 24, 2678-2689, doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4908-03.2004 (2004).
- 347 Yamamoto, K., Ruuskanen, J. O., Wullimann, M. F. & Vernier, P. Two tyrosine hydroxylase genes in vertebrates New dopaminergic territories revealed in the zebrafish brain. *Mol Cell Neurosci* 43, 394-402, doi:10.1016/j.mcn.2010.01.006 (2010).

## **11. Original Publications**

## **Recent Publications in this Series**

46/2017 Martina B. Lorev Secretome Analysis of Human Macrophages Activated by Microbial Stimuli 47/2017 Eeva Suvikas-Peltonen Lääkkeiden turvallisen käyttökuntoon saattamisen edistäminen sairaaloiden osastoilla 48/2017 Pedro Alexandre Bento Pereira The Human Microbiome in Parkinson's Disease and Primary Sclerosing Cholangitis 49/2017 Mira Sundström Urine Testing and Abuse Patterns of Drugs and New Psychoactive Substances - Application of Comprehensive Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometry 50/2017 Anna-Maija Penttinen GDNF and Neurturin Isoforms in an Experimental Model of Parkinson's Disease 51/2017 Jenni Lehtonen New Tools for Mitochondrial Disease Diagnosis: FGF21, GDF15 and Next-Generation Sequencing 52/2017 Jenni Pessi Insights into Particle Formation and Analysis 53/2017 Stefan Björkman Parturition and Subsequent Uterine Health and Fertility in Sows 54/2017 Elina Isokuortti Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease - Studies on Pathogenesis and Diagnosis 55/2017 Joni Nikkanen Tissue-Specific Implications of Mitochondrial DNA Maintenance in Health and Disease 56/2017 Kiran Hasygar Physiological Adaptation to Nutrient Starvation: A Key Role for ERK7 in Regulation of Insulin Secretion and Metabolic Homeostasis 57/2017 Miina Ruokolainen Imitation of Biologically Relevant Oxidation Reactions by Titanium Dioxide Photocatalysis: Advances in Understanding the Mimicking of Drug Metabolism and the Oxidation of Phosphopeptides 58/2017 Tiia Maria Luukkonen Consequences of Balanced Translocations and Loss-of-function Mutations 59/2017 Karoliina Hirvonen Adenoid Cystic Carcinoma of Salivary Glands - Diagnostic and Prognostic Factors and **Treatment Outcome** 60/2017 John Liljestrand Systemic Exposure to Oral Infections – a Cardiometabolic Risk 61/2017 Hanna Dyggve Doberman Hepatitis - Role of Immunological and Genetic Mechanisms 62/2017 Tiina A. Lantto Cytotoxic and Apoptotic Effects of Selected Phenolic Compounds and **Extracts from Edible Plants** 63/2017 Niina Laine Use of Antimicrobials in a Tertiary Children's Hospital 64/2017 Jenni Hyysalo Prevalence and Genetics of Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease 65/2017 Agnieszka Szwajda Bioinformatic Identification of Disease Driver Networks Using Functional **Profiling Data** 

ISSN 2342-3161